
Final 
 
 

   
 

CARSON CITY AIRPORT AUTHORITY MEETING AGENDA 
 

Wednesday, November 20, 2024 – 5:30 P.M. 
 

Public Meeting at: 
CARSON CITY COMMUNITY CENTER 

(Robert Crowell Board Room) 
851 E. William 

Carson City, Nevada 
This Agenda Prepared by Corey Jenkins, Airport Manager 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL, AND DETERMINATION OF QUORUM. 

 
B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
C. APPROVAL   OF THE   MINUTES   OF PAST   MEETINGS   OF THE AIRPORT 

AUTHORITY. 
 

D. MODIFICATION OF THE AGENDA.  The Chairman reserves the right to modify 
the agenda in order to most effectively process the agenda items. Items may be taken out 
of order; Items may be combined for consideration by the Authority; Items may be pulled 
or removed from the agenda at any time. 

 
E. PUBLIC COMMENT. Members of the public who wish to address the Airport 

Authority may speak on agendized and non-agendized matters related to the Airport. 
Comments are limited to three (3) minutes per person or topic. If your item requires 
extended discussion, please request the Chairman to calendar the matter for a future 
Airport Authority meeting. 

 
1. The public may provide public comment in advance of a meeting by written 

submission to the following email address: Manager@flycarsoncity.com. For 
inclusion or reference in the minutes of the meeting, your public comment must 
include your full name & address and be submitted via email by not later than 5:00 
p.m. the day before the meeting. The Carson City Airport Authority values your 
input.  Members of the public who wish to provide live public comment may do so 
during the designated public comment periods, indicated on the agenda in person. 

 
******************************************************************************* 

 
F. AIRPORT ENGINEER’S REPORT (Non-Action Item). 

 
G. CONSENT AGENDA 

 
H. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
 
 



Final 
 
 

   
 

1. FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Approval of Airport Lease 
Amendment for the south FBO lease held by Mountain West CXP, LLC, 
(“MW”), to release approximate 17,000 sq ft for the Airport to use for a taxilane, 
and to extend the Lease for 8 years in return.   
 
Staff Summary: The proposed action is to approve an Eleventh Amendment to the 
MW lease to remove a portion of leased area.  This will allow for a taxilane so 
that the CCAA can provide aircraft access from a lot to be developed immediately 
to the south of the MW leasehold.   In exchange for the loss of area, as well as its 
use and profit, the CCAA will extend the remaining portion of the MW lease for 8 
years.  The area involved is shown on Exhibit A to the Amendment.  A Record of 
Survey will be obtained and recorded to precisely define the area. 
 

2. FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Adoption of resolution and 
notice of invitation to bid to Carson City Airport Lease located at the South side 
of airport being 2.48 acres bounded by College Parkway, The Airport parking lot, 
and the existing leases to the West and North of the subject parcel; appropriate 
minimum lease rate and terms of lease and permitted uses; set deadline for bids 
and the date for the bid opening and consideration pursuant to NRS 244.283 (C. 
Jenkins, S. Tackes) 
 
Staff Summary: Per NRS 244.283, the required process for leasing airport land is 
via a public offering and sealed bid process upon adoption of resolution by the 
Authority. The Authority had previously identified this parcel for lease and 
obtained an appraisal. The proposed resolution will: (a) Describe the property 
proposed to be leased in such manner as to identify it: (b) Specify the minimum 
rental, and the terms upon which it will be leased and/or leased with a purchase 
of the hangar; and (c) Fix a time, not less than 3 weeks thereafter, for a public 
meeting of the board to be held at its regular place of meeting, at which sealed 
proposals to lease will be received and considered. 
 

3. FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Consider bids received in 
response to the solicitation for a Fixed Base Operator (FBO) to manage Airport-
Owned Tie-Downs on the Northwest Ramp. 
 
Staff Summary: The Airport Manager notified all commercial service FBOs about 
the opportunity to enter into an agreement to manage the Airport-Owned Tie-
Downs on the Northwest Ramp. Multiple responses were received from interested 
parties; however, there is no clear best selection. The Airport Manager has 
brought this item to the Authority for consideration in selecting the most qualified 
respondent, or for the possibility of splitting the 25 tie-downs among the 
interested parties. 
 
 
 



Final 
 
 

   
 

4. FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Approve the FAA Airport 
Capital Improvement Plan (“ACIP”) 2025 - 2029 
 
Staff Summary: The FAA ACIP must be approved and presented to the Carson 
City BOS for approval and submitted to the FAA Airport District Office.  We are 
submitting the ACIP earlier than usual based on feedback from the FAA. 
 

5. FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Approval of the Annual Audit 
Report of the Carson City Airport Authority for FY 2023/24. (J. Rogers) 
 
Staff Summary: Casey Neilon completed the annual audit required by NRS 345. 
The review and approval of the audit by the Authority is required under the 
statute. 
 

I. AIRPORT MANAGER’S REPORT (Non-Action Item). 

J. LEGAL COUNSEL’S REPORT (Non-Action Item). 

K. TREASURER’S REPORT (Non-Action Item). 
 

L. REPORT FROM AUTHORITY MEMBERS (Non-Action Item). 
1. Status review of projects 
2. Internal communications and administrative matters 
3. Correspondence to the Authority 
4. Status reports and comments from the members of the Authority 

 
M. PUBLIC COMMENT.  Members of the public who wish to address the Airport 

Authority may speak about items discussed on the agenda related to the Airport. 
Comments are limited to three (3) minutes per person or topic.  If your item requires 
extended discussion, please request the Chairman to calendar the matter for a future 
Airport Authority meeting. 

 
N. AGENDA ITEMS FOR NEXT REGULAR MEETING (Non-Action Item). 

O. ACTION ON ADJOURNMENT. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Final 
 
 

   
 

*     *     *     *    * 
 

DELIVERED (via E-Mail) to the FOLLOWING LOCATIONS for POSTING by 9am, November 15, 2024 
 

The Carson City Airport Website https://flycarsoncity.com/ 
State of Nevada Public Notice Website https://notice.nv.gov 
Airport Terminal Building 
 

2600 College Parkway 
Carson City, NV 

Mountain West Aviation 2101 Arrowhead Dr. 
Carson City, NV 

Stellar Aviation of Carson City, LLC 2640 College Parkway 
Carson City, NV 

~ Distribution made to others per request and as noted on the Airport Authority Distribution List ~ 
 

Supporting materials will be posted to the Carson City Airport website www.flycarsoncity.com as 
available, and can be obtained upon request from the Airport Manager, 2600 E. College Parkway #6, 
Carson City, NV 

 
NOTE:   The Airport Authority is pleased to make reasonable accommodations for the public who are 
disabled and wish to attend this meeting.  If special arrangements for the meeting are necessary, please notify the 
Airport Authority at (775) 841-2255 or cjenkins@flycarsoncity.com  

 
Notice: NRS 241.020(3)(b) states that a request for mailed notice of meetings automatically lapses six 
months after it is made to the public body.  A separate written request is not required for each meeting 
although requests are limited to six months at a time. 

 
 

THE CARSON CITY AIRPORT AUTHORITY ENCOURAGES WRITTEN COMMENTS FROM THE 
PUBLIC. Comments should be addressed to the Airport Manager, and sent to the following address: 

 

Carson City Airport Authority 2600 E. College Parkway #6, Carson City, Nevada 89706 
 

https://flycarsoncity.com/
https://notice.nv.gov/
http://www.flycarsoncity.com/
mailto:cjenkins@flycarsoncity.com


DRAFT MINUTES 

Regular Meeting  

Carson City Airport Authority (CCAA) 

October 16, 2024 ⚫ 5:30 PM 

 Community Center Robert “Bob” Crowell Board Room 

851 East William Street, Carson City, Nevada    

  

 

  

 
 

 

 
Page 1 

 
  

      

       Authority Members 

 Chair – Tim Puliz   Vice Chair – Harlow Norvell 

 Treasurer – Jon Rogers  Member – Curtis Horton   

  Member – Michaela Flint  Member – Karl Hutter 

   Member – Michael Golden 

 

 

                                    Staff  

Steve Tackes – Airport Counsel 

Corey Jenkins – Airport Manager 

Briana Munoz – Public Meetings Clerk  

  

NOTE:  A recording of these proceedings, the Board’s agenda materials, and any written comments or 

documentation provided to the recording secretary during the meeting are public record.  These materials are on 

file in the Clerk-Recorder’s Office, and available for review during regular business hours. 

 

Audio recordings and the meeting minutes of the Carson City Airport Authority meetings are available on 

https://www.carson.org/government/city-meetings.  

 

A. CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL, AND DETERMINATION OF QUORUM  

(5:30:38) – Chairperson Puliz called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. 

(5:30:59) – Roll was called, and a quorum was present.  

 

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

(5:31:19) – Led by Member Flint.  

Attendee Name Status Arrived 

Chairperson Tim Puliz Present  

Vice Chair Harlow Norvell Present  

Treasurer Jon Rogers Present  

Member Michaela Flint Present  

Member Michael Golden Present  

Member Curtis Horton Present   

Member Karl Hutter Absent  

https://www.carson.org/government/city-meetings


Draft Minutes Carson City Airport Authority                                    October 16, 2024 

 

 
 

 

 
Page 2 

 
  

C. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF PAST MEETINGS OF THE AIRPORT AUTHORITY. 

(5:31:57) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item and entertained comments, changes, and/or a motion to approve 

the minutes of the September 18, 2024 meeting.  

(5:32:10) – MOTION: Member Golden moved to approve the minutes of the September 18, 2024 meeting. 

Vice Chair Norvell seconded the motion. The motion carried 6-0-0. 

 

 

 

  

 

 

D. MODIFICATION OF THE AGENDA. 

None. 

E. PUBLIC COMMENT 

(5:32:40) – Chairperson Puliz entertained public comments; however, none were forthcoming.  

F. AIRPORT ENGINEER’S REPORT 

(5:33:32) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item. Brian Martinezmoles of Wood Rodgers provided his report, 

which is incorporated into the record. Mr. Martinezmoles stated that there was not much to report this month but 

mentioned that he had been working with Mr. Jenkins on construction developments on site.   

(5:34:20) – Mr. Jenkins referenced a report from Armstrong Consultants, which is incorporated into the record, and 

responded to clarifying questions. He reported that they were working through the permit process for the Snow 

Removal Equipment Building. Mr. Jenkins noted that a new snowplow was set to arrive in October and staff training 

would be conducted.  

G. CONSENT AGENDA 

(5:35:59) – Chair Puliz introduced the items, entertained requests to pull items from the Consent Agenda, and 

entertained a motion. 

(5:36:14) – MOTION: Vice Chair Norvell moved to approve the consent agenda as presented. Treasurer 

Rogers seconded the motion. The motion carried 6-0-0.  

RESULT:  APPROVED (6-0-0) 

MOVER:  Golden 

SECONDER:  Norvell 

AYES:   Puliz, Norvell, Rogers, Flint, Golden, Horton 

NAYS:   None 

ABSTENTIONS None 

ABSENT:  Hutter 



Draft Minutes Carson City Airport Authority                                    October 16, 2024 

 

 
 

 

 
Page 3 

 
  

 

 

 

  

 

 1.   FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: APPROVE LEASE AMENDMENT TO 

CACTUS AIRFORCE, LLC EXECUTING A LEASE EXTENSION FOR A PERIOD OF AN 

ADDITIONAL TEN YEARS AND AT CURRENT MARKET RATE. 

 2.  FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: RENEWAL OF THE CINDERLITE 

CONTRACT FOR THREE YEARS. 

 3.  FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION 

REGARDING A PROPOSED GRANT OF UTILITY EASEMENT (“EASEMENT”) FROM 

CARSON CITY TO SIERRA PACIFIC POWER COMPANY, D/B/A NV ENERGY (“NV 

ENERGY”) TO BUILD AND MAINTAIN ELECTRIC UTILITY INFRASTRUCTURE ON 

PORTIONS OF ASSESSOR PARCEL NUMBERS (“APN”) 05-011-09, 005-021-14, 005-021-16, 

AND 005-021-17 AT THE CARSON CITY AIRPORT (“AIRPORT”).  

H. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 1.  FOR DISCUSSION: THANK OPEN HOUSE COMMITTEE FOR THEIR WORK IN 

PLANNING THE 2023 AND 2024 AVIATION FESTIVAL AND OPEN HOUSE. 

(5:36:38) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item. Mr. Jenkins referenced the Staff Report, which is incorporated 

into the record. He recognized the following members: Robert Grant, Trish Jones, Mike Zieba, Katherine Baran, 

Rick Lee, Dayton Murdock, Kevin Updegrove, Luz Sandoval, Matt Bruback, Phil Wells, Larry Jones, Sydne 

O’Neal. Chair Puliz expressed appreciation for the volunteers and their efforts. 

 2. FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: APPROVE PROPOSED LEASE 

AMENDMENT (“AMENDMENT”) ENTERED INTO BETWEEN CARSON TAHOE EXECUTIVE, 

LLC (“CTE”), AS TENANT, AND CARSON CITY AND THE CARSON CITY AIRPORT 

AUTHORITY (“CCAA”), TOGETHER AS LANDLORD. THE AMENDMENT WILL 

RECONFIGURE THE LEASED AREA TO ACCOMMODATE A NEW HANGAR DEVELOPMENT 

PLAN. 

(5:43:04) – Chair Puliz introduced the item. Mr. Jenkins referenced the Staff Report and Supporting Materials, all 

of which are incorporated into the record.  

RESULT:  APPROVED (6-0-0) 

MOVER:  Norvell 

SECONDER:  Rogers 

AYES:   Puliz, Norvell, Rogers, Flint, Golden, Horton 

NAYS:   None 

ABSTENTIONS None 

ABSENT:  Hutter 



Draft Minutes Carson City Airport Authority                                    October 16, 2024 

 

 
 

 

 
Page 4 

 
  

(5:44:43) – Mr. Tackes explained that a new legal description is set forth in the lease agreement, noting that Carson 

Tahoe Executive (CTE) would need to secure a record of survey to assign a parcel number. He added that once the 

parcel number was obtained, the amendment would be sent to the Board of Supervisors for final approval. 

(5:45:45) – Chair Puliz added that the reconfiguration of the leased area would not involve adding or subtracting 

any significant square footage. Treasurer Rogers agreed and asked if there was a minor change in the amount of 

square footage being leased. Mr. Jenkins clarified that there was technically a small reduction in square footage but 

it was negligible and likely wouldn’t be reflected in the lease. Chair Puliz added that the footprint of the leased area 

remained the same and that the lease itself was unaffected. 

(5:47:04) – MOTION: Member Golden moved to approve the proposed amendment as presented to 

accommodate the new hangar development plan. Member Horton seconded the motion. The motion carried 

6-0-0.  

 

 

 

 

 

I. AIRPORT MANAGER’S REPORT 

(5:47:40) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item. Mr. Jenkins referenced the Airport Manager’s Report and 

provided his report, which is incorporated into the record. Additionally, he referenced the Fuel Flowage and Airport 

Operations reports, both of which are incorporated into the record.  

J. LEGAL COUNSEL’S REPORT 

(5:54:01) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item.  Mr. Tackes reported that the Federal Aviation Administration 

reviewed the purchase process of the new snowplow, adding that no issues were expected for reimbursement.  

K.  TREASURER’S REPORT 

(5:56:21) – Chairperson Puliz introduced the item. Treasurer Rogers referenced the Treasurer’s Report, which is 

incorporated into the record, noting that the financials aligned with the budget. 

L. REPORT FROM AUTHORITY MEMBERS 

1. STATUS REVIEW OF PROJECTS 

2. INTERNAL COMMUNICATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 

RESULT:  APPROVED (6-0-0) 

MOVER:  Norvell 

SECONDER:  Rogers 

AYES:   Puliz, Norvell, Rogers, Flint, Golden, Horton 

NAYS:   None 

ABSTENTIONS None 

ABSENT:  Hutter 



Draft Minutes Carson City Airport Authority                                    October 16, 2024 

 

 
 

 

 
Page 5 

 
  

3. CORRESPONDENCE TO THE AUTHORITY 

4. STATUS REPORTS AND COMMENTS FROM THE MEMBERS OF THE AUTHORITY 

(5:57:07) – Chairperson Puliz entertained Member reports. Chair Puliz welcomed Member Flint to the Board and 

Member Flint expressed gratitude for the opportunity to serve. Chair Puliz also acknowledged Member Hutter’s 

reappointment. 

M. PUBLIC COMMENT 

(5:58:57) – Chairperson Puliz entertained public comments; however, none were forthcoming. 

N. AGENDA ITEMS FOR NEXT REGULAR MEETING 

(5:58:49) – Chairperson Puliz entertained requests for agenda items for the next CCAA meeting; however, none 

were forthcoming.  

O. ACTION ON ADJOURNMENT 

(5:59:10) – MOTION: Chairperson Puliz adjourned the meeting at 5:59 p.m. 

The Minutes of the October 16, 2024 Carson City Airport Authority meeting are so approved on this 20th day of 

November 2024.  



 

 

 

 

 

 

Carson City Airport Board Meeting – Engineer’s Report 1 of 1 

Engineer’s Report 

To: Carson City Airport Authority 

From: Brian Martinezmoles CC: Mr. Corey Jenkins, Airport Manager 

Date: November 15, 2024 

Subject: Engineer’s Report for Carson City Airport Authority Board Meeting 

 

Please find below a status report of the projects and/or tasks Wood Rodgers is currenting engaged in on behalf 

of the Carson City Airport.  

1.0. Airport Capital Improvement Program  

Over the past month, the FAA Airport District Office reached out to discuss some updates to the ACIP. 

Wood Rodgers joined the meeting in support of the Airport Manager. Following that discussion, a revised 

ACIP was prepared for review. 

 

2.0. RSA Drainage & Improvements Project 

Coffman Associates prepared a CatEX for this project which has gone through FAA review. The FAA 

submitted supporting documentation to SHPO for approval at the end of October. Following approval of 

the CatEx, the project will be able to receive grant funding and proceed into design.  

 

 

 



 

 
Airport Improvement Update 

 
 

CARSON CITY AIRPORT – CARSON CITY, NEVADA 
November 2024 
 
ENGINEERING UPDATE 
 
Project Updates: 
 
Acquire Snow Removal Equipment: 

• Equipment received and accepted October 28 
• Pending grant closeout, FAA will process amendment in spring 

 
Aeronautical Survey for Nighttime Approach/Offset PAPI Construction: 

• Flight check dates TBD by FAA 
o Flight Program Ops has confirmed the night time evaluation (needed to reestablish approach) is 

included in this inspection of the PAPIs 
• Reimbursable agreement is in process 

 
Snow Removal Equipment Building: 

• Pending Special Use Permit renewal; planning commission meeting 11/19 
• Pending building permit approval with City Building Division, approval pending SUP 

 



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

CCAA BOARD MEMO Agenda Item: H-01 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
BOARD MEMO  2024-25   Meeting Date: November 20, 2024 
 
Agenda Title: FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Approval of 
Airport Lease Amendment for the south FBO lease held by Mountain West CXP, 
LLC, (“MW”), to release approximate 17,000 sq ft for the Airport to use for a 
taxilane, and to extend the Lease for 8 years in return.   
 
Staff Summary: The proposed action is to approve an Eleventh Amendment to the 
MW lease to remove a portion of leased area.  This will allow for a taxilane so that 
the CCAA can provide aircraft access from a lot to be developed immediately to 
the south of the MW leasehold.   In exchange for the loss of area, as well as its use 
and profit, the CCAA will extend the remaining portion of the MW lease for 8 
years.  The area involved is shown on Exhibit A to the Amendment.  A Record of 
Survey will be obtained and recorded to precisely define the area. 
 
Agenda Action: Formal Action/Motion  Time Requested: 0 Minutes 
 
 
Proposed Motion 
 
I move to approve the Amendment. 
 
CCAA’S Strategic Goal 
 
Allow for development of unused land for aviation purpose and provide safe 
access for aircraft. 
 
Previous Action and Executive Summary 
 
The original Airport lease was entered into between Carson City and Mobil 
Enterprises, Inc., dated December 17, 1981, recorded in the Official Records of 
Carson City as Document No. 8597.  There were subsequently 10 amendments to 
the lease, mostly boundary adjustments, before being assigned to Mountain West 



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

CXP, LLC.  [1st Addendum dated April 2, 1987 (renew 5 yr term; assign) ; 2nd 
Addendum dated December 7, 1989 (boundary adj); 3rd Addendum dated 
December 7, 1989 (boundary adj); 4th Addendum dated December 7, 1989 
(boundary adj); 5th Addendum dated Dec 7, 1989 (boundary adj); 6th Addendum 
dated June 10, 1994 (updated CPI); 7th Addendum dated July 9, 1998 (change tie 
down language); 8th Addendum dated January 1, 2003 (extended lease); 9th 
Addendum dated April 15, 2010 (moved borders for runway project); and 10th 
Addendum dated Jan 1, 2013 (tie-downs). 
 
The CCAA has been trying to lease the area to the south of the MW leasehold and 
which borders College Parkway on and off for several years without aircraft access 
to the runway.  To make it marketable for aviation purposes, Staff determined that 
the parcel would need aircraft access to the taxiways and runway, and thus a 
taxilane to the existing taxilanes and taxiways.  The only feasible solution is over 
an area leased by MW.   To that end, MW has worked with us to find this solution. 
 

The area requested from MW is an area which was leased by MW, a portion for 
tie-down ramp and a portion for hangar construction.  The property area is 
approximately 17,000 sq ft and is improved with pavement.  The following is a 
calculation of the value of the property being relinquished to the CCAA based on 
the following assumptions.  The average rent that would be paid over the 
remaining term of the Lease is $3,721.77 for the subject area.  This assumes 
$3,400 present value for the area being surrendered back to the airport with 3% 
annual CPI increases.  We used a 6% discount factor and annual as opposed to 
monthly payments.  Monthly payments would get a higher outcome.  That said, the 
portion of the property in question has a value of just over $33,000 based upon 
these assumptions.  As shown, these estimates indicate that a 7 year extension is at 
the low end, and fails to consider the lost opportunity if MW were to use the 
property to generate a business return, which could quickly add justification for 
several more years.  As a result, Staff feels that the 8 year extension of the lease is 
fair, and somewhat generous on behalf of MW.  In that regard, MW has indicated 
that it is OK accepting this since the change has significant value to the 
development of the frontage lot and therefore financial benefit to the Airport. 

Present Value of Periodical Deposits 
Number of Periods (N)    
Interest Rate (I/Y)    
Periodic Deposit (PMT)  /period 



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

PMT made at the beginning   end 
of each compound period 

  

Results 
Present Value: $22,022.92 
FV (Future Value) $33,114.33 
Total Principal $26,052.39 
Total Interest $7,061.94 

79%21%PrincipalInterest 

Schedule 
Period$0$5K$10K$15K$20K$25K$30K246Accumulated depositsAccumulated interest 

  Deposits Interest End balance 
1 $3,721.77 $223.31 $3,945.08 
2 $7,443.54 $460.01 $8,126.86 
3 $11,165.31 $710.92 $12,559.54 
4 $14,887.08 $976.88 $17,258.19 
5 $18,608.85 $1,258.80 $22,238.76 
6 $22,330.62 $1,557.63 $27,518.16 
7 $26,052.39 $1,874.40 $33,114.33 

    
Thus Staff believes the exchange is equivalent.  Note: Once approved, Staff will 
obtain a Record of Survey to precisely describe the remaining lease area as 
separated from the taxilane area, but the numbers are not expected to change in any 
significant way. 
 
Financial Information 
 
Is there a fiscal impact? 
☐ No   ☒ Yes 
 
If yes, account name/number & amount: Acct. 5051 Land Leases.  Rental income 
will have a slight reduction initially but once the lot to the south is rented, it will 
result in a significant increase to rental income. 
 
General Fund/ Federal Share: N/A 



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

  
Is it currently budgeted?   
 
Alternatives 
 
Do not approve. 
 
Board Action Taken: 
 
Motion: ____________________________ 1) _________________________     

2) _________________________      
 

Aye/Nay 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
___________________________ 
   (Vote Recorded By) 



1 
 

APN 005-011-86 
 
When Recorded, Return to:  
 
Corey Jenkins, Airport Manager 
Carson City Airport  
2600 College Parkway #6 
Carson City, NV 89706 
 

ELEVENTH AMENDMENT TO  
CARSON CITY AIRPORT LEASE AGREEMENT 

 
This Eleventh Amendment to lease, made and entered into this __ day of November, 2024, 

between the CARSON CITY AIRPORT AUTHORITY (Landlord), whose address is 2600 College 

Parkway #6 Carson City, Nevada 89706, and MOUNTAIN WEST CXP, LLC, a Nevada Limited 

Liability Company (Tenant), whose address is 2500 College Parkway, Carson City, Nevada 89706.  

WITNESSETH: 

 WHEREAS, Tenant leases land for a fixed base operation (FBO) from Landlord under an 

airport lease. The original lease was dated December 17, 1981, and recorded in the Official 

Records of Carson City, Nevada, as Document No. 8597, alternatively Book 313 pp 173-186. The 

lease has Ten Amendments approved by Landlord and/or its predecessor, Carson City.  The last 

amendment is dated January 1, 2013 and recorded as Document No. 0434474. (collectively, the 

“Lease”).  

 WHEREAS, Landlord has requested that the Tenant release back to Landlord 

approximately 17,000 sq. ft. from the leasehold to allow for an aircraft taxilane needed for 

development of a parcel which would otherwise not have aircraft access. 

WHEREAS, the Lease is scheduled to expire on December 17, 2031. 

 WHEREAS, the parties have agreed, in lieu of payment to Tenant for the removed area, 

and the loss of use and profit of the removed area, to extend the Lease by 8 years. 

 THEREFORE, Landlord and Tenant agree as follows:  

1. The area shown on Exhibit A as taxilane is removed from the lease, such area to be 

more precisely identified with a Record of Survey to be recorded at the expense of the 

Landlord. 

2. The Lease is extended for 8 years with a new expiration date of December 31, 2039.  



2 
 

3. The rent paid by Tenant shall be reduced to the area remaining, and using the current 
rental rate per sq ft. The CPI clause shall continue to apply. 

4. All other terms and conditions of the Lease are unchanged.  

 

TENANT       LANDLORD  
MOUNTAIN WEST CXP, LLC.                                CARSON CITY AIRPORT AUTHORITY 
                                                                                    CARSON CITY  
           
 
________________________   _____________________________ 
Michael Golden, Manager     Tim Puliz, Chairman 
 
       ATTEST:  

       ________________________________ 
       Jon Rogers, Treasurer 
 
STATE OF NEVADA      )                     
                                      : ss  
CARSON CITY   )        
 

 On this ____ day of October, 2024, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public, personally 
appeared Michael Golden, Manager of MOUNTAIN WEST CXP, LLC, known (or proved) to me to be the 
person described herein, who executed the foregoing instrument, and acknowledged to me, that he has the 
requisite authority and executed the same freely and voluntarily, and for the uses and purposes therein 
mentioned.             

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and 
year hereinabove written.   

 

       ________________________________ 
       NOTARY PUBLIC            (SEAL)   



3 
 

CARSON CITY 

Approved by the Board of Supervisors this ____ day of ____________, 2024. 

 
__________________________________ 
LORI BAGWELL, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:        CITY'S LEGAL COUNSEL 

Approved as to form. 
 

_________________________________  _________________________________ 
WILLIAM SCOTT HOEN, Clerk/Recorder  DISTRICT ATTORNEY 
 
         AIRPORT AUTHORITY COUNSEL 
         Approved as to form 
 
         __________________________________ 
         STEVEN E. TACKES, ESQ. 
  

 

 
 



,i 

ii 

Ii 
I 

1 

2 

3 

' .. 
5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 
,~ 
-0 

14 

15 
,-_o 

17 I 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

Zl 

28 

29 

30 

31 I 
I 32 I 

I 
" 

' 

L:SAS!: OF Cl-.RSO!~ CITY ]·.IP.PORT P?.OP:CRTY 

7:iIS AGREE!·SHT made. and ente:-ed i:-11:0 this 17th day of 

Decerr:ber 198~, by and between CAP.SON CI.TY, a consolidated 

7:','..!nicipali.t~, of the State of I:evacS.a, LESSOR, he:.-ein~::-:.c= :.-ef,;;::?:":-c.d 

":0 as "CITY", and HOBILL ENTERPRISES, IlJC., a Nevada corporaticn, 

hereinafte= referred to as 11 LESSEE". 

WITNESS ETH: 

,;-rn:EREAS, the CITY and HOBIL1.. ENTER?RISES, !llC. , have ente=ed 

:.~to a lease dated October 16, 1972; anC Addendum thereto dated 

i·'5:ERE:r>_s, s2.iC. lease was assig:ieC. t.o Willia::i 1'-•• Drake v:i th 

conse:it a~d approval 0£ LESSOR, and 

l·iEEF2AS, the C!'!'Y and HOBILI, ENTERPRISES, IllC., Ce sire to 

supplementing t~e te=ns and p~ovisions of saiC iease; 

!·10W, ':'?.EREFORE, in consi6eration o= the mutual ccvenants · 

co:.ta:.neC. herein, the pa:::-ties hereto agree as :fo:!..lows: 

.:.. CANCELLi.TI01~ O? LEJi.SE O? OCTOE:SR 16, 1972: 

is hereby ag=eed by ~nC. between the pa=-:.:.es hereto 

~ha~ ~he lease of Octobe= 16, 1972, is c~ncelled and that th~ 

e:•:ec1;.tion o:: this agreement, shall constitute t.he enti=e Ag=ee!nent 

between the pa=ties hereto. The pa=ties hereto release each 

other ==o~ t~ei= res?ective obligations under t~e lease cf 

Octobe= 16, 1972. The CITY a:1d L::::SS~E furtbe= agree t:'1at this 

cancellat~cn shall not be construed as a termination o= Ce:ault 

c: saiO. fo::-mer lease and addendu::n thereto such as would cause any 

buildings lo~ated on the forme= demised premises to becone the 

-pro-oe=tv cf Carsor. City. 

II. PROP~RTY LEASED: 

The City hereby leases to Lessee that cer~ci~ pc=~ion 

cf the C~rscn Airpo=-t which is defined on the r:1ap attt..cnecl here~o 

1 

31.3 fACl 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

' 

mark•.'.!d Exhibit "A" and made a part hereof by t!iis refe::-ence. 

Said i)Ortion is mo.re par~icularly described as foll0\·1s: 

Pl-.RC!:L A - .006 HEST SID=-: A?RON 

A certain parcel of land situate in the H ½ of the SE¼ 
o:: Section 4, TlSN, F.20E, HDB&H, Carson C~ty, lJevada. 
Said Parcel being more ?articularly described, to-wit: 

Corn.~encing at the S 1/16 corner common to Sections 3 
and 4, thence on a Nevada State_ Plane Coordinate system 
bearing of N 71°05 1 32" W 2036.03 feet; thence S 
72°,1 1 25" E 256.00 ~eet to the true point of begi~ning; 
thence continuing S 72°41 1 25'' E 240.33 feet; thence S 
17°18 1 35'' W 40.00 fee~: thc~ce S 72°41 1 ~5'' E 10.00 
~eet; thence S 17°18'35" W 220.00 feet; thence 
N 72°41'25" w 250.33 feet.; thence N 17°18 1 35'1 E 250.00 
feet to t~e t=ue point of beginning. 

Said Parcel containing 64,600 square fee~. 

A ceitain parcel of land situate in the N ½ cf the SE~ 
cf Section 4, '!'lSN, -R20E; HD3&M, Ca::-scn City, Nevata. 
SaiC. Parcel being more pa:::-ticula::-ly desc=i:::>ed, to-wit: 

Comraencing at the s 1/16 cc::-ne:::- co~.r:i.o~ to Sectior.s 3 
and 4, thence-on a Nevada State Plane Coordinate system 
bea:::-ing of N 71°05 1 32" W 2036.03 feet; thence 
S 72°41'25'' E 189.0C feet to the t:::-ue ooint cf 
beginning; thence,N 17°18'35" E 272.23-feet; thence 
s 72°41 1 25'' E 11~.oo feet; thence N 17°18'35'' E 65.00 
:::"eet; thence S 72°41 1 25 11 E 178.33 fee-: to the NN corner 
of Parcel .00:-J; thence S 17°18'35 11 W 150.00 feet; 
the~ce N 72°41'25'' W 64.33 feet; thence s 17°13'35 11 w 
187.23 feetr thence N ~2°41 1 25 11 W 228.00 feet to the 
true point of beginning. 

Containing 18 Tie-Down Spaces. 

I I I • TE?..:.'1 OF L::'.AS:2: 

It is agreeC that Lessee is grantee the ~:oredesc=ibed 

preraises to have and to hold, including the use of all public 

runways, taxiways and ramps in common with others, fer the 

following terms, unless sooner te=minated as he=ein provided and 

subjec-t to cc<lditions and covenants herein co~tained. 

1. For the area refe=red to as Parcel A, s~all be 

leased for a term of thi!:."'ty ( 30) years commencing on -:.he date Of 

execution of this agreement. 

2 173 



1 

2 

3 

4. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

,, 

I 
I 

I.. 

\ 

2. For the area referred to as Parcel B, shall be 

leased for a terr.i of five {5) years wi-:.h c:,:clllsive 

right of renewal for five additional terms for a total of thirty 

(30) years commencing on the date of execution of this agreement; 

subjec~ to both parties' agreement with lease fees and land usage 

consisting of twenty tiedown spaces. 

IV. I:-lPROVEHENTS: 

Lessee agrees and CQvenants to complete const=uction of 

a building c= buildings contai~ing not less than 8,900 squa=e 

::eet ~n Pa:::cel ·A on or be::o!'.'e two (2)· years from date of this 

Agreement. Thie building p=ogram schedule shall be within the 

::'allowing time frame: (1.) Total building a~C site plan shall 

suppo:-~ir:g financial funC.ing Cata :f::-orn a financial inst.itution 

\d th t:leir com..-ni tment to funC.; (2.) The building erectio~ 

perrait shall be acquired from Carson City Public Harks Code 

E~fc=cernent Division within eighteen (18) months :f=om Cate o: the 

Ag=ee~ent. Said building or buildings shall be const=ucted in 

acco=dance with the Carson City Ai=?ort Rules. and Regulations, 

and all applicable building' codes. In addition to the.foregoing 

building or buildings, Lessee may, with the writ.ten consent of 

the City, construct such additional buildings as may be desired. 

Said consent shall nOt be un:::-easonably withheld. Title to all 

i~provernents, including, but not limited to the above-~entioned 

building or buildings made on the premises, shall become the 

p::.-operty of t.he City upon the e:i-:piration or termination of this 

lease. 

the 

V. NON-EXCLUSIVE RIGHTS GRANTED: 

The use herein granted is for a fixed base operntion by 

Lessee. 

L~ssee agrees and covenants to have the following 

no:i-e:·:clusive services available on any parcels leased: 

3 
171 



1 

2 

'3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

• 

1. Aircra:t sales. 

2. 

3. 

Parts and.accessories sales. 

Charter operations which incluCe, without 

limitation, passenger or "ai=ta:xi 11
; f=eiS'ht 

or delivery; photography; aerial $Urvey; 

ag=icul tural $praying; i:1C.ividual or g::-oup 

rides; piloting sky 6ivers, etc. 

4. Aircra!t rental. 

5. Flight instruction or ground school. 

6. Maintenance se:-vices \-lhich s:lall inch:u:!.e 

services in one or more of the following: 

A. 

3. 

c. 

Airframe overhaul and repair; 

Engine overhaul and repair; 

Radio and electrical shop; 

D. Instru~ent shop; 

F. Refinishing a:1d painting. 

7. Line services ~hich stall include one or more 

of the following: 

~- SU?plying the fuel, oil and other 

:::luids;. 

B. De-icing fluiC; 

C. Inte=ior cleaning: 

Jl._ny o":.her services .,.,:iich r.iay be p=oviC.ed by a Fixed 

Base Ope:::-ator under t:'le Carson City Airpo:::-t Rules and Regulations 

shall be allowed, provided approval of the Ca=son City Board of 

Supervisors is first obtaineC. such approval shall not be 

unreasonably withheld. 

VI. FEDERAL AVIATION ADl·lINISTRATION REGULATIONS AGREED TO: 

It is mutually understood and agreed by the Lessee and 

c:..t.y that Carson City, in accepting federal aid fer the 

development o= the Ca:?:"son City Airport, agreed in .w:::-iting to FAA 

4 
313P~Ci 175 



·1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

zz 
28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

=egc:·'-"tions concerning any agreements, co::-:t:::-acts, leases or othe 

privileges given in connecti:ir. with the air?ort. These "'fAA 

regulations require: 

Aeronau~ical Uses 

l. That, directly er indirectly, exclusive rights 

will not be granted for the conduct of aeronautical activities on 

the airport. 

2. That the Lessee agrees to charge fair, reasonable 

and not u::i.justly d:.scriminatcry prices for e.ach unit or service, 

?roviC.eO. that the Lessee r.:.ay be '1llowed to ::1ake reaso;1e..::;)le and 

non-Ciscriminato=y discounts, rebates, or other similar types of 

price reductio~s to volume purchasers. Lessee furt~er agrees to 

consult with City prior to i~creasing eAisting aircraft tiedown 

charges. 

3. That the Lessee ag.rees not to disc::iminate against 

any pe=son or class of persons by reason of race, color, creed or 

~ational origin in the use of any of the facilities provided for 

the public on the air?Ort. 

4. That the ~essee unde=s~anCs a~d agrees t~at 

nothing herein contained shall be const=ued to grant or authorize 

the s=anting of an exclusive =ight within the raeani:1g of Section 

308 o= the FeOeral Aviatio~ Act. 

5. That City reserves the right to mai~tai~, develop 

c:: :.::-,prove the landi:-ig area a:-.. d all public!y owne.C. facil:.ties cf 

th~ airport as it may be found necessary in the City 1 s sole 

C.iscretion, together .,.;ith the right to direct and control all 

ground traffic over designated aircra=t taxi areas. The aircraft 

users shall have right of access across the aisle-way located or 

to be constructed in Parcel B. 

6. That this lease shall be subordinate to the 

p~ovisions and requirements of any e:-:isting or future g:::-ant 

agreenents between City and the United States of any existing or 

5 
313FAG1 176 



!I ;I 
!1 

I 
! 
I 

l 

2 

3 

4 

Ii 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

!5 I 
16 ! 

17 I 
18 I" 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

Z7 

28 

29 

30 

81 

32 

fut.-..:::.-·:.? FeC.e::.-al .Aviation Reg-.:.lat:io:1s relativ= to ti:; Cevelop:nent, 

Ncn~Aeronautical Uses 

7. That there is hereby :eser~e~~to Ci~y, i~s 

successors and assigns, for the use and bene:it of the public, a 

right of fligh1:. ::"o::.- the passage o:: ai=c=a:.i: .::..n the zii.::.-space a:.Oove 

thj su::.-face of all of the p::.-ecises of the ~essee described in the 

"?=ope::.-ty Leased" section, he!'ein, ':ogethe::.- with the right to 

cause in said ai::.-s;ia.ce such :1oise as nay be i:-.he::-e;;.t i!1 t:'l.e 

lanling at, taking o=f fro~ or operation en Ca=son Air?O:'.'~. 

ag=ees for i~self, its succesiors a~d a~s.::..;~s ~~at i~ will ~ct 

e:ect c:- perr:-,it the erection of a:-:.y ·st=uc-t.·..::re o::.- c::ject nor 

"Prc?e=ty ~ease:: 11 _section he:-ein, in violation of any height 

9. That the Lessee by accepti:ig this lease e:-:pressly 

as:-ees fc:- itself, i-=s successors a~C assigns that it will not 

make use of the premises desc:-ibed in the "?=ope=ty LeaseC 11 

section, he=ein, in any manner- w~ich migh-= interfere with the 

otl1e=1-lise constitute a hazarC.. In the event the aforesaid 

covenant is b:::eached, CitJ' reserves the right to e::ter upon the 

Lessee 1 s pre::tises described in the "Property Leased" sectio:1, 

he:-ein, and cause the abate~er.t cf such interference at ~he 

ex?ense o= the Lessee. 

10. ~he Lessee as=ees that the Federal ~viatic~ 

AC:7',inist~a"ticn {FM) Regula ti ens listed i!1 r·arag=a;,h A -through ! , 

6 
313rAC: 177 



[; 

i! 
1! 
'I I, 

11 

1 I 
I 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

r -0 

16 

17 II 
lS I 
19 

20 

2i 

22 

23 

24. 

25 

26 

27 

28 
I 

29 :I 
30 I 

81 ! 
~~ I 

=11 

II 
h 

to abide by them. 

VII. 'l'ER!·iI!~ATIOH O=' AGRE2i1EHT: 

1. In the event of any of the following conditions 

existi~g Lessee may elect, in its sole dist=etion, a:-iy remedy 

;:-:-ov:.deC. i:1 Section {2) iw..-:i.ediatcly :'allowing. 

A. If the City fails to per:c=m under this lease 

a!te= :ailing to remedy a de!"icic:-icy aftc:: s:.xty {60) days 

written notice by Lessee. 

B. r.: the City car.uni ts any act th2'.t ?re.vents 

Lesses frcn doing any business autho=ized herein for a pe:-iod of 

if nc=:::al b·J.siness is inte=:-upted by fire, ea.r-:.hquake, flcoC., 

e:::er::y action, civil strife, strikes, picketing or other coercive 

activity by labor s=ou?s, actio::: by a public agency or p~blic 

officials, enactment, enfc:-cement cf public laws er a:-iy othe::::-

i::::.e::-·.;e:::ing c~use ;:)eyond I.essee' s co:1.trcl, ,-:::.ic:l saiC. closu=e 

ca::.nct be repai=ed er =e.medied v,it.hi::1 si.xty (60) Cays. 

2. t·:rhen :norma·1 p1.:siness is interrupted by any cause 

set for-th in pa::::-agraph { 1) above, Lessee ma.-y elect, in its sole 

C.izcre.tio:n, to either te::-mi::.ate 'the lease o::.- to h~ve all ::.-e~t and 

elect ~o have the rent a;:)ated, the term of t~:..s lease shall 

a-.:."':.o::--.a":.ica:!..ly be e:-:tended a pe:::-ioC. of time eq·..1al to t::-ie pe::.-ioC. of 

inte=ruption. 

3. The City may te::.-mi:nate this asreement in its 

e::.ti.::::ety upon the occurrence of any of the following events. 

A. filing of bankruptcy proceedings by or 

aga:.::st Lessee. 

B. Les see, or any one of the::i., ::-12.l~ing any 

7 

178 



1: 

'I 
I: 
'I 
!1 
! 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

Z1 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

C?eret.ions at the airpor~ by Lesse-2. 

p2.yme:1~.s as specified herein and t!1e lease payment nc~ being made 

within fifteen (15) da:•s a!t~= si:::rvi:::e o: notice as p::-ovided 

.::.. Violation o:::- non-cor.,plian:::e !:ly the Lessee of 

a!"!y c:: t:le provisions of parag:-a?hs For G hereof. 

?. Lessee £aili~g to ~aintain ~he leased 

to t~e terms o:: this lease. 

G. It is unde=st::ioC. tha-c. ti:e Lessee is :Jou,~d by 

~!'le rules and ::-egulations o:: the Carson ~-i=port and r.:ust ccr::;.-ly 

•,:i t!'l sa::1e. Sho~~d said rules i!:'ld regulations ba a:ne:1.ded fror.'i 

~ime to time it shall be the respo!1sibility of Lessee to beco~e 

i~fo:-:ned as to a:iy ame:idraents and comply with same. Lessee 

::u:-the= agrees that its license a!1d authority to carry on 

c::mCi::.io::s set out_ i:1 those =..:.les a:-id regulc::t.io~.s. l~.:,t:-ling i:1 

~his lease by cnilateral action. 

4. It is specifically understood an~ agreed ~hat the 

te:rminateC.. 

VIII. LEASE PAYHEN~S: 

1. Lessee shall pay to t:le City th:::-ee cents ($0.03) 

?er square foot per annum of land a:::-ea leased o;. Parcel A, 

payable ~onthly, on er before the 10th day of each rno~th. ~ess=e 

shall ;:>ay to the City :iwo Dollars (S2.0C) pe.:::- r.::::.::th ::"c= eac-!l 

3i3m£ 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

I5 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

81 

32 

~he Carson City Air~ort. 

Sl:::mld lessor choose tc c:-,ns"C:::·..;.::": a :fuel fz::.c:.i":.:.1· anC 

should the lessee choose to use said facilit:.y, the::. lessee would 

pay lesso= an additional l-1/2 cen":s pe= gallon cf fuel utilized. 

This adciitional fuel sto=-age :fee shall no't apply to fuel sold to 

age~cies of the United States Go'\0 e::::1:-ie:1t, -the st~te cf NevaC.a, 

3. 0 --.. --
,.. __ _ 

c:: 

::.v-; ;-·ear ar:.~iv_e=sa=y intervals Ou:::i~g the t.er:n o: t:.his lease 

v:it.h t.he _base year being January 1, l.9i9. Such aCjus~3=~t shall 

:'he P::-ice 

I~cie;-: shall wea::i. the ave:-age for '1 all ite:7;5 11 shown en --:.he "U.S. 

Ci ":y Ave=age for Orban Nage Ea:::::i.e:::s and Cle::::ical i·7o=ke:::s 

(i~=l~~ing Single Ncrke=s)'', all ite~s, grou?s, s~~;roups, a~d 

Sta~is":ics c: the U.S. Department of ~a~or. 

~.sed .shall be the average of such i::dax ::i;·.1:.:-es pu:::.li.s:=:ed :o:: t:le 

fi:st quar~er of calendar year 1977. In no even~, h~wever, shall 

any dec=ease i::1 the Consu:ne:::- Price I::-ide:-: result i::1 a C.ec=ease o! 

':.he rent. 

1. Lessee shall indemnify a!1d save ::-.a:::-:.1less the City, 

its c:.:.icers, agents and e::iployees, frow and a;ai::s-:. any and all 

clair..s, der:1a:iC.s, loss o= liability of any kind o:: ::.ature which 

City, i.t.s of!icers, agents and employees, or any o: -:.hem, r.i.ay 

sus-:.ain o::- i:icur or which r.tay be imposed upon the:., o:::- ~ny of 

':.he:u,, for ir;ju:::-y to or dea't.h of a::-q persons or damage to any 

9 

313,'AC: 180 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

' 

2. 

this lease and in pa:::tial pe::-:'orm!l.:ice o::: th~ L.esse";;:' s o;.)ligat.ions 

he!"eu:ider, Lessee shall obtair:. a:1d r:.a::.:1.-:.~i:--. ir. ::ull fcrce u:-:d 

e:tect during the te=rn of this ag:::ee~en~, a policy er policies c:: 

liabil:.a:y ::..nsu=ance with carriers a!1d i:1 fc=r;,. s·atisfactory to 

Ci~v \-:ith r.,i::i::it:m limits of S:00,000/Si,00~,000 boC.ily i:1jury 

$1,000,000 pro?erty daraage ins"J.ra!'lce, o::.- ee;uivalent. The Cit~r 

3. 

4. :.essee shall delive!" an acce?table ce::-::..:ica1:-: o::: 

a:1.d 

e:-.t.e:.Ced cove=-age ir.surance ai;ai:ist da::Jas-e tc t:1e builC.ing to. be 

ir.su=able value the=eof. 

6. 

~at be co:1st.=ued to be a li::ti tation U?On t:1e Lessee's liabil:.. ty 

c= as a :'ull pe:::-:forraa:i.ce on. t:leir ?art: of t:le i::1.C.erani:::ication 

?rovisio~s of ~his lease, lesses's cbliga~ion ~ein;, 

r:.otwi::.hstar!C.!ng said policies of i:!su::a!l.ce, :o= ~he :"u.ll and 

tot~l a~ount of any da~age, i~jury o= loss caused by ~e;ligence 

or ,1eglect co::-:.nected with the:.r cpera~ic::i. ::.:1de:.- -:.his l~ase. 

x. ;.usc:::L:..ANEOUS TERI-:s: 

l. Const=uction: 

its leased premises at any ti~e duri~g the tern of this lease in 

con:"c:.-~ance with establisheC a~d custoraary standards cf fixed 

and b~i:ting codes of Carson City. 

iSl 



' ' :; 
II 

" r 
1! ,, 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

s 
9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

~--0 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21. 

22 

23 ' I 
24 I 

25 

26 

'Z/ 

28 

29 

I so ! 
31 11 

32 

' 

not· utilize.the C?e~ aircra::~ tie~~~n a=ea ~s denoted E for 

c,:f. -:.he 

2. Assianrne~~ of Lease: 

A. Lessee shall have the right to assign this 

lease, subject to assignee raeeti::1g t.he Ci-:.:,:' s req1.:.irements 

aC.v~:i.ce w!"i ':ten approval. ;..:1~" assig:-:.;;1c.n~ of t!;is lease will 

=es~i=e that t~a assignee be subjec~ t~ a!l c::i.ditions, it.e~s ~nd 

lease. 

B. Lessee s~all have the =ig~t to assig:i. c= sell 

Ci- .. - --.: . 

s::.all \::-i t-:.en. notice to Ci 't.y o:: any ?roposed assignment .. !n 

f=o;:i =eceipt cf notice by -:.:le Lessee, approval shall be ¢.ee:rned to 

co::-p::::::-ate interests in excess o: twenty-five pe=cent. (25%) s!iall 

be Cee~ed a~ assigr.rnent of this Lease. 

3. 

a5::-ees ~o pay ~o= all utilities used o~ the lsased p=e~!ses. 7he 

pe=::-,=..:..ent se=vice with const=uction schedule 

( Sec1:.icn IV) . 

4. !nsnection bv Citv: 

Lessee agrees to pe=mit City tc ente= ::.pen and 

313 It'.! 182 



l 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

ZI 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

5. aichts of Quiet L~~ovm~n~: 

Lessee ~s granted the rig~t to ing:ess, egress ant 

::ree access to the premises and to peac~~~l ;oascssio~ a~d 4uiet 

6. Ci":v Hot to !::1.te::=-::ere with Bus:.ness: 

City agrees not to make any fundamental 

cha:1ges in i~s master plan that would adversely a::"fect the 

~essee 1 s business. 

C. 

D. 

:iu:..l:.ing or othe:: ::acili':.y 

:.eas: pe:::-iod, ":he Ci-ty as:-ees -:.o pay all cos-:.s -:•:- re2.ocate 

:ess~e•s :ac~lities to a place on -:.he airport cf comparable 

co:1ve::ie:ice anC a:::cessi!:'ility a:1.d to :furt:ler ra;:,lace 2.:1y 

7. Mai:,.te:1a:1ce of ?rerr:ises: 

exte=icr cf all builC.ings constr·..i:cted upon the leased ;:re;.1ises i:1 

a clea:1 1 sa:1it2.ry 2.:1d att=active ccr.dition. 

Parcel K2-3 will be the res?c~sibility of the lessee. 

8. Snow, Ice and Heed Removal: 

• -~ ... 'I.,.: ... ,· . --·•-"* 

The City ag::.-ees to prom?tl::• 2.-emove all ice, 

E:i.ow and weeds from all com..ilon a=eas of the ai=-?o=t. City ag=-ees 

::o e~gage p::.-iva-:.e equipme;'lt to r.iair:tair1 the ai=?O!"t when City 

eq~i?me~~ is net available for a period cf nore ~han 36 hou=-s 

==c;:1 ::.he ti!:"!e VFR con Ci tions p::-e\•ail. 

183 



4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 I 
!5 ! 
16 I 
1711 
1s I 

I 
19 

20 I 
J, 

:j 
23 I 

I 
24 

Ii 

:1 
271 
28 i 
2s I 
so I 
31 I 
32

11 

II 
it 

3. · The Lessee a·Jrccs to r::!;;,o•:e snow, ice and 

~eets ::ro~ the areas leaeed and he=ein described. The City ~ay, 

at ~~e request of Les~ee, assist Lessee in snow, ice and wee~ 

removal. In the even~ of City assistance, Les$ee agrees to ~o:d 

City harmless from all liability for ciamage caused by such 

assistance on leased property. 

9. Rules of Construction: 

A. Nheneve= approval of either pa=ty is herein 

B. 

):! • SUBCONTRACTING RIG?.'!'S: 

of a:-:ivities u!1.de::::- the te=ms c:: t.he lease, ~=o·,...•::..Ced. such 

asr-s::nents meet the rec;:u.i=eme:;.t.s of t~is lease e:.r;C. have aCvance 

a;:::,=o·,al i:,. writing' by City. Lessee shall no"":.:.:y the City in 

w!."i t::..::g o: a~y proposed subcontract o::::- such .subco!'1~::::-ac-t Shall be 

nu:~ and voiC.. The City sha~l not u:.'lreasonab:y withheld its 

XII. 7~.XES: 

Lessee agrees to pay all taxes legally i::;pcsed or 

assessed upcn i~s property located at the Carson Ai=port. 

1. It is understood ~nd agreed -that each and all the 

ter~s of this lease are subject to the regulations and provisic~s 

o= la,.•: app!.icable to the operation o: Carsen Air?c.rt as a Federal 

a~y p=ovision of this lease is invalid, 

t.he o-:.her provisions of the lease which are valid shall remai:1 :..::1 

e::::e::-:., a;id -::le lease will :le re-negotiated to co:::;,ly wit.!"i "the 

=e~-.:.::..re::ients of the applicable laws a:1.d regulations. 

181 



i: 
" 
II 
I 
I 

! 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

I5 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

• 

and enfo=ced by the State of Nevada, Carson Ci-":.y, ar1C. ~y any . 

ct.he= p=c-per au-c.hori -:y having jurisC.ic"t.ion o-.1 e= the cc!i.:!.uct o: 

operations at the Carson Airport. 

3. Carson City shall have co~plete dominion over the 

p=emises desc=ibed in Paragraph II herein du=-i~3 the ter~ of this 

lease fo:z:- -the purpose of a:1d to the e~":.ent :1eces:sary ":.o r.1aintai:1 

law, order a:id safe-ty and has _the authori-:.~, ,~:16 ·the rig:lt to cie:1y 

~~e L~sse: shall be su==icient if sent =y reqis~ered mail, 

City 1 ~•:-evaC.a, and a;:y notice to be give:-1 c= se:.-ved ,;.pon ':.he Ci'ty 

shall be suf~icient if sent by registered mail, post.age prepaid, 

aC.dresseci to the City Manager, Ca!"son City, Bl~ Nor-:h Ca=scn 

St=ee-:., Carsen City, NevaC.a. 

:3y -ch.is lease, each par-::y binds himself, his heirs, 

~rustees, rep=esentatives and all successors a~d assig;i.s in 

inte=-est. Each pa=t.y guarantees the per~ormance cf any and ai 1 

coven=.::1ts and conC.it.ions contained in this agrse!!lent; and U?on 

pa=:t.ies agree to cor:..?lete such covena:lt.s, condi-cions and 

=equirerne;i.ts c-f this agreement. 

XXXXXXXX}~X 

xxxx:-:xxxxxx 

:•:x:-:xxxxxxxx 

>:xxxxxxxxxx 

14 185 



l 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

'ZI 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

i: 
11 
1, ,. ,, 
!I 
I 
I 

" ' 

this agreement ::irst above ·.~·:i':.t.e.:1. 

ChRSO:·l CITY 

c:J) dama d IL~ 
\·n:.:.rr...r-i ;... . i)?...:.K:: ; 
I·l03ILL E~~:r:::?.?R:s~s, INC. 

"Lesses" 

rllED FBP.R£CG.RC 
;. i iP.E-P.EQ!J=!i C: F 

31J,w i8S 























1 

'K'HIS ADDENDUM TO LKASE, madc and entercd into this 1st day of January, 

' 2003, by and bctween CARCON CITY AIRPORT AUTHORITY, successor to CARSON 

CITY, a consoliclatcd municipality of the Statc of Nevada, hcrcinafter rcfcrrcd to as 

LESSOR, and EL ARRO SERVICES, INC., a Nevada Corporation, hcrcinafter rcfcrrcd 

to as LESSEE;. 

W ITNESSETH: - 
WHEREAS, LESSOR and LESSEE arc partics to a certain Icasc datcd Deccmbcr 

17,1981 (Mobill least) rcgardhg a ccrtah portion of the Carson City Airport, with seven 

subscqucnt Addcndums; and 

WHlt(:REAS, the parties dcsirc to modify the payment tcrms of thc lcasc and to 

extend thc lease by 20 ycars. 

NOW 'THEREFORE, for and in consideration of tho muhhaJ covenants and 

agrccmcnts sct forth hcrcin the partics hereby agree: 

1. That thc Lessc Payment tcrms, as previously sct forth in Section VlIL are 

amcnded and rcplaccd as follows: 

VII1. IXASE PAYMENTS 

I. LESSEE shall pay to LESSOR seven and one half ccnts 

($0.075) per square foot pcr annum of the land area leased (64,600 sq  ft) on Parcel 

A, payable monthly, on or before thc 1 ~ ' ~  day of each folIowinp: month. If LESSER 

provides fuel sales undcr subparagraph 2 below, then thc ratc per squarc foot shall 

be rcsct to three and one half cents ($O.U35) pcr square foot per mnum as modificd 

by thc CPI Adjustment rncssured from .lan~rary 1.2003. LESSEE shall pay to 

LESSOR $7.14 pcr month for cach improved ticdown locatcd on P-arccl R, psyablc 

monthly, on or bcfore thc 10'" day of each following month. 



2. hc1 Sirlcs: If a fuel facility is Jocotcd on this leasehold, 

11 LESSEE shall pay to LESSOR five cents ($0.05) per gallon of fuel sold from 1 
LESSEE'S fucl facility on this Icnsehold. This fuel flowagc fcc shall not apply to I 
fucl sold to ngcncics of the Unitcd States Covcrnrnent, thc Statc of Nevada, and to 

aircraft opcrated by LESSEE. 

3. CPI ADJUSTMENT. An adjustment of the rental and fccs 

above dcscribcd in subparagraph 1 shall occur on two year anniversary intervals 

from January 1,2093, doring thc term of this Lease. Such adjustment of rcntal. 

"1 shall bc based upon thc percentage change rreflcctcd by the Consumer Price Indcx 

(hereinafter callcd thc Price Indcx) for the prcccding two ycar period. Thc Pricc I 
I 

Jndex shall rncan the avcrngc for "all items' shown on the "U.S. City Avcrage for 
I 

AU Urban Consumers" as promulgated by Bureau of Legal Statistics of the U.S. 

'11 Department of Labor, as arncndcd or rcplnced by the agency. Landlord shall 1 
'?I1 mcuurc each two year adjustment using the most rcocntly available report, 1 

recognizing that it may be necessary to usc a 2 year pcriod with a final quarter 
I 

l 
ending prior to each Dcccmbcr 3 1 adjustmcnt date. In no cvent, howcvcr, shaU my 

I dccrcase in the Consumer Price lndcx rcsult in a decrease of thc rcntal below the 
I ~ bast rate. For cxamplc, if the CPI for Decernbcr 2004 is 186.9 (1982-1984=100) and 

1 for Decernbcr 2002 is 180.9, thcn the rcnt would be adjusted by thc differencc 

(186.9-1 80.9) dividcd by 180-9 which cquals a 33% increase. 

I 

I 2. That the term of the Ieasc shall bc cxtended for a period of 20 years, thus the 

termination dace of the Icitsc is hereby cxtcnded from Deccmbcr 17.20 1 I to Deccmbcr 17, 

2031, upon thc parcels contained within said Icase. 

3. 'l'hat aU othcr provisions of thc Lease agreement, as rnodificd by thc prcvious 

Addendums, and not a l t e r4  by this Addendum, shsU remain in cffcct. 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, thc parties hcrcto have exccutcd this Addendum to I 
Lcasc. 

CAFtSON CITY AIRPORT AUTHORITY, EL AERO, LESSEE I 

GHNE SHELDON. Treasurer 



' CARSONCITY 
I Approved by the Board of Supervisors this /&day of hy, 2003. 
I 

CII'Y'S LEGAL COUNSEL 
Approvcd as to form. 

AIRPORT AUT kIOR1TY 

Q- 

FILED FOR RECORD 
c ~ ~ & f i r E ~ W E l l #  

THE BOARD. 
3 MY-2 P2:32 

297338 FILE HO.,,--. . . 

A L A N  GLOVER 
I Y REC cE";w E P. -,& 

a - d  
ecp :an ~n rn rnr 





















City of Carson.City 
Agenda Report 

Date Submitted: April 19, 2013 
(Agenda signing April 23) 

Agenda Date Requested: May 2, 2013 
Time Requested: consent 

To: Board of Supervisors 
From: Carson City Airport Authority 

Subject Title: Action to approve the Tenth Addendum for the lease between El Aero Services 
and the Carson City Airport Authority clarifying the tie-down portion of the lease originally 
titled Mobill Enterprises, recorded Dec 23, 1981 Book 313, Page 172. 

Staff Summary: At a regular meeting of the Carson City Airport Authority on April 17, 2013, 
publicly noticed for that purpose, the Authority approved a Tenth Addendum to this lease to 
clarify the lease areas that are for aircraft tie-down and that the tenant only has the right to use 
the tiedowns. This is consistent with the historical interpretation and use. The language is 
clarifying only. 

(check one) Type of Action Requested: 
(_) Resolution 
(_ X _J Formal Action/Motion 

(_) Ordinance 
(_) Other (Specify) 

Does This Action Require A Business Impact Statement: L_J Yes (_X_) No 

Recommended Board Action: (I move that we) approve the Tenth Addendum for the lease 
between El Aero Services and the Carson City Airport Authority clarifying the tie-down portion 
of the lease originally titled Mobil Services, recorded Dec 23, 1981 Book 313, Page 172 

Explanation for Recommended Board Action: 
Under Nevada Chapter 844, which created the Carson City Airport Authority, lease agreements 
at the Airport must be approved by the Carson City Board of Supervisors. The Airport Authority 
has approved a lease addendum to clarify an existing lease and requests Board of Supervisors 
approval. 

In 1981, Carson City leased a parcel on the Airport to Mobill Enterprises for construction 
of a Fixed Base Operation (FBO) as well as areas designated for use as aircraft tie-down areas 
by the FBO. The lease was subsequently assigned to El Aero Services, who operates the FBO 
currently. In recent years, the FAA has scrutinized leases and in some cases has denied FAA 
funding for areas where a lease gives a tenant full dominion of a lease area, and correspondingly 
would ordinarily have the obligation to maintain or replace pavement. While this may be the 
case for leases at the Carson City Airport where construction occurs, this is not the case for tie
down areas. Instead, the Airport has always treated the tie-down areas as under the dominion and 
control of the Airport Authority (and the City prior to the Airport Authority's establishment in 
1989). The Airport allows the tenant only use of the tie-downs but maintains all rights as to the 
pavement. As a result, on new leases, the Airport Authority used lease language to clarify this 



point. In addition, the Airport Authority has amended older leases with clarifying language to 
avoid any problems with FAA funding. 

The sole purpose of the amendment is to clarify the tie-down area, and that the tenant (El 
Aero Services) has rights only to the tie-downs themselves, with the Airport Authority retaining 
dominion and control over the pavement, its maintenance and use. As such, the Addendum 
makes no changes to the current rent, total leased area or any other significant term of the lease, 
however all terms are now consistent with current law and sound airport practices. 

Applicable Statue, Code, Policy, Rule or Regulation: Statutes of Nevada, Chapter 844. 
Fiscal Impact: No City impact. 
Explanation of Impact: Not Applicable. 
Funding Source: Not Applicable. 
Alternatives: Not Applicable 
Supporting Material: Assignment 

Prepared By: Stev~1\E. Tackes, Esq., Airport Counsel 

Reviewed By: h~~;:2~:::___ __ ~:=:~---- Date: 
c.r,tt/.~.J-E)f 5 

Date: _rz~Z,_?_,,,__1/'l~J_ 

Date:---~.___,_¼~~~;;) ~/2---·5_ 

Date:_f,_/~-z,,_3_7_13 __ 
(Finance Director) 

Board Action Taken: 

Motion: -------------- 1) ____ _ Aye/Nay 
2) ____ _ 

(Vote Recorded By) 

-2-



TENTH ADDENDUM TO LEASE 

THIS ADDENDUM TO LEASE, made and entered into this 1st day of January, 

2013, by and between CARSON CITY AIRPORT AUTHORITY, successor to CARSON 

CITY, a consolidated municipality of the State of Nevada, hereinafter referred to as 

LESSOR, and EL AERO SERVICES, INC., a Nevada Corporation, hereinafter referred 

to as LESSEE. 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, LESSOR and LESSEE are parties to a certain lease dated December 

17, 1981 (Mo bill lease) regarding a certain portion of the Carson City Airport, with nine 

subsequent Addendums; and 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to modify the two lease areas such that the tie-down 

rental area includes an area that has traditionally used for tie-down but was previously 

included in the hangar ramp area of the lease, and to clarify that such is a lease of the tie

downs only and not the underlying pavement which is subject to FAA AIP project 

improvements. 

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and 

agreements set forth herein the parties hereby agree: 

1. That the area of the Property leased, as previously set forth in Section II is 
amended and replaced as follows: 

Parcel A, within #27 (formerly .006), FBO and related apron area as set forth in 

attached Exhibit 1 map and Legal Description. 32,507 sq ft. Rent will continue at $436.85 

per month ($5,242.20 per year). 

Parcel B, within #27 (formerly .006), lease of 8 tiedowns will continue at $57.12 per 

month (8 x $7.14). 

Parcel C, #22 (formerly .014), lease of 23 tiedowns will continue at $164.22 per 

month (23 x $7.14). 

Said Parcels A and B are shown in the map and legal descriptions attached hereto 

as Exhibit C. 

1 



2. That for the lease of tie-downs set forth above, LESSEE is renting the tie-downs 

only. LESSEE shall maintain the tie-down mechanisms (ropes and chains) installed by 

LESSOR. LESSOR continues to maintain control, possession and ownership of the taxi

lanes and pavement area on which said tie-downs are located, including but not limited 

to, pavement marking, ultimate movement control and other rights of ownership. Rent 

to LESSOR shall be payable monthly with payments due on the first day of each month. 

3. CPI ADJUSTMENT. An adjustment of the rental and fees above described in 

subparagraph 1 shall occur on two year anniversary intervals from January 1, 2013, 

during the term of this Lease. Such adjustment of rental shall be based upon the 

percentage change reflected by the Consumer Price Index (hereinafter called the Price 

Index) for the preceding two year period. The Price Index shall mean the average for "all 

items' shown on the "U.S. City Average for All Urban Consumers" as promulgated by 

Bureau of Legal Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor, as amended or replaced by the 

agency. LESSOR shall measure each two year adjustment using the most recently 

available report, recognizing that it may be necessary to use a 2 year period with a final 

quarter ending prior to each December 31 adjustment date. In no event, however, shall 

any decrease in the Consumer Price Index result in a decrease of the rental below the base 

rate. For example, if the CPI for December 2014 is 186.9 (1982-1984=100) and for 

December 2012 is 180.9, then the rent would be adjusted by the difference (186.9-180.9) 

divided by 180.9 which equals a 3.3% increase. 

4. That all other provisions of the Lease agreement, as modified by the previous 

Addendums, and not altered by this Addendum, shall remain in effect. 

2 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Addendum to 

Lease. 

EL AERO, LESSEE 

6 By~~~'ii'i:T;.~~;-,r;~~b'-'c;:,"I.. 
HA 

3 



1 CARSON CITY 
2 Approved by the Board of Supervisors this __ day of __ _, 2013. 

3 

4 

5 

6 

ROBERT L. CROWELL, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

ALAN GLOVER, Clerk/Recorder 

4 

CITY'S LEGAL COUNSEL 
Approved as to form. 

DISTRICT ATTORNEY 

AiRPORT AUTHORITY 
LEGAL COUNSEL 



LINE 
L27 
L28 
L29 
L30 
L31 
L32 
L33 
L34 
L35 

50 • -

LINE TABLE 
LENGTH 
18.50 
40.00 
34.00 

100.00 
24.00 

102.00 
133.33 
18.00 

117.00 

TIEDOWN AREA 
32,179 SQ. FT. 

0.74 ACRES 

BEARING 

S72'41 '25"E 
S17'18'35"W 
S72'41 '25"E 
S17'18'35"W 
N72'41 '25"W 
S17' 18 135 11W 
N72'41 '25"W 
S17'18'35"W 
N72'41 '25;'W 

I 

---------
,._ 

EXHIBIT TO ACCOMPANY 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

EL AERO 
NEW LEASE PARCEL 27 

EXHIBIT C 
SHEET: 1 OF 1 
SCALE: 1" = 100' 

GRAPHIC SCALE APPROVED: MEB 
0 50 100 

11111 I I 
( IN FEET ) 

1 inch = 100 ft. 

200 

I 
DATE: 02/05/13 

ATKINS 
1011OD Prale11l0n11 Clrcl1, Sull11O2 I Rina, Navad■ 89521-4B82 

T1I:..,1,77!1.B21!1,1822IF1x:+1.77U51,1B87 



EXHIBITC 
LEASE PARCEL 27 

CARSON CITY AIRPORT 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

January 22, 2013 

A portion of Mobile Enterprises, Inc. lease parcel A, as recorded in the Lease of Carson City 
Airport Property, File No. 8597 of the Carson City Recorder's Office and located within a 
portion of the North one-half of the Southeast one-quarter of Section 4, Township 15 North, 
Range 20 East, M.D.M., in Carson City, Nevada, described as follows: 

Commencing at the South one-sixteenth comer of said Section 4; thence North 71°05'32" West 
2036.03 feet; thence, South 72°41 '25" East, 477.83 feet to the TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING 
of this description; thence, along the lines of said lease parcel A the following ten courses 

1) South 72°41 '25" East, 18.50 feet; 
2) South 17°18'35" West, 40.00 feet; 
3) South 72°41 '25" East, 34.0 feet; 
4) South 17°18'35" West, 100.00 feet; 
5) North 72°41 '25" West, 24.00; 
6) South 17°18'35" West, 102.00 feet; 
7) North 72°41 '25" West, 133.33 feet; 
8) South 17°18'35" West, 18.00 feet; 
9) North 72°41 '25" West, 117.00 feet; 
10) North 17°18'35" East, 113.99 feet; 

Thence, leaving said lease line, South 72°41 '25" East, 218.97 feet; thence, North 18°25'58" 
East, 146.02 feet, to the point of beginning. 

Containing 32,507 square feet or 0.75 acres, more or less. 

The basis of bearings for this description is Nevada State Plane, West Zone. 

TIE DOWN LEASE AREA 

A portion of Mobile Enterprises, Inc. lease parcel A, as recorded in the Lease of Carson City 
Airport Property, File No. 8597 of the Carson City Recorder's Office and located within a 
portion of the North one-half of the Southeast one-quarter of Section 4, Township 15 North, 
Range 20 East, M.D.M., in Carson City, Nevada, described as follows: 

Commencing at the South one-sixteenth comer of said Section 4; thence North 71 °05'32" West 
2036.03 feet; thence, South 72°41 '25" East, 477.83 feet to the TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING 
of this description; thence, South 18°25'58" West, 146.02; thence, North 72°41 '25" West, 
218.97 feet; thence, North 17°58'35" East, 146.02 feet; thence, South 72°41 '25" East, 221.83 
feet to the point of beginning. 

Containing 32,179 square feet or 0.74 acres, more or less. 

The basis of bearings for this description is Nevada State Plane, West Zone. 

10509 Professional Circle, Suite 102 Reno, Nevada 89521 Telephone: 775/828-1622 Fax: 775/851-1687 



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

CCAA BOARD MEMO Agenda Item: H-02 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
BOARD MEMO  2024-26  Meeting Date: November 20, 2024 
 
Agenda Title: FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Adoption of 
resolution and notice of invitation to bid to Carson City Airport Lease located at 
the South side of airport being 2.48 acres bounded by College Parkway, The 
Airport parking lot, and the existing leases to the West and North of the subject 
parcel; appropriate minimum lease rate and terms of lease and permitted uses; set 
deadline for bids and the date for the bid opening and consideration pursuant to 
NRS 244.283 (C. Jenkins, S. Tackes) 
 
Staff Summary: Per NRS 244.283, the required process for leasing airport land is 
via a public offering and sealed bid process upon adoption of resolution by the 
Authority. The Authority had previously identified this parcel for lease and 
obtained an appraisal. The proposed resolution will: (a) Describe the property 
proposed to be leased in such manner as to identify it: (b) Specify the minimum 
rental, and the terms upon which it will be leased and/or leased with a purchase of 
the hangar; and (c) Fix a time, not less than 3 weeks thereafter, for a public 
meeting of the board to be held at its regular place of meeting, at which sealed 
proposals to lease will be received and considered. 
 
Agenda Action: Formal Action/Motion  Time Requested: 15 Minutes 
 
 
Proposed Motion 
 
I move to approve the draft resolution and notice of invitation to bid for the land 
located at the south side of the Airport being 2.48 acres bounded by College 
Parkway, the Airport parking lot, and the existing leases to the West and North of 
the subject parcel with a deadline for bids of ___________ and the date for the bid 
opening and consideration of ____________.  
 
CCAA’S Strategic Goal 
 



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

Maintain financial stability 
 
Support economic activity in the region 
 
Previous Action and Executive Summary 
 
In the 2020 CCAA Master plan, the land is identified for hangar development and 
non-aviation use development.  The current ALP does not identify the non-aviation 
use land and will be subject to FAA approval for any non-aviation use.  The access 
point for this parcel to the airport is only 79 feet in total.  It is smaller than the 
design standard of the airport’s Taxiway Object Free Area of 131 feet.  While this 
property has some limitations, it is a prime location on the airport which is 
reflected in the appraised rate. 
 
Financial Information 
 
Is there a fiscal impact? 
☐ No   ☒ Yes 
 
If yes, account name/number & amount: 3099 General Fund 
 
General Fund:  
 
The fiscal impact will be determined by the outcome of the selected winning bid 
  
Is it currently budgeted? 
 
No 
 
 
 
Alternatives 
 
Approve the resolution and notice of invitation to bid with suggested changes 
 
Do not approve the resolution and notice of invitation to bid 
 
 
 
 



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

Board Action Taken: 
 
Motion: ____________________________ 1) _________________________     

2) _________________________      
 

Aye/Nay 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
___________________________ 
   (Vote Recorded By) 



 RESOLUTION AND NOTICE OF INVITATION  
 TO BID CARSON CITY AIRPORT LEASES 
 

The Carson City Airport Authority will receive sealed bids for the lease of airport 
property located on the south side of Airport being 2.48 acres bounded by College Parkway, 
the Airport parking lot and the existing leases to the west and north of the subject parcel, upon 
minimum terms and conditions as adopted by the Carson City Airport Authority on 
November 21, 2024. The minimum terms, conditions and specifications together with maps 
identifying the property available for lease are on file and available for inspection at the offices 
of the Carson City Airport Authority, Airport Manager, 2600 E. College Parkway, Terminal 
Building, Carson City, Nevada, or on the Authority’s webpage www.flycarsoncity.com  
 

Bidders may obtain copies of the documents from the Airport at no charge by 
downloading them from the Information page on the Authority’s webpage.  
 

The Airport Authority resolved its intention to invite bids to lease the following 
property:   

 
(a) Area offered for lease. That 2.48 acre lot located on the Airport property, 

bounded by College Parkway on the south, the Airport parking lot on the east, and 
the existing leases to the west and north, all as described in the survey document 
and legal description posted on the airport webpage, www.flycarsoncity.com .   

 
(b)  The minimum rental and terms. 
 1.  Lease term to be 50 years, with an automatic CPI adjustment every 2 years. 
 2.   Minimum rental rate shall be $0.64 per square foot per year, i.e. an amount 

per year calculated as $0.64 times the area leased in square feet.   
 3.  Lease includes aircraft access to taxiway at no additional cost.  Tenant is 

responsible for paving or other connector to the taxiway access and such 
included internal taxi-lanes as necessary for Tenant’s building/hangar 
construction. 

 4.  Lessee must comply with all Airport rules, including those set forth in 
Carson City Municipal Code Title 19. 

 5.  A model lease is provided with the document package setting forth the terms. 
 6.  The proposed uses on the leased area are for FBO services, hangar 

construction and aircraft storage, as well as other uses proposed by the bidder 
which the Authority finds reasonable, compatible and otherwise permitted by 
Title 19.   

 7.  Bidders may propose a lease for less than the entire area.  The successful 
bidder will be responsible for the expenses of recording a record of survey 
needed to re-parcel the area per requirements of the Carson City Assessor.   

 8.    The successful bidder must bring utilities to the lease site at the bidder’s 
expense. 
9. The successful bidder must reimburse the Airport Authority for the 
proportional part of the appraisal costs. 

 

http://www.flycarsoncity.com/
http://www.flycarsoncity.com/


(c) Sealed bids must be received at the office of the Carson City Airport Authority 
by 5:00 p.m. Monday January 13, 2025.  The bidder must supply 10 copies of his/her 
bid. A special public meeting of the Carson City Airport Authority will be held at the 
Robert Crowell Board Room, Community Center, 851 E. William St, Carson City, 
Nevada at 5:30 pm on Wednesday January 15, 2025.  Any interested person may 
appear at the meeting. At such time all sealed proposals will be opened and examined 
by the Authority, and at which time the Authority will select the winning bid.  In the 
event that additional time is needed by the Airport Authority to review and select the 
winning bid, a special meeting will be scheduled within 21 days of bid opening per NRS 
244.283. The Airport Authority will examine all bids from the standpoint of best 
airport land use, appearance, and integration into other airport operations and shall 
accept the highest bid which meets those and the other specified terms and conditions. 
Terms and conditions contained in bids which differ from the specified requirements, 
but are considered reasonable by the Carson City Airport, may be negotiated as a 
condition of award.  Oral bids may be made at that time under the provisions of NRS 
244.283.  Persons who submit sealed bids shall be considered to have given notice that 
they may participate in oral bidding.  Persons who do not submit sealed bids must 
notify the Airport Authority in writing at least 5 days prior to bid opening of their 
intent to participate in oral bidding.  At the time of such bidding, said persons must 
identify how their bids comply with the minimum terms, along with the materials and 
information that would have been required in a bid submission. 

 
Terms and conditions also include a requirement that the first year's minimum rent be 

paid in advance at the time of execution of the lease, and that said lease is conditioned upon 
approval by the Carson City Board of Supervisors as required by law.   
 

Bids must be accompanied, at a minimum, by a statement setting forth the area to be 
leased, the bid amount ($____ per sqft per year), building material and design specifications 
for the construction, an artist or architect sketch of the construction on site (general 
appearance and layout),  a completed Lease Proposal Form, and a statement verifying that all 
terms and conditions set forth in the bid documents are accepted, or identifying alternative 
terms and conditions.  All bids must remain available for acceptance for 60 days. 
 

The Carson City Airport Authority reserves the right to reject any or all bids, or, 
accept reasonable modifications and limitations. 
 
Carson City Airport Authority, 
Tim Puliz, Chairman 



Model FBO lease 
 1 

APN __________________ 
Lessee/ tax statements to: 
NAME OF TENANT 
--address--- 
--address--- 
 
The Tenant and Landlord hereto affirm that this document submitted for recording does not contain 
the social security number of any person or persons. (Per NRS 239B.030). 
 
 

CARSON CITY AIRPORT LEASE AGREEMENT 
 

This lease, made and entered into this ___day of  November, 2024, between Carson City, a 

consolidated municipality, a political subdivision of the State of Nevada, hereinafter referred to as 

“City” or “Carson City” (property owner)  and the Carson City Airport Authority, an Airport 

operator per NRS 844 hereinafter referred to as “Airport Authority” (and together with City, 

“Landlord”), whose address is 2600 E. College Parkway #6 Carson City, Nevada 89706 (email to: 

manager@flycarsoncity.com ), and NAME OF TENANT (“Tenant”), whose address is 

_____________________  (email to: ________________ ). 

 WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the Tenant and Landlord desire to enter a lease as regards certain ground space 

for construction and operation of an FBO under Title 19 of the Carson City Municipal Code; and  

WHEREAS, the parties desire to establish such lease in a manner consistent with the Airport 

Master Plan and Carson City Municipal Code, so as to lease Tenant premises consistent with uses 

desired by Landlord and to provide economic activity and monetary support to the Carson City 

Airport (“Airport”); and 

THEREFORE, Landlord and Tenant agree as follows: 

1. PREMISES.  Landlord leases to Tenant and Tenant leases from Landlord the real 

property located on the Airport property, bounded by College Parkway on the south, the Airport 

parking lot on the east, and the existing leases to the west and north, all as described in the survey 

document and legal description on Exhibit A (“Legal Description”) to this lease, with the 

appurtenant rights included in Paragraph 8. The area is comprised of approximately 108,029 sq ft. of 

undeveloped property.   

2. TERM.  The term shall be fifty (50) years from the date of Board of Supervisors 

approval of this lease. 

mailto:airportmanager@flycarsoncity.com
mailto:bryan@stewsaero.com


Model FBO lease 
 2 

3. BASE RENT.  Tenant shall pay to Landlord $______ per year ($_______ per month); 

calculated as $0.xx per square foot per year (upon lease approval; to be paid on the first of the month 

following Board of Supervisor approval of the lease).  Rent shall be payable monthly with payments 

due on the first day of each month.  Tenant shall be responsible for the maintenance of the paving of 

ramp areas within the leasehold boundaries.  

A.  Tenant must bring utilities infrastructure to site at Tenant’s cost, and must pay hookup 

fees or other related fees, if any, assessed by the Carson City Utility Department.  

B.  Tenant shall maintain, at Tenant’s cost, utilities infrastructure in conformance with 

the engineering design and installation approved by the Airport Authority  

C. Tenant to reimburse Landlord for the appraisal cost of $3,000.00 with first rent 

payment. 

4.  ADJUSTMENTS TO BASE RENT. 

A.  CONSUMER PRICE INDEX ADJUSTMENT.    An adjustment of the rental and 

fees described above shall occur first on January 1, 2027, then at two-year anniversary intervals from 

January 1, 2027, during the term of this Lease.  Such adjustment of rental shall be based upon the 

percentage change reflected by the Consumer Price Index (hereinafter called the “Price Index”) for 

the preceding two-year period.  The Price Index shall mean the average for “all items” shown on the 

“U.S. City Average for All Urban Consumers” as promulgated by Bureau of Legal Statistics of the 

U.S. Department of Labor, as amended or replaced by the Bureau of Legal Statistics.  Landlord shall 

measure each two-year adjustment using the most recently available report, recognizing that it may 

be necessary to use a 2-year period with a final quarter ending prior to each January 1 adjustment 

date.  In no event, however, shall any decrease in the Price Index result in a decrease of the rental 

below the base rate set forth at Section 3 of this lease.  For example, if the Price Index for November 

2027 is 155.0 (1982-1984=100), and for November 2025 was 150.0, then the rent would be adjusted 

by the difference (155.0-150.0) divided by 150.0 which equals a 3.3% increase. 

B.     MARKET TO MARKET LAND APPRAISAL.  On January 1, 2040 (year 15), and 

thereafter at each 10-year anniversary of the lease term, the rent rate shall be adjusted to the 

appraised rate as determined by an MAI certified appraiser, selected from the Carson City Board of 

Supervisors’ approved list of appraisers.  Landlord and Tenant shall share equally the expense of 

such appraisals. 

5.  IMPROVEMENTS.  Tenant shall commence construction of the project as set forth 

in Exhibit B to this lease with construction of all office and hangar construction completed within 2 



Model FBO lease 
 3 

years of Board of Supervisor approval of this lease.   Tenant shall meet the construction 

requirements and standards adopted by Landlord pursuant to Title 19 of the Carson City Municipal 

Code, including but not limited to, expending funds for maintenance on the property, pavement and 

improvements, at an effective rate of at least $0.03/sqft/yr averaged over a 10-year period.  Upon 

completion of construction, Tenant shall provide Landlord with an exterior and pavement 

maintenance plan and shall abide by the plan. Upon each 10-year anniversary of January 1, 2025, the 

Tenant shall report on its improvements to, and maintenance on, the leasehold made during the 10-

year period.  Upon request of Landlord, Tenant shall provide supporting documentation of such 

Tenant expenditures to ensure that the facility is being maintained in the same fashion (i.e. the same, 

good condition as when improvement construction was completed, normal wear and tear excepted).  

Such maintenance shall include, as a minimum, adequate care of the Tenant pavement such that the 

pavement remains no lower than a fair rating (i.e. PCI 58-74).  Failure to maintain leasehold 

improvements at or above these standards shall be treated as a breach of this lease. 

6.  DEFAULT.  The occurrence of any of the following shall constitute a default by 

Tenant: 

 A. Failure to pay rent when due if the failure continues for ten (10) days after 

notice has been given to Tenant. 

  B. Abandonment and vacation of the premises. Failure to occupy and operate the 

premises for thirty (30) consecutive days shall be deemed an abandonment and vacation, 

except to the extent such non-use is within the construction schedule. 

  C. Violation of Tenant or its contractors, and/or subcontractors of the terms and 

conditions of this lease, as determined by Landlord at its sole discretion.  If such default is 

not cured, within ten (10) days after written notice thereof from Landlord to Tenant, 

Landlord may, at its sole discretion, suspend or terminate this Agreement.  

  D. Failure of Tenant to abide by all applicable laws, ordinances, rules and 

regulations of the United States, State of Nevada, or Carson City. 

  E. Filing a petition of voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy regarding Tenant. 

  F. The making by the Tenant of any general assignment for the benefit of 

creditors. 

  G. Violation of any of the standards, rules, and regulations set forth in CCMC 

Title 19, Appendix A of this lease, or Exhibit B (construction not required but if performed) 

to this lease, or failure to maintain current licenses required for the permitted operation. 



Model FBO lease 
 4 

  H. Failure to provide or maintain the required certificates of insurance. 

  I.   Failure to complete construction of the facilities as required by this lease and 

any exhibits or amendments thereto, or extensions granted by action of the Airport Authority 

at a publicly noticed meeting.  Landlord may terminate this lease under this subsection at its 

sole discretion, with thirty (30) days written notice of its intention to terminate this Lease. 

Notices given under this paragraph must specify the alleged default, the applicable lease 

provision(s), and must demand that Tenant cure its default and perform the provisions of this lease or 

pay the rent that is in arrears, within the applicable period of time, or quit the premises.  Unless a 

different period to cure a default is specified in this lease, any notice of default from Landlord to the 

Tenant shall provide Tenant ten (10) days to cure its default, if the default is one that can be cured, 

or quit the premises. No such notice will be deemed a forfeiture or a termination of this lease unless 

Landlord so elects in the notice. 

Failure to declare a breach or the actual waiver of any particular breach of this lease or its 

material or nonmaterial terms by either Landlord or Tenant shall not operate as a waiver by such 

party of any of its rights or remedies as to any other breach. 

7.  REMEDIES.  Landlord shall have the following remedies if Tenant commits a 

default.  These remedies are not exclusive; they are cumulative to any remedies now or later allowed 

by law. Such rights and remedies may be exercised and enforced concurrently and whenever and as 

often as Landlord deems appropriate.  Any amount paid, or expense or liability incurred, by the 

Landlord for the account of Tenant may be deemed to be additional charges, and the same may, at 

the option of Landlord, be added to any amounts then due or thereafter falling due. 

  A. Penalties.  Landlord may assess any penalties permitted under Carson City 

Municipal Code Title 19, or any penalties otherwise provided by law if the default 

constitutes a violation of law. 

  B.   Tenant's right to possession not terminated.  Landlord can continue this lease 

in full force and effect, and the lease will continue in effect, as long as Landlord does not 

terminate Tenant's right to possession. Landlord shall have the right to collect rent when due. 

 During the period Tenant is in default, Landlord can enter the premises and relet them, or 

any part of them, to third parties for Tenant's account.  Tenant shall be liable immediately to 

Landlord for all costs Landlord incurs in reletting the premises.  Reletting can be for a period 

shorter or longer than the remaining term of this lease.  In the event of reletting, Tenant shall 



Model FBO lease 
 5 

still pay to Landlord the rent due under this lease on the dates the rent is due, less the rent 

Landlord receives from any reletting.   

  If Landlord elects to relet the premises as provided in this paragraph, rent that 

Landlord receives from a third party upon reletting shall be applied to the payment of: 

First, any indebtedness from Tenant to Landlord other than rent due from 

Tenant; 

Second, all costs, including maintenance, incurred by Landlord in 

reletting; 

Third, rent due and unpaid under this lease, after deducting the payments 

referred to in this paragraph. Any sum remaining from the rent Landlord 

received from reletting shall be held by Landlord and applied for payment of 

future rent as rent becomes due under this lease.  In no event shall Tenant be 

entitled to any excess rent received by Landlord.  If, on the date rent is due 

under this lease, the rent received from reletting is less than the rent due on 

the date, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, in addition to the remaining rent due, 

all costs including for maintenance Landlord incurred in reletting, that remain 

after applying the rent received from the reletting as provided in this 

paragraph. 

  C. Termination of Tenant's right to possession.  Landlord can terminate Tenant's 

right to possession of the premises at any time after default.  No act by Landlord other than 

giving notice to Tenant shall terminate this lease.  Acts of maintenance, efforts to relet the 

premises, or the appointment of a receiver on Landlord's initiative to protect Landlord's 

interest under this lease shall not constitute a termination of Tenant's right to possession.  On 

termination, Landlord has the right to recover from Tenant the unpaid rent that had been 

earned at the time of termination of this lease, and any other amount, including court costs, 

necessary to compensate Landlord for all detriments proximately caused by Tenant's default. 

8.  APPURTENANT RIGHTS AND RESTRICTIONS. 

  A. Tenant may use the premises for FBO operations as described in the Carson 

City Municipal Code 19.02.020.350(5), and must provide at least one of those services. 

Tenant is expressly prohibited from conducting any activity at the Airport other than that 

provided by this lease or as may be approved by Landlord.   Construction of a fuel facility on 

the premises is not permitted.  



Model FBO lease 
 6 

  Tenant may conduct such non-aviation business upon the premises as are 

otherwise permitted by law and do not otherwise interfere with the aviation uses permitted 

under this lease and other leases on this Airport.  Landlord's decision shall be final as to 

claims of conflict over interfering uses. No person may live in, or otherwise inhabit, any 

hangars constructed on the property leased.  

  All aircraft owned by the Tenant and stored on the leased area must be registered 

as personal property in Carson City, Nevada, unless such aircraft are transient and are not on 

the leased area for more than 21 consecutive days.  Tenant shall supply Landlord with 

evidence of the registration and taxation information for aircraft stored on the leased 

premises on the two-year anniversaries of this lease, or upon such shorter period as may be 

requested by the Airport Manager or required by the Hangar Use Ordinance, or other 

applicable law or policy. 

  B. Ingress and Egress.  Tenant shall have full and unimpaired access to the 

leased premises and a nonexclusive right to use the taxiways between the leased premises 

and the Airport’s runway.  Tenant shall be responsible for, and control the access to, the 

leased premises. Tenant is responsible for determining whether the designated taxilane 

access is sufficient for its needs.  Access between the leasehold and Airport shall comply 

with the Landlord's rules, regulations, and/or access plans, and any rules or security 

regulations which may have been established or shall be established in the future by the 

FAA, the Transportation Security Administration (TSA), or the State of Nevada.  To the 

extent that the Airport utilizes a key card or other gate control system, and charges Airport 

users for such system, Tenant shall be entitled to use the system upon the same terms, 

conditions, and charges as other Airport users. 

  C. Right of Entry.  Landlord, or its designated Airport Manager or agent, 

reserves the right to enter upon the premises at any reasonable time for the purpose of 

making any inspection deemed expedient or desirable for the proper enforcement of any 

terms, conditions, provisions, and covenants of this lease. 

  D. Air Space and Subsurface Rights.  This lease confers no rights to the 

subsurface of the land more than five (5) feet below the ground level of the premises or to 

airspace more than ten (10) feet above the top of the roof of the building or buildings that is a 

part of the premises.  Exported material must be approved by the Landlord as to placement 

or sale.  Tenant acknowledges that Landlord is the owner of the dirt material in place at the 



Model FBO lease 
 7 

time of lease. All exemptions or applications must have the prior approval of Landlord and 

comply with the Carson City Municipal Code Title 19, Airport Rules and Regulations. 

  E. Federal Requirements. 

1. The Tenant for himself, his heirs, personal representatives, successors 

in interest, and assigns, as a part of the consideration, does covenant and 

agree as a covenant running with the land that Tenant shall comply with all 

Federal Aviation Regulations (FARs) applicable to Tenant's operations on the 

premises.  The Tenant acknowledges that the Airport is the recipient of FAA 

Airport Improvement Program funds and other federal funds.  The Tenant 

shall take no action which violates or causes others to violate the assurances 

Landlord granted to the FAA in conjunction with such federal funding.  Such 

assurances include, but are not limited to compliance with: 

 a. Title 49, USC, subtitle VII, as amended. 
 b. Davis-Bacon Act - 40 U.S.C. 276(a), et seq. 
 c. Federal Fair Labor Standards Act - 29 U.S.C. 201, et seq. 
 d. Hatch Act - 5 U.S.C. 1501, et seq. (if applicable) 
 e. Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition 

Policies Act of 1970 Title 42 U.S.C. 4601, et seq 
 f. National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 - Section 106 - 16 

U.S.C. 470(f). 
 g. Archeological and Historic Preservation Act of 1974 - 16 U.S.C. 

469 through 469c. 
 h. Native Americans Grave Repatriation Act -25 U.S.C. Section 

3001, et seq.  
 i. Clean Air Act, P.L. 90-148, as amended.  
 j. Coastal Zone Management Act, P.L. 93-205, as amended.  
 k. Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973 - Section 102(a) - 42 

U.S.C. 4012a.1  
 l. Title 49 ,U.S.C., Section 303, (formerly known as Section 4(f))  
 m. Rehabilitation Act of 1973 - 29 U.S.C. 794.  
 n. Civil Rights Act of 1964 - Title VI - 42 U.S.C. 2000d through d-

4. 
 o. Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, (42 U.S.C. 

§ 12101 et seq.), prohibits discrimination on the basis of 
disability).  

 p. Age Discrimination Act of 1975 - 42 U.S.C. 6101, et seq.  
 q. American Indian Religious Freedom Act, P.L. 95-341, as 

amended 
 r. Architectural Barriers Act of 1968 -42 U.S.C. 4151, et seq.  
 s. Power plant and Industrial Fuel Use Act of 1978 -Section 403- 2 

U.S.C. 8373.  



Model FBO lease 
 8 

 t. Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act - 40 U.S.C. 327, 
et seq.  

 u. Copeland Anti kickback Act - 18 U.S.C. 874.1  
 v. National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 - 42 U.S.C. 4321, et 

seq. 
 w. Wild and Scenic Rivers Act, P.L. 90-542, as amended.  
 x. Single Audit Act of 1984 - 31 U.S.C. 7501, et seq. (if applicable) 
 y. Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 - 41 U.S.C. 702 through 706. 
 z. The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 

2006, as amended (Pub. L. 109-282, as amended by section 6202 
of Pub. L. 110-252).. 

 aa. Such Federal Regulations and Executive Orders as may be 
applicable to FAA AIP funding, and such other OMB Circulars as 
may apply and are listed at 
https://www.faa.gov/airports/aip/grant_assurances/  or such 
updated listing at the official website maintained by the FAA. 

2. The Tenant for himself, his personal representatives, successors in 

interest, and assigns, as a part of the consideration, covenants and agrees as a 

covenant running with the land that:  1) no person on the grounds of race, 

color, or national origin shall be excluded from participation in, denied the 

benefits of, or be otherwise subject to discrimination in the use of the 

facilities; 2) that in the construction of any improvements on, over, or under 

such land and the furnishing of services thereon, no person on the grounds of 

race, color, or national origin shall be excluded from participation in, denied 

the benefits of, or otherwise be subject to discrimination.  

3. Tenant shall use the premises in compliance with all other 

requirements imposed by or pursuant to Title 49, Code of Federal 

Regulations, DOT, Subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, 

Nondiscrimination in Federally Assisted Programs of the Department of 

Transportation-Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and 

as the Regulation may be amended. 

4. Tenant shall furnish its accommodations and/or services on a fair, 

equal, and not unjustly discriminatory basis to all users and it must charge 

fair, reasonable, and not unjustly discriminatory prices for each unit or 

service; PROVIDED that the Tenant may be allowed to make reasonable and 

https://www.faa.gov/airports/aip/grant_assurances/


Model FBO lease 
 9 

nondiscriminatory discounts, rebates, or other similar types of price 

reductions to volume purchasers. 

5. Noncompliance with Provision 4 above shall constitute a material 

breach of this lease and in the event of such noncompliance, the Landlord 

shall have the right to terminate this lease without liability, or at the election 

of the Landlord or the United States; either or both governments shall have 

the right to judicially enforce these provisions. 

6. Tenant agrees that it shall insert the above five provisions in any lease 

agreement by which the Tenant grants a right or privilege to any person or 

entity to render accommodations and/or services to the public on the leased 

premises. 

7. If the conduct of business is permitted on the premises, the Tenant 

assures that it will undertake an affirmative action program as required by 14 

CFR Part 152, Subpart E, to ensure that no person shall on the grounds of 

race, creed, color, national origin, or sex be excluded from participating in 

any employment activities covered in 14 CFR Part 152, Subpart E.  The 

Tenant assures that no person shall be excluded on these grounds from 

participating in or receiving the services or benefits of any program or 

activity covered by this subpart.  

8. The Landlord reserves the right to further develop or improve the 

landing area of the Airport as it sees fit, regardless of the desires or view of 

the Tenant and without interference or hindrance. 

9. The Landlord reserves the right, but shall not be obligated to the 

Tenant, to maintain and keep in repair the landing area of the Airport and all 

publicly owned facilities of the Airport, together with the right to direct and 

control all activities of the Tenant in this regard. 

10. This lease shall be subordinate to the provisions and requirements of 

any existing or future agreement between the Landlord and the United States, 

relative to the development, operation, or maintenance of the Airport. 



Model FBO lease 
 10 

11. The Landlord, its successors and assigns, for the use and benefit of 

the public, does reserve a right of flight for the passage of aircraft in the 

airspace above the surface of the lease premises.  This public right of flight  

shall include the right to cause in the airspace any noise inherent in the 

operation of any aircraft used for navigation or flight through the airspace or 

landing at, taking off from, or operation of the Airport. 

12. Tenant agrees to comply with the notification and review 

requirements covered in Part 77 of the Federal Aviation Regulations in the 

event future construction of a building is planned for the leased premises, or 

in the event of any planned modification or alteration of any present of future 

building or structure situated on the leased premises. 

13. The Tenant by accepting this expressly agrees for itself, its 

successors and assigns that it will not erect nor permit the erection of any 

structure or object, nor permit the growth of any tree on the leased premises 

to a height more than ten (10) feet above the highest part of Tenant's 

building.  In the event this covenant is breached, the Landlord reserves the 

right to enter upon the premises to remove the offending structure or object 

and cut the offending tree, all of which shall be at the expense of the Tenant. 

14. The Tenant, by accepting this lease, agrees for itself, its successors 

and assigns, that it will not make use of the leased premises in any manner 

which might interfere with the landing and taking off of aircraft from the 

Airport or otherwise constitutes a hazard.  In the event this covenant is 

breached, the Landlord reserves the right to enter upon the leased premises 

and to abate the interference at the expense of the Tenant. 

15. It is understood and agreed that nothing contained in this lease shall 

be construed to grant or authorize the granting of an exclusive right within 

the meaning of Section 308 of the Federal Aviation Act of 1958 (49 U.S.C. 

1349). 
  F. Tenant assures complete compliance with the Carson City Airport Rules and 

Regulations upon leased premises. 



Model FBO lease 
 11 

9.  ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLEASING.  Tenant shall have no right to assign or sublet 

its interest in this lease except upon Landlord's prior written consent.  Any such assignment or 

sublease will be binding to assignees/sublessees on all terms and conditions in this lease. 

The parties agree that a transfer of corporate interests in Tenant exceeding twenty-five 

percent (25%) shall be deemed an assignment of this lease.  The term “corporate interests” shall 

include corporate ownership, or the ownership of any partnership, trust, Limited Liability Company, 

and other entity for ownership by more than one person permitted by law. 

The Landlord reserves the right to assign, pledge, or hypothecate this lease upon notice to the 

Tenant. 

  10.  INSURANCE AND BONDING. 

  A. Coverage.  As a condition precedent to this lease, Tenant shall provide, at its 

own cost, commercial general insurance coverage in the amount of ONE MILLION 

DOLLARS ($1,000,000.00) per occurrence and TWO MILLION DOLLARS 

($2,000,000.00) aggregate, the category to be under-written by a responsible insurance 

carrier, authorized by the State of Nevada to provide such coverage.  The following coverage 

shall be included: 

1. Third-party comprehensive general liability coverage for bodily 

injury and property damage, including owned and non-owned aircraft, for 

any claim or liability for any injury or damage to any person or property 

occurring on the leased premises or arising out of or resulting from Tenant's 

operations or omissions at the Airport. 

2. Products liability coverage in addition to the foregoing 

comprehensive general liability insurance where the licensee operates a food 

service or offers goods or merchandise for sale. 

3. Fire and extended coverage and vandalism and malicious mischief 

insurance, for damage or destruction of real property or leasehold 

improvements, where the Landlord has, or will have, an interest in such 

property by virtue of an existing lease. 

  B.  Workers’ Compensation & Employer’s Liability Insurance.  In addition, to the 

extent required by law, Tenant shall provide workers’ compensation insurance as required by 

NRS Chapters 616A through 617 inclusive and Employer’s Liability insurance with a 



Model FBO lease 
 12 

minimum limit not less than $1,000,000 each accident for bodily injury by accident or 

$1,000,000 each employee for bodily injury by disease.  

  C. Insured Includes.  Both Airport Authority and Carson City, individually, must 

be named as additional insureds and the insurance carrier underwriting such coverage must 

give the Landlord thirty (30) days written notice prior to cancellation of, or material 

alteration to, the insurance policy. 

  Landlord requires that Tenant provide Landlord with a Certificate of Insurance 

evidencing the coverage in effect, including limits and expiration date.  Such policy or 

policies shall be maintained in full force and effect during the term of the lease, including 

and renewals or extensions of this lease. 

  D.  Review of Insurance coverage. Landlord reserves the right, every five years, 

to review and adjust the amount and kind of insurance coverage required. 

  E.  Insurance to remain in effect. Tenant agrees to keep all insurance policies in 

effect, as required by this lease, until the time Tenant surrenders the premises. 

11.  INDEMNIFICATION.  To the extent permitted by law, including, but not limited to, 

the provisions of NRS Chapter 41, Landlord and Tenant shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend, 

not excluding the other’s right to participate, the other party from and against all liability, claims, 

actions, damages, losses, and expenses, including but not limited to reasonable attorney’s fees and 

costs, arising out of any alleged negligent or willful acts or omissions of the indemnifying party, its 

officers, employees and agents arising in connection to this lease.  Such obligation shall not be 

construed to negate, abridge, or otherwise reduce any other right or obligation of the indemnity 

which would otherwise exist as to any party or person described in this Section. 

 Except as otherwise provided below in this Section, the indemnifying party shall not be 

obligated to provide a legal defense to the indemnified party, nor reimburse the indemnified party for 

the same, for any period occurring before the indemnified party provides written notice of the 

pending claim(s) or cause(s) of action to the indemnifying party, along with: (1) a written request for 

a legal defense for such pending claim(s) or cause(s) of action; and (2) a detailed explanation of the 

basis upon which the indemnified party believes that the claim or cause of action asserted against the 

indemnified party implicates the culpable conduct of the indemnifying party, its officers, employees, 

and/or agents. 

 After the indemnifying party has begun to provide a legal defense for the indemnified 

party, the indemnifying party shall not be obligated to fund or reimburse any fees or costs provided 



Model FBO lease 
 13 

by any additional counsel for the indemnified party, including counsel through which the 

indemnified party might voluntarily choose to participate in its defense of the same matter. 

 After the indemnifying party has begun to provide a legal defense for the indemnified 

party, the indemnifying party shall be obligated to reimburse the reasonable attorney’s fees and costs 

incurred by the indemnified party during the initial thirty (30) day period of the claim or cause of 

action, if any, incurred by separate counsel. 

 In addition, and as more fully described in Section 12 of this lease, the Tenant further 

agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend Landlord from environmental liability for 

contamination or damage to the leased premises and any adjacent area to the leased premises related 

or connected with the occupation or use of the leasehold property. 

12.   ENVIRONMENTAL.  The Tenant will conduct its business and operation on the 

leased premises in compliance with all applicable environmental laws and permits. No fuel storage 

(other than in aircraft fuel tanks of operational aircraft) is permitted on the leased premises. Flammable 

materials shall be stored in National Fire Code fireproof containers and not to exceed 5 gallons. The 

Tenant will forthwith notify the Landlord of the occurrence of any of the following and will provide 

the Landlord with copies of all relevant documentation in connection therewith: 

 (a) a release of a hazardous substance on or about the leased premises except in strict 

compliance with applicable environmental laws and permits; 

 (b) the receipt by the Tenant of an Environmental Notice; or 

 (c) the receipt by the Tenant of information which indicates that hazardous substances are 

being used, dissipated, stored, disposed of or introduced into the environmental by 

anyone in or about the leased premises in a manner other than that authorized under 

environmental laws. 

Tenant will not permit the storage, use, treatment, disposal, or introduction into the 

environment of hazardous substances in or about the leased premises, except in compliance with 

applicable environmental laws.  If the Landlord receives information that hazardous substances are 

being dissipated, used, stored, disposed of or introduced into the environment by anyone in or about 

the leased premises in a manner other than that authorized under environmental laws, the Tenant will 

conduct such investigations, searches, testing, drilling and sampling (“Investigations”) as are 

reasonably requested from time to time by the Landlord to determine the existence of hazardous 

substances in or about the leased premises or traceable to the leased premises.  If the Tenant does not 

complete the Investigations to the satisfaction of the Landlord, the Landlord may enter the leased 



Model FBO lease 
 14 

premises and take any actions necessary to complete the Investigations, the cost of which actions will 

be borne by the Tenant as additional rent.   If remedial work is required due to the presence of 

hazardous substances on or in the leased premises , the Tenant will take all necessary action, at the cost 

of the Tenant, to restore the leased premises to a level acceptable to the Landlord and to all 

governmental authorities having jurisdiction.   Upon the request of the Landlord, from time to time, the 

Tenant will provide to the Landlord satisfactory documentary evidence that all environmental permits 

are valid and in good standing. 

Environmental Indemnity.   The Tenant will indemnify and hold harmless Landlord, its 

officers, directors, employees, agents and shareholders, from and against any and all losses, claims, 

costs, expenses, damages and liabilities, including all costs of defending or denying the same, and all 

costs of investigation, monitoring, remedial response, removal, restoration or permit acquisition and 

including all solicitor’s fees (on a solicitor and own client basis) and disbursements in connection 

therewith which at any time may be paid or incurred by or claimed against the Landlord, its officers, 

directors, employees, agents and shareholders, arising, directly or indirectly, out of: 

 (a) a breach by the Tenant of any of the covenants contained in Section 12 of this lease; 

 (b) the presence of or release of any hazardous substance on or off-site of the leased 

premises; 

 (c) any action taken by the Landlord with respect to the existence of any hazardous 

substance on or off-site of the leased premises; or 

 (d) any action taken by the Landlord in compliance with any environmental notice with 

respect to the existence of any hazardous substance on or off-site of the leased 

premises; 

and such indemnity will survive the expiration or any termination of this lease notwithstanding 

anything in this lease to the contrary. 

13.  MAINTENANCE. Landlord is not required to provide any maintenance, repairs, 

removal, and construction of the gross area leased or of buildings or facilities accepted or erected by 

Tenant. 

Tenant shall provide and pay for all light, gas, electric, water, janitorial, sewer, trash and 

other utility charges used or incurred in or about the lease premises. 

Tenant shall maintain all leased areas, salvage and rehabilitation areas, displays, storage 

areas, landscaping, pavement, facilities, and structures in a state of repair and good appearance 

acceptable to the Landlord. Landlord shall have sole discretion in interpreting and enforcing all 



Model FBO lease 
 15 

Federal, State, and local rules, regulations, codes, and ordinances in determining what is, or is not, 

acceptable. No parking of vehicles, trailers or Tenant property shall be outside of the hangar, nor 

blocking any taxilane, except that vehicles will be parked immediately in front of hangar door if such 

can be done without obstructing any taxilane, taxiway or public use area, or in designated parking 

areas. 

Landlord may require Tenant to perform all necessary maintenance, repairs, removal, 

construction or cleaning/clearing of unsightly areas upon the leased premises.  In the event such 

maintenance, repairs, removal, construction, or cleaning/clearing of unsightly areas is not undertaken 

as required, Landlord may perform such maintenance, repairs, removal, construction, or 

cleaning/clearing of unsightly areas on behalf of Tenant, and at Tenant's expense, plus ten percent 

(10%) for administration. 

14.  TAX OBLIGATION.  Tenant shall pay all taxes and assessments against any 

buildings or other structures and improvements used by Tenant in its operations, and if imposed at 

any future date, any and all real property taxes assessed against the land leased from Landlord, 

including any possessory interest taxes.   

15.  REMOVAL OF BUILDINGS AND IMPROVEMENTS.  Tenant shall remove at his 

cost all buildings and improvements upon termination of this lease and restore the premises to its 

original condition.  Title in building and improvements shall at all times during the lease term remain 

in the Tenant.  The Landlord shall have the option on expiration of lease period, or upon termination 

of this lease, to take title of the buildings and improvements, at no cost or obligation to Landlord, in 

lieu of Tenant's obligation to restore the premises to its original condition. 

16.  REPORTING.  Anything that affects the safe and efficient operation of the Airport 

shall be immediately reported to Landlord or the designated Airport Manager. 

17.  AMENDMENTS.  Any amendments to this lease require approval by the Landlord 

and Tenant.  All proposed amendments must be submitted in writing to Landlord for review and 

placement before a regularly scheduled meeting of the Airport Authority for consideration. 

18.  GENERAL.  It is understood and agreed that each and all the terms of this lease are 

subject to the regulations and provisions of law applicable to the operation of the Airport as a 

Federal Aid Airport Project. If any provision of this lease is invalid, the other provisions of this lease 

which are valid shall remain in effect, and this lease will be re-negotiated to comply with the 

requirements of the applicable laws and regulations. In the event that negotiation attempts are 

unsuccessful, either party may petition the First Judicial District Court, which shall then be entitled 



Model FBO lease 
 16 

to establish such replacement provisions or issue such rulings as are just, for the purpose of 

satisfying the intent of this lease’s provisions. 

The Tenant agrees to observe and obey during the terms of this lease all laws, rules, and 

regulations promulgated and enforced by the State of Nevada, Carson City, and by any other proper 

authority having jurisdiction over the conduct of operations at the Airport. 

Landlord and the Carson City Sheriff's Office shall have complete dominion over the 

premises herein during the term of this lease for the purpose of, and to the extent necessary, to 

maintain law, order, and safety, and has the authority and the right to deny access to the Airport for 

any person who fails to obey all relevant laws, rules, and regulations. 

19.  NOTICES.  It is agreed that any notice to be given or served upon either party shall 

be sufficient if sent by email; certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the address of the party 

listed at the beginning of this lease; or to such other address as may be designated in writing by such 

party. 

20.  PUBLIC RECORDS.  Pursuant to NRS 239.010, information or documents received 

from Tenant may be open to public inspection and copying. Landlord will have the duty to disclose 

unless a particular record is made confidential by law or a common law balancing of interests. 

Tenant may clearly label specific parts of an individual document as a “trade secret” or 

“confidential” in accordance with NRS 332.061, provided that Tenant thereby agrees to indemnify 

and defend Landlord for honoring such a designation. The failure to so label any document that is 

released by Landlord shall constitute a complete waiver of any and all claims for damages caused by 

any release of the records. 

21.  PROPER AUTHORITY.  Landlord and Tenant represent and warrant that the person 

executing this lease on behalf of each party has full power and authority to enter into this lease. 

Tenant acknowledges that this lease is effective only for the period of time specified in this lease.  

22.  GOVERNING LAW / JURISDICTION.  This lease and the rights and obligations of 

the Landlord and Tenant shall be governed by, and construed according to, the laws of the State of 

Nevada, without giving effect to any principle of conflict-of-law that would require the application 

of the law of any other jurisdiction. Tenant consents and agrees to the jurisdiction of the courts of the 

State of Nevada located in Carson City, Nevada for any dispute arising in relation to this lease. 

23.  ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS.   No construction of new hangars or buildings is 

required by this lease.  If construction is to be done by Tenant, then unless otherwise provided, 

Tenant shall comply with the Development/Construction Standards set forth in Appendix A and 



Model FBO lease 
 17 

Exhibit B (note: timeframes to be determined based on construction plans proposed by Tenant).  

Unless otherwise provided, all construction materials, appearance, and building size shall be 

completed as represented in the submissions to Landlord. 

 24.  FORCE MAJEURE.  In the event Tenant is unable to operate his aircraft maintenance 

business on the Leasehold due to any Act of God, war, civil insurrection, riot, earthquake, fire, 

weather, sickness, accident, epidemic, act of government or government regulation, general or 

sympathetic strike or lockout, unavailability of labor or materials, or any other cause beyond the 

control of the Tenant to this lease, the Tenant may terminate the lease upon 2 year anniversaries of 

January 1, 2023 and must first give 60 days written notice to Landlord. 

 25. ENTIRE CONTRACT AND MODIFICATION.  This lease and its integrated 

attachment(s) constitute the entire agreement of Landlord and Tenant and such are intended as a 

complete and exclusive statement of the promises, representations, negotiations, discussions, and 

other contracts that may have been made in connection with the subject matter hereof. Unless an 

integrated attachment to this lease specifically displays a mutual intent to amend a particular part of 

this lease, general conflicts in language between any such attachment and this lease shall be 

construed consistent with the terms of this lease. Conflicts in language between this lease and any 

other agreement between Landlord and Tenant on this same matter shall be construed consistent with 

the terms of this lease.  The parties agree that each has had their respective counsel review this lease 

which shall be construed as if it was jointly drafted. 

 
TENANT        LANDLORD 
______________________    CARSON CITY AIRPORT AUTHORITY 
___________________    CARSON CITY, NEVADA 
 
 
____________________________   _________________________________ 
Name         Tim Puliz, CHAIRMAN 
 
         ATTEST:  

 
 
         __________________________________ 
         Jon Rogers, TREASURER 

 
STATE OF NEVADA         )                     
                                      : ss  
CARSON CITY       )        



Model FBO lease 
 18 

 
 On this ___ day of ________, 2024, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public, personally 
appeared –Name of tenant or authorized person to sign for tenant--, known to me (or proved to me) 
to be the person described herein, who executed the foregoing instrument, and he acknowledged to 
me, that he has the requisite authority and executed the same freely and voluntarily, and for the uses 
and purposes therein mentioned.             
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day 
and year hereinabove written.   
 
       ________________________________ 
       NOTARY PUBLIC            (SEAL) 

 



Model FBO lease 
 19 

 

CARSON CITY 

The Board of Supervisors of Carson City, Nevada, hereby approves and acknowledges the Lease, and 

the right and authority of the Authority to lease the Lease Parcel to Tenant. 

Approved by the Board of Supervisors this ____ day of __________, 2024. 

 

 

_________________________________ 
LORI BAGWELL, Mayor 
 

ATTEST:        CITY'S LEGAL COUNSEL 
Approved as to form. 

_________________________________  _________________________________ 
CLERK/RECORDER (or Deputy)   DEP. DISTRICT ATTORNEY 

 
         AIRPORT AUTHORITY COUNSEL 
         Approved as to form 
 
         __________________________________ 
         STEVEN E. TACKES, ESQ. 



Model FBO lease 
 20 

EXHIBIT A –legal description and plot map attached 

 

 
 
 



APPENDIX A 
CARSON CITY AIRPORT AUTHORITY 

 
DEVELOPMENT/CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

 
CODE REQUIREMENTS - ALL CONSTRUCTION SHALL MEET ALL CARSON CODES AND 
REQUIREMENTS INCLUDING THE CARSON CITY AIRPORT AUTHORITY (C.C.A.A.) 
 
OUTSIDE STORAGE AREA - T-HANGERS, SHOP-HANGERS/OFFICE BUILDINGS ETC. 
SHALL NOT HAVE OUTSIDE STORAGE OF ANY KIND.  
 
WATER - WATER SERVICE SHALL BE BROUGHT TO THE PROPERTY BY THE LEASE 
HOLDER.  
 
FIRE HYDRANTS - FIRE HYDRANTS MAY BE REQUIRED PURSUANT TO FIRE 
DEPARTMENT REGULATIONS AND ARE THE LEASEHOLDERS RESPONSIBILITY.  
 
POWER - ELECTRIC POWER SHALL BE REQUIRED TO EACH BUILDING.  
 
FLOORS - GROUND LEVEL CONCERETE FLOORS SHALL BE REQUIRED IN EACH 
BUILDING.  
 
COLORS - EXTERIOR BUILDING COLORS SHALL BE LIMITED TO BLUE AND TAN 
MATCHING EXISTING STRUCTURES.  
 
DOOR HEIGHT - T-HANGARS MUST HAVE A MINIMUM DOOR HEIGHT CLEAR SPAN OF 12 
FT. LARGER OR MULTIPLE AIRCRAFT HANGERS MUST HAVE A MINIMUM DOOR HEIGHT 
CLERA SPAN OF 19 FT. UNLESS APPROVED OTHERWISE BY THE AIRPORT AUTHORITY.  
 
NEW CONSTRUCTION - ALL BUILDINGS SHALL BE OF NEW CONSTRUCTION.  
 
LIGHTING - SECURITY LIGHTING SHALL BE AT THE DISCRETION OF THE AIRPORT 
AUTHORITY.  
 
PARKING - PARKING SPACES SHAL NOT BE REQUIRED FOR HANGARS LOCATED ON THE 
INTERIOR OF THE AIRPORT.  FOR HANGERS THAT ARE LOCATED WITH EXTERIOR 
ACCESS OR FRONTAGE, ENOUGH SPACES DEEMED PROPER FOR THE SIZE OF THAT 
BUILDING WILL BE REQUIRED AND WILL BE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE 
CITY CODES.  NO PARKING OR STORAGE WILL BE PERMITTED ON AIRPORT PROPERTIES.  
AUTOMOBILE PARKING WILL BE RESTRUCTED TO THE INDIVIDUAL’S LEASEHOLD BUT 
WILL NOT ALLOW FOR THE EXTERIOR STORAGE OF BOATS, CONTAINERS, RV’S, 
TRAILERS, WRECKED AIRCRAFT ETC.  
 
FENCING - IF APPROPRIATE, PROPERTIES, WITH EXTERIOR BOUNDARIES SHALL 
PROVIDE SECURITY FENCING.  SAID SECURITY FENCING SHALL BE REQUIRED WITH 
CONSTRUCTION OF THE STRUCTURE.  ALL FENCING SHALL BE 6 FT. HIGH, CHAIN LINK 
FENCE OR BETTER.  
 
TRASH - ALL PROPERTY, FENCE AND BUILDING LINES SHALL BE KEPT CLEAR OF 
WEEDS, TRASH, AND LITTER.  LANDSCAPING SHALL BE AT THE DISCRETION OF THE 
AIRPORT AUTHORITY.  



 EXHIBIT B 

 CONSTRUCTION EXHIBITS 

 

If required by any Federal, State, or local agency, the Tenant shall prepare and 

submit an environmental Phase I audit.  All structures erected, and paved areas on the 

Airport, shall comply with all applicable County and State building, health, and safety 

regulations, including, if applicable, any other building, fire, sign, electrical, heating, 

zoning, and plumbing codes.  Architectural design of all structures and paving shall be 

reviewed and approved by the Carson City Airport Authority. 

Tenant shall be required to furnish to the Carson City Airport Authority a copy of a 

contract between Tenant and a licensed contractor.  The contract shall be protected by a 

performance bond to guarantee that the improvements will be completed according to the 

existing codes and the improvements will be free from any liens. Tenant shall cause any 

contract with any contractor, designer or other person providing work, labor or materials 

to the Premises to include the following clause:  

“Contractor agrees on behalf of itself, its subcontractors, suppliers and consultants and 
their employees, that there is no legal right to file a lien upon City-owned property 
(Airport), and will not file a mechanic's lien or otherwise assert any claim against City's 
real estate on account of any work done, labor performed or materials furnished under 
this contract. Contractor agrees to indemnify, defend and hold the Airport Authority 
and City harmless from any liens filed upon City's property and shall promptly take all 
necessary legal action to ensure the removal of any such lien at Contractor's sole cost.”  
 

Tenant is obligated to secure all permits that are necessary and required to 

construct or develop any building, improvements, and additions upon lease parcel. 

1.  CONSTRUCTION ON PREMISES.  Tenant shall comply with all Federal, State, 

and local laws, ordinances, orders, judgments, decrees, regulations, directives, and 

requirements now, or which may be, applicable to the construction of improvements on the 

operations and uses of the premises. 

A.  Construction Phasing 

1. All plans completed and submitted to Landlord and 

governmental offices for approval within 1 year of the effective 

date of the lease. 



2.  All permits obtained for construction within 120 days next 

following. 

3. All construction completed within two years of the effective  

  date of the lease. 

B.  Failure to Use Property.  Failure by Tenant to satisfy the requirements as 

set forth above may result in default of this Agreement and Landlord may, at its 

discretion, disallow the use of any, or all, of the premises. 

C.  Certificate of Completion.  Upon completion of the improvements, Tenant 

shall submit to the Landlord a copy of its acceptance letter certifying completion 

and a certified copy of any certificate or permit which may be required by any 

Federal, State, County, or other local government or agency in connection with the 

completion or occupancy by Tenant.  Tenant shall furnish to Landlord a set of 

reproducible, final "as built" drawings of any and all improvements not later than 

ninety (90) days following the completion, occupancy, or initial use of such 

improvements, whichever comes first. 

2.  TITLE TO IMPROVEMENTS AND FIXTURES.  During the term of this lease, 

all improvements (other than trade fixtures) erected, installed, or constructed by Tenant on 

the premises shall become part of the land upon which they are erected, or part of the 

building to which they are affixed, and title to such improvements, facilities, or alterations 

shall remain with Tenant.  "Trade fixtures" shall remain the property of Tenant and that 

term shall include, but shall not be limited to, personal property, signs used to identify the 

Tenant's facilities in and about the premises, and all machinery and equipment installed in, 

placed on, or used in connection with Tenant's operation.   

 

 



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

CCAA BOARD MEMO Agenda Item: H-03 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
BOARD MEMO  2024-27  Meeting Date: November 20, 2024 
 
Agenda Title: FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Consider bids 
received in response to the solicitation for a Fixed Base Operator (FBO) to manage 
Airport-Owned Tie-Downs on the Northwest Ramp. 
 
Staff Summary: The Airport Manager notified all commercial service FBOs about 
the opportunity to enter into an agreement to manage the Airport-Owned Tie-
Downs on the Northwest Ramp. Multiple responses were received from interested 
parties; however, there is no clear best selection. The Airport Manager has brought 
this item to the Authority for consideration in selecting the most qualified 
respondent, or for the possibility of splitting the 25 tie-downs among the interested 
parties. 
 
Agenda Action: Formal Action/Motion  Time Requested: 15 Minutes 
 
 
Proposed Motion 
 
I move that we award the license agreement to __________ at the rate of $_____ 
under the terms proposed by the Authority and authorize the Chair to execute the 
agreement. 
 
CCAA’S Strategic Goal 
 
Support economic activity in the region. 
 
Previous Action and Executive Summary 
 
September 18, 2024 (Item H-1) – The CCAA approved the license agreement and 
the solicitation of an FBO to manage Airport-Owned Tie-Downs on the Northwest 
Ramp. 
 



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

The airport does not currently operate a Fixed Base Operator (FBO) and lacks the 
staffing capacity to manage the tie-down spaces on the northwest ramp. In 
addition, it is in the best interest of the community for the airport to avoid 
competing with the existing commercial FBOs on the field. Instead, the airport 
should focus on fostering opportunities for small businesses. 
 
Soliciting a commercial service FBO to manage the tie-downs on the northwest 
ramp presents an opportunity to increase revenue, enhance customer service, and 
contribute to the local economy. 
 
The rate specified in the license agreement was determined based on the current 
rate for tie-down rentals to commercial service FBOs on the northwest ramp. 
 
Financial Information 
 
Is there a fiscal impact? 
☐ No   ☒ Yes 
 
If yes, account name/number & amount: 3099 General Fund 
 
General Fund: Monthly increase of $11.37 per tie-down for a total of $284.25 per 
month or more depending on the CCAA selection. 
  
Is it currently budgeted? 
 
No 
This will likely increase Tie-Down revenues due to an increase in collections. 
 
 
Alternatives 
 
Do not make a single selection, but split up the tie-downs to rent to multiple parties 
Do not select and give alternative direction to Airport Staff. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

Board Action Taken: 
 
Motion: ____________________________ 1) _________________________     

2) _________________________      
 

Aye/Nay 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
___________________________ 
   (Vote Recorded By) 



 1 

 
TIE-DOWN LICENSE AGREEMENT 

 
This Tie-Down License Agreement ("Agreement") is made and entered into this ___ day of 

__________, 2024, by and between the Carson City Airport Authority, the governing authority 
over the Carson City Airport ("Licensor"), with an address of 2600 College Parkway #6, Carson 
City, Nevada 89706 (email: airportmanager@flycarsoncity.com ) and 
_____________________________ ("Licensee"), with an address of 
_______________________________ (email: ________________). 

 
WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, Licensor is entity authorized by NRS 844 to govern the Carson City Airport, 
along with the right to contract with any person to provide services as necessary or desirable to the 
Airport. (NRS 844, Sec 9). 

WHERAS,  Licensor is the entity entitled to collect fees for certain improved aircraft tie-
downs located on Parcel Number 005-01-193 at the Carson City Airport; and 

WHEREAS, Licensee desires to license twenty-five (25) of said improved tie-downs from 
Licensor for the purpose of securing aircraft, of its own or others. 

THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, the parties agree as 
follows: 

 
1. LICENSE OF TIE-DOWNS.   
Licensor hereby license to Licensee, and Licensee hereby licenses from Licensor, twenty-five 

(25) improved aircraft tie-downs located on Parcel Number 00501193 at Carson City Airport. 
 
2. TERM.   
The term of this Agreement shall commence on __________, 2024, and shall continue for a 

period of five (5) years, with a renewal of five (5) years, unless terminated earlier in accordance with 
the provisions of this Agreement. 

 
3. FEE.   
Licensee shall pay to Licensor an initial license fee of Eleven Dollars and Thirty-Seven 

Cents ($11.37) per tie-down, per month, for a total monthly license fee of Two Hundred Eighty-
Four Dollars and Twenty-Five Cents ($284.25) for the twenty-five (25) tie-downs. 

 
4. PAYMENT TERMS. 
Rent payments shall be due and payable on the first day of each month, commencing on 

__________, 2024. All payments shall be made payable to the Carson City Airport Authority and 
delivered to the address specified by Licensor.  The failure to pay the fee, or the violation of any law, 
regulation or ordinance, shall constitute a default by Licensee. Assignee shall have ten (10) days 
from the date of written notice from Licensor to cure the default, failing which the Agreement shall 
be terminated. 

 
5. CONSUMER PRICE INDEX ADJUSTMENT.   
The adjustment of the license described above shall occur first on January 1, 2026, then at 

two-year anniversary intervals from January 1, 2026, during the term of this Lease.  Such adjustment 
of license shall be based upon the percentage change reflected by the Consumer Price Index 
(hereinafter called the “Price Index”) for the preceding two-year period.  The Price index shall mean 

mailto:airportmanager@flycarsoncity.com


 2 

the average for “all items” shown on the “U.S. City Average for All Urban Consumers” as 
promulgated by Bureau of Legal Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor, as amended or replaced 
by the Bureau of Legal Statistics.  Licensor shall measure each two-year adjustment using the most 
recently available report, recognizing that it may be necessary to use a 2-year period with a final 
quarter ending prior to each January 1 adjustment date. In no event, however, shall any decrease in 
the Price Index result in a decrease of the license below the base rate set forth in Section 3 of this 
license agreement. For example, if the Price Index for December 2026 is 155.0, and for December 
2024 was 150.0, then the rent would be adjusted by the difference (155.0-150.0) divided by 150.0 
which equals a 3.3% increase. 

 
6. USE OF TIE-DOWNS.   
Licensee shall use the tie-downs exclusively for the purpose of securing aircraft, and may 

rent or license others to tie-down. Licensee shall not use the tie-downs for any unlawful purpose or 
in any manner that would violate any applicable laws, regulations, or ordinances.   Approval of this 
lease constitutes approval of FBO services for storage of aircraft.  (Class 1 FBO; no Class 2 fees) 

 
7. MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS. 
Licensee shall, at its own expense, maintain the existing tie-down mechanisms and pavement 

marking in good condition and repair, reasonable wear and tear excepted. The Licensor shall be 
responsible for any structural repairs or improvements to the tie-downs. 

 
8. SNOW, ICE AND WEED REMOVAL. 
The Licensee agrees to remove snow, Ice and weeds from the areas leased and herein 

described. The Licensor, may at the request of Licensee, assist Licensee in Snow, ice and weed I 
removal. In the event of Licensor assistance, Licensee agrees to hold Licensor harmless from all 
liability for damage caused by such assistance on leased property. 

 
9. INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE.   
Licensee agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Licensor from all claims, liabilities, or 

damages arising out of or related to Licensee's use of the tie-downs. Licensee shall, at its own 
expense, maintain liability insurance in an amount sufficient to cover any such claims or damages. 
Licensee shall name Licensor as an additional insured and shall provide evidence of the same to 
Licensor. 

 
10. TERMINATION. 
Either party may terminate this Agreement upon thirty (30) days' written notice to the other 

party. In the event of termination by Licensor, Licensee shall be entitled to a prorated refund of any 
prepaid rent. 

 
11. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.   
This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the 

subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements, understandings, and negotiations, whether 
written or oral. 

 
12. AMENDMENTS.   
Any amendments or modifications to this Agreement must be in writing and signed by both 

parties.  Licensee may not assign this Agreement without prior approval of Licensor. 
 



 3 

13. INDEMNIFICATION.   
To the extent permitted by law, including, but not limited to, the provisions of NRS Chapter 

41, Licensor and Licensee shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend, not excluding the other’s right 
to participate, the other party from and against all liability, claims, actions, damages, losses, and 
expenses, including but not limited to reasonable attorney’s fees and costs, arising out of any alleged 
negligent or willful acts or omissions of the indemnifying party, its officers, employees and agents 
arising in connection to this lease.  Such obligation shall not be construed to negate, abridge, or 
otherwise reduce any other right or obligation of the indemnity which would otherwise exist as to 
any party or person described in this Section. 

 
14. REPORTING.   
Anything that affects the safe and efficient operation of the Airport shall be immediately 

reported to the Airport Manager. 
 
15. GOVERNING LAW. 
This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the 

Federal Government, State of Nevada, City of Carson City, and Rules and Regulations of the Carson 
City Airport Authority. This Agreement shall be subordinate to the provisions and requirements of 
any existing or future agreement between the Licensor and the United States, relative to the 
development, operation, or maintenance of the Airport. 

 
16. PROPER AUTHORITY.   
Licensor and Licensee represent and warrant that the person executing this lease on behalf of 

each party has full power and authority to enter into this lease.  
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day 

and year first above written. 
 
LICENSEE       LICENSOR 
________________________         CARSON CITY AIRPORT AUTHORITY 
__________________________   
 
 
By____________________________  By_________________________________ 
Name         Tim Puliz, CHAIRMAN 
 
         ATTEST:  

 
         __________________________________ 
         Jon Rogers, TREASURER 

 
 
STATE OF NEVADA         )                     
                                      : ss  
COUNTY OF ______      )        
 



 4 

 On this ___ day of __________, 2024, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public, 
personally appeared ___(NAME OF LICENSEE)___, known to me (or proved to me) to be the 
person described herein, who executed the foregoing instrument, and he acknowledged to me, that he 
has the requisite authority and executed the same freely and voluntarily, and for the uses and 
purposes therein mentioned.             
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day 
and year hereinabove written.   
 
       ________________________________ 
       NOTARY PUBLIC            (SEAL) 



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

CCAA BOARD MEMO Agenda Item: H-4 

BOARD MEMO  2024-28 Meeting Date: November 20, 2024 

Agenda Title: FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Approve the FAA 
Airport Capital Improvement Plan (“ACIP”) 2025 - 2029 

Staff Summary: The FAA ACIP must be approved and presented to the Carson 
City BOS for approval and submitted to the FAA Airport District Office. We are 
submitting the ACIP earlier than usual based on feedback from the FAA. 

Agenda Action: Formal Action/Motion Time Requested: 15 Minutes 

Proposed Motion 

I move to approve the 2025 – 2029 ACIP for Carson City Airport 

CCAA’S Strategic Goal 

Maintain airport infrastructure in top condition. 

Previous Action and Executive Summary 

The CCAA approves the ACIP each year. 

Financial Information 

Is there a fiscal impact? 
☐ No   ☒ Yes

If yes, account name/number & amount: 

General Fund/ Federal Share:  



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

Is it currently budgeted? 

Yes, there are minor changes to how the projects have been scheduled and the 
values have changed as reflected in the ACIP. 

Alternatives 

Do not approve the proposed ACIP and provide alternative direction. 

Board Action Taken: 

Motion: ____________________________ 1) _________________________    
2) _________________________

Aye/Nay 
_______ 
_______ 
_______ 
_______ 
_______ 
_______ 
_______ 

___________________________ 
(Vote Recorded By) 



Airport Capital Improvement Plan

Carson City Airport (CXP)

FY2025 - 2030

Total

Federal Local Federal Local Federal Local

RSA Drainage and Improvements [Design] ST RW SF $150,000 $7,500 $157,500

Pavement Rehab - Main Apron (57,540 SY) [Design + Construction] RE AP IM $305,000 15,250$             $320,250

Master Plan Forecasting Update EN PL MA $150,000 $7,500 $157,500

Total $300,000 $15,000 $305,000 $15,250 $0 $0 $635,250

RSA Drainage and Improvements (Construction) ST RW SF $1,250,000 $62,500 $295,000 14,750$             $1,622,250

Reconstruct Taxiway B (2,765' x 50') [Design] RE TW IM $152,000 $7,600 $159,600

Extend Rwy 9/27 (75' x 800') & Twy A (50' x 800') [Focused Planning Study and 25% Design] EN PL MA $310,000 15,500$             $325,500

CXP Terminal Building Replacement [Construction] CA TE CO $2,500,000 $125,000 $2,625,000

Pavement Rehab - North Apron (39,920 SY) [Design] RE AP IM $21,500 $1,075 $22,575

Total $1,423,500 $71,175 $605,000 $30,250 $2,500,000 $125,000 $4,754,925

Extend Rwy 9/27 (75' x 800') & Twy A (50'x800') [Environmental Assessment] EN PL MA $225,000 11,250$             $236,250

Reconstruct Taxiway B (2,765' x 50') [Construct] RE TW IM $1,750,000 $87,500 $1,837,500

Pavement Rehab - North Apron (39,920 SY) [Construct] RE AP IM $210,000 $10,500 $220,500

Total $1,960,000 $98,000 $225,000 $11,250 $0 $0 $10,181,850

Extend Rwy 9/27 (75' x 800') & Twy A (50'x800') [Final Design] EN PL MA $75,000 $3,750 $340,000 17,000$             $435,750

Pavement Rehab - TW A (7,320' x 50') & TW D (6,830' x 50') + Lights [Design] RE TW IM $75,000 $3,750 $78,750

Total $150,000 $7,500 $340,000 $17,000 $0 $0 $78,750

Extend Rwy 9/27 (75' x 800') [Construction] EN PL MA $3,105,000 $155,250 $3,260,250

Extend Rwy 9/27 Lighting (800') [Construction] EN PL MA $343,000 $17,150 $360,150

Extend Twy A (50' x 800') [Construction] EN PL MA $2,025,000 $101,250 $2,126,250

Extend Twy A Lighting (800') [Construction] EN PL MA $230,000 $11,500 $241,500

Pavement Rehab - Runway 9/27 (6,101' x 75') [Design] RE RW IM $45,000 $2,250 $47,250

Pavement Rehab - TW A (7,320' x 50') & TW D (6,830' x 50') + Lights [Construct] RE TW IM $632,812 $31,641 $664,453

Total $677,812 $33,891 $0 $0 $0 $0 $711,703

Pavement Rehab - TWC & SW Storm Drain (3,800 LF) [Design + Construct] ST OT IM $950,000 $47,500 $997,500

Pavement Rehab - Runway 9/27 (6,101' x 75') [Design] RE RW IM $405,000 $20,250 $425,250

Total $1,355,000 $67,750 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,422,750

FAA FY 2029

FAA FY 2030

FAA FY 2025

BIL ATP Grant

FAA FY 2026

FAA FY 2027

FAA FY 2028

AIP Grant BIL Grant
Project Description Work Code

Page 1 of 1



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

CCAA BOARD MEMO Agenda Item: H-5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
BOARD MEMO  2023-29   Meeting Date: November 20, 2024 
 
Agenda Title: FOR DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Approval of the 
Annual Audit Report of the Carson City Airport Authority for FY 2023/24. (J. 
Rogers) 
 
Staff Summary: Casey Neilon completed the annual audit required by NRS 345. 
The review and approval of the audit by the Authority is required under the statute. 
 
Agenda Action: Formal Action/Motion  Time Requested: 15 Minutes 
 
 
Proposed Motion 
 
I move to approve the FY 2023/2024 annual audit report of the Carson City 
Airport Authority conducted by Casey Neilon. 
 
CCAA’S Strategic Goal 
 
Maintain Financial Stability 
 
Previous Action and Executive Summary 
 
The Carson City Airport Authority approved the FY 2022 - 2023 annual report 
December 2023 and has done so annually as directed by NRS 354. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



____________________________________________________________________________
Board Memo 

Financial Information 
 
Is there a fiscal impact? 
☒ No   ☐ Yes 
 
If yes, account name/number & amount: 
 
General Fund/ Federal Share: 
 
Is it currently budgeted? 
 
Board Action Taken: 
 
Motion: ____________________________ 1) _________________________     

2) _________________________      
 

Aye/Nay 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
           _______ 
___________________________ 
   (Vote Recorded By) 
 
 
 



 

 

Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

Airport Authority of Carson City  
(A Component Unit of Carson City)

Draf
t



 

 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Table of Contents 
June 30, 2024 

 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….1 

 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis……………………………………………………………………………………………………………….4 
 
Basic Financial Statements 
 
   Statement of Net Position and Governmental Fund Balance Sheet ………………………………………………..………………..8 
   Statement of Activities and Governmental Fund Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance….………..9 
   Notes to Financial Statements…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………10 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
   Statement of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance – Budget and Actual ………………………………26 
   Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability Based on Measurement Date ……………………………………………………28 
   Schedule of Contributions………………………………………………………………………….……………………………………………………29 
 
Compliance Section 
 
   Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on  Compliance and Other 
   Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government 
   Auditing Standards……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….…30 
 
   Auditor’s Comments………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..32 
 
   Schedule of Findings and Responses………………..………………………………………………………………………………………………33 
 
   Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings…………………………………………………………………………………………………….38Draf

t



 

  1 

Casey Neilon, Inc. 
Accountants and Advisors 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
 

To the Board of Trustees 
Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  
Carson City, Nevada 
 
Report on the Audit of Financial Statements 
 
Opinions  

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities and the general 
fund of the Airport Authority of Carson City (the Authority), a Component Unit of Carson City, as of and 
for the year ended June 30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which comprise the 
Authority's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  

In our opinion,  the  financial  statements  referred  to above present  fairly,  in all material  respects,  the 
financial position of  the  governmental  activities  and  the major  fund of  the Authority,  as of  June 30, 
2024,  and  the  changes  in  financial position    for  the  year  then  ended  in  accordance with  accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of  America  and  the  standards  applicable  to  financial  audits  contained  in  Government  Auditing 
Standards,  issued  by  the  Comptroller General  of  the United  States. Our  responsibilities  under  those 
standards  are  further  described  in  the  Auditor’s  Responsibilities  for  the  Audit  of  the  Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the  Authority, and to meet our 
other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions.  
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management  is  responsible  for  the  preparation  and  fair  presentation  of  the  financial  statements  in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted  in the United States of America, and for the 
design,  implementation,  and  maintenance  of  internal  control  relevant  to  the  preparation  and  fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or  events,  considered  in  the  aggregate,  that  raise  substantial  doubt  about  the  Authority’s  ability  to 
continue  as  a  going  concern  for  twelve months  beyond  the  financial  statement  date,  including  any 
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

 

Draf
t



 

  2 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are  free  from material misstatement, whether due  to  fraud or error, and  to  issue an auditor’s  report 
that  includes  our  opinions.  Reasonable  assurance  is  a  high  level  of  assurance  but  is  not  absolute 
assurance  and  therefore  is  not  a  guarantee  that  an  audit  conducted  in  accordance  with  generally 
accepted  auditing  standards  and  Government  Auditing  Standards  will  always  detect  a  material 
misstatement when  it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud  is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is 
a substantial  likelihood that,  individually or  in the aggregate, they would  influence the judgment made 
by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In  performing  an  audit  in  accordance  with  generally  accepted  auditing  standards  and  Government 
Auditing Standards we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to  fraud  or  error,  and  design  and  perform  audit  procedures  responsive  to  those  risks.  Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 

 Obtain  an  understanding  of  internal  control  relevant  to  the  audit  in  order  to  design  audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that  raise substantial doubt about  the Authority’s ability  to continue as a going concern  for a 
reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control‐related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 
 
Required Supplementary Information  
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's 
discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison  information and pension  information on pages 4‐7, 26‐
27,  and  28‐29,  respectively,  be  presented  to  supplement  the  basic  financial  statements.  Such 
information  is  the  responsibility  of  management  and,  although  not  a  part  of  the  basic  financial 
statements,  is  required by  the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who  considers  it  to be an 
essential  part  of  financial  reporting  for  placing  the  basic  financial  statements  in  an  appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 

Draf
t



 

  3 

supplementary  information  in  accordance with  auditing  standards  generally  accepted  in  the  United 
States of America, which  consisted of  inquiries of management  about  the methods of preparing  the 
information  and  comparing  the  information  for  consistency  with  management's  responses  to  our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial  statements. We  do  not  express  an  opinion  or  provide  any  assurance  on  the  information 
because  the  limited  procedures  do not provide us with  sufficient  evidence  to  express  an opinion or 
provide any assurance.  
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards  
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated Date Pending, 
on our consideration of the Authority's  internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of  its 
compliance with  certain  provisions  of  laws,  regulations,  contracts,  and  grant  agreements  and  other 
matters.  The  purpose  of  that  report  is  to  describe  the  scope  of  our  testing  of  internal  control  over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is 
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 
the Authority's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.  
 

 
Carson City, Nevada  
November 15, 2024 

Draf
t



 

4 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

For the year ended June 30, 2024 

 
The Airport Authority of Carson City's (the Authority), a Component Unit of Carson City, management discussion 
and  analysis  is  designed  to,  (a)  assist  the  reader  in  focusing  on  significant  financial  issues,  (b)  provide  an 
overview  of  the  Authority's  financial  activities,  (c)  identify  changes  in  the  Authority's  financial  position  in 
connection  with  current  and  subsequent  years  challenges,  (d)  identify  any  material  deviations  from  the 
approved budget, and (e) identify issues and concerns.  
 
We  encourage  readers  to  read  this  information  in  conjunction with  the  financial  statements  and  notes  to 
financial statements to obtain a comprehensive view of the information presented.  
 
INTRODUCTION  
 
The Authority  is an  independent political subdivision of the State of Nevada created pursuant to Chapter 844, 
Statutes of Nevada, 1989. It is charged with the administration and operation of the municipal airport in Carson 
City, Nevada.  The  airport's  funding  for  capital  improvements  is  a  cooperative  effort  of  the  Federal Aviation 
Administration  (FAA) and  the Authority. Approximately 95% of  the  funding  for capital  improvements  is  in  the 
form  of  grants  from  the  FAA  and  the  balance  is matching  funds  provided  by  the  Authority  from  revenues 
generated by operations. Accordingly, no separate ad valorem taxes or bonding for construction  is required of 
the citizens of Carson City. Revenue generated from airport operations are sufficient for the annual cost of these 
operations as well as the implementation of the master plan completed in December of 2020.  
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS  
 
Revenue from operational activities of $1,178,674 increased 14% from the previous year and exceeded budget 
by 28%. Operational revenue comes from three primary sources: (a) property leases (24%); (b) a portion of real 
and personal property taxes collected by Carson City for buildings on leased airport property and aircraft based 
at the airport (29%) and (c) other operational activities such as tie down fees, rock sales, fuel flowage fees, and 
interest on cash in the bank (47%).    
 
Operational expenditures of $560,468 were 13% under  the budgeted  figure of $643,850 and $94,716 higher 
than the previous year primarily due to higher expenses for employee salaries, taxes, and benefits. 
 
The Authority requested and was approved to receive a total of $220,248 in federal grant money from the FAA, 
grant  number  AIP  3‐32‐0004‐37‐2021,  for  snow  removal  equipment.  As  of  June  30,  2024,  the  Authority 
expended $23,664, with no match requirement. 
 
The Authority requested and was approved to receive a total of $421,875 in federal grant money from the FAA, 
grant number AIP 3‐32‐0004‐42‐2022, to design an instrument approach aid.  As of June 30, 2024, the Authority 
expended $446,402, with a 6.25% match requirement. 
 
The Authority requested and was approved to receive a total of $432,738 in federal grant money from the FAA, 
grant number AIP 3‐32‐0004‐43‐2023, to install an instrument approach aid.  As of June 30, 2024, the Authority 
expended $70,599, with a 6.25% match requirement. 
 
 
 

Draf
t



 

5 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

For the year ended June 30, 2024 

 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED) 
 
The Authority  requested and was approved  to  receive a  total of $1,619,581  in  federal grant money  from  the 
FAA,  grant  number AIP  3‐32‐0004‐44‐2023,  to  construct,  rehabilitate, modify  and  expand  the  snow  removal 
equipment building.  As of June 30, 2024, the Authority expended $82,775, with a 6.25% match requirement. 
 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
The first two statements (pages 8 and 9) are combined fund and government‐wide (Statement of Net Position) 
financial  statements  that  provide  both  long‐term  and  short‐term  information  about  the  Authority's  overall 
financial status. The primary differences between the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and the Statement of 
Net Position relate to the capitalization and depreciation of capital assets,  the  inclusion of the  lease payment 
exchange for infrastructure as a liability and the addition of the PERS liability and related deferred outflow and 
inflow activity in the government‐wide statements.  
 
The Statement of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual (pages 26 and 27) 
shows  income  and  expenditures  in  the  same  format  as  our  budget  is  generally  presented.  There were  no 
significant variances between budgeted and actual  figures except  for variations  in grant  revenue and  related 
capital expenses and an increase in interest earnings that reflect the Net Present Value of new airport leases. 
 
YEAR‐END POSITION  
 
The Authority expects  to maintain a minimum  fund balance  in  future years with  the possibility  that  the  fund 
balance will actually become negative as the Authority continues to utilize prepaid leases to fund the match on 
FAA projects but believes the cash flow necessary to fund on‐going operations is available.  
 
  Draf

t



 

6 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

For the year ended June 30, 2024 

 
A summary of the condensed government‐wide financial information is presented below:  
 

2024 2023

Current assets 2,636,911$    2,357,147$    

Long term assets 7,174,309      7,242,012       

Capital assets 2,546,410      2,303,672       

Prepaid airport improvements 127,533         133,773          

Total assets 12,485,163    12,036,604    

Deferred outflows of resources 196,462         208,450          

12,681,625    12,245,054    

Total liabilities 421,384         416,318          

Deferred outflows of resources 7,129,777      7,407,641       

7,551,161      7,823,959       

Net position

Net investment in capital assets 2,546,410      2,290,429       

Unrestricted 2,584,054      2,130,666       
5,130,464$    4,421,095$    

Condensed Statements of Net Position

2024 2023

Charges for services 335,111$       273,549$        

Material sales 62,339           82,104            

Federal  and state grants 232,798         396,883          

General revenue 779,822         675,621          

Total revenues 1,410,070      1,428,157       

Airport Authority operations 700,701         587,702          

Airport construction, planning

 projects and capital outlay ‐                  5,970               

700,701         593,672          

Change in net position 709,369         834,485          

Net position, beginning of year 4,421,095      3,326,245       

Prior period adjustment ‐                  260,365          

Net position, beginning of year ‐ as restated 4,421,095      3,586,610       

Net position, end of year 5,130,464$    4,421,095$    

Condensed Statements of Activities

Draf
t



 

  7 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

For the year ended June 30, 2024 

 
DEBT ACTIVITY  
 
The Authority currently has no bond indebtedness.  
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS  
 
Primarily all  airport  revenue, other  than grants,  is based on personal property  taxes and  long‐term property 
leases (50 years or more). These revenue sources are stable. As additional areas of the airport are developed, 
the additional leases and buildings should provide increases in revenue beyond increases in the CPI.  
 
The Airport Authority will continue to  implement the 2020 Master Plan over the next several months with the 
following Airport Capital  Improvement Program  (ACIP) projects: Construct Snow Removal Equipment Building, 
Acquire  Snow  Removal  Equipment,  and  Install  Approach  Lighting,  offset  PAPI  (Construction).  Based  upon 
economic  recovery,  the  Airport  Authority  will  also  be  looking  to  implement  the  33‐acre  Center  Triangle 
Development and  the 12‐acre Bravo parcel  in  the Master Plan, which will provide  the Airport with mixed‐use 
aircraft hangars. 
 
The  improvements  to  the  Airport  and  its  facilities  should  increase  interest  in  the  Airport  as  a  home  for  an 
increased  number  of  aircraft  thus  increasing  the  revenue  stream  from  real  and  personal  property  taxes, 
property leases, and fuel flowage fees. 
 
RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
FAA funds authorized to be used for airport development are determined annually and the amount authorized 
will  impact  the  timing of  the  implementation of  the master plan. The Airport Authority  is  seeking additional 
economic development activities to maximize the Airport Authority’s self‐sufficiency.  
 
CAPITAL ASSETS  
 
As of  June 30, 2024,  the Authority’s capital assets amounted  to $2,546,410, net of accumulated depreciation 
and amortization, an  increase of $242,738  from  the prior  year, attributable mostly  to  the  completion of  the 
installation of instrument approach aids and the construction, rehabilitation, modification and expansion of the 
snow removal equipment building. 
 
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
 
This financial report  is designed to provide a general overview of the Authority’s finances for all those with an 
interest  in  the  Authority’s  finances  and  to  demonstrate  the  Authority’s  accountability  for  the  revenues  it 
receives. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial 
information should be addressed to the Airport Authority of Carson City, 2600 E. College Pkwy, Carson City, NV 
89706.

Draf
t



 

See Notes to Financial Statements  8 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Statement of Net Position and Governmental Fund Balance Sheet 
June 30, 2024 

 
General Statement
Fund Adjustments of Net Position

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,226,490$        ‐$                    2,226,490$       
Accounts receivable, net of allowance 44,068                ‐                       44,068               
Leases receivable 7,174,309 ‐                       7,174,309
Accrued interest receivable 9,031 ‐                       9,031
Due from other government 357,452              ‐                       357,452             
Capital assets, net of

accumulated depreciation ‐                           2,546,410           2,546,410          
Prepaid airport improvements 1,000                  126,533              127,533             

Total assets 9,812,350           2,672,943           12,485,293       

Deferred Outflows of Resources 
Pension requirement ‐                       196,462              196,462             

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 9,812,350$        2,869,405           12,681,755       

Liabilities

Accounts payable 75,940$              ‐                       75,940               

Accrued expenses ‐                       8,619                  8,619                 
Net pension liability ‐                       336,955              336,955             

Total liabilities 75,940                345,574              421,514             

Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Lease transactions 6,932,176 126,533              7,058,709
Pension requirement ‐                       71,068                71,068               

6,932,176           197,601              7,129,777          

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 7,008,116           543,175              7,551,291          

Fund Balance/Net Position
Fund balance

Committed
Gate fees 8,866                  (8,866)                 ‐                      

Assigned
Designated for subsequent

year's expenditures 442,835              (442,835)             ‐                      
Unassigned 2,352,533           (2,352,533)         ‐                      

Total fund balance 2,804,234           (2,804,234)         ‐                      

Total liabilities and fund balance 9,812,350$       

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets 2,546,410           2,546,410          
Unrestricted 2,584,054           2,584,054          

Total net position 5,130,464$        5,130,464$       

Draf
t



 

See Notes to Financial Statements  9 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Statement of Activities and Governmental Fund Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 
Year Ended June 30, 2024 

 
General Statement of
Fund Adjustments Activities

Expenditures/Expenses
Airport Authority operations 566,708$           133,993$           700,701$          
Airport construction, planning

projects and capital outlay 359,782             (359,782)            ‐                     

Total expenditures/expenses 926,490             (225,789)            700,701            

Program Revenue
Charges for services 335,111             ‐                      335,111            
Material sales 62,339 ‐                      62,339              
Federal grants 232,798             ‐                      232,798            

Total program revenue 630,248             ‐                      630,248            

Net Program Revenue  (296,242)            225,789             (70,453)             

General Revenue
Interest income 440,183             ‐                      440,183            
Property taxes 341,041             (1,402)                339,639            

Total general revenue 781,224             (1,402)                779,822            

Debt Service
Principal (13,243)              13,243               ‐                     
Interest (528)                   528                     ‐                     

Total debt service (13,771)              13,771               ‐                     

Excess of Revenue over Expenditures 471,211             (471,211)            ‐                     

Change in Net Position ‐                      709,369             709,369            

Fund Balance/Net Position

Beginning of year 2,333,023          2,088,072          4,421,095         

End of year 2,804,234$       2,326,230$       5,130,464$      

Draf
t



 

  10 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

 

Note 1 ‐ Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The Airport Authority of Carson City’s (the Authority), a Component Unit of Carson City, financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP), as 
applied  to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board  (GASB)  is  the standard‐setting 
body for governmental accounting and financial reporting. The GASB periodically updates its codification of the 
existing Governmental and Financial Reporting Standards which, along with subsequent GASB pronouncements 
(Statements and Interpretations), constitutes GAAP for governmental units. 
 
Reporting Entity 
 
The  financial  statements present  the  financial position and  results of operations of  the Authority, under  the 
direct jurisdiction of the Authority of Trustees of the Authority. The Authority, as organized under Senate Bill No. 
255 of the 1989 Legislative Session, Special Act Nevada Revised Statutes Chapter 844, provides for management 
and maintenance of the Carson City airport. 
 
The Authority is considered to be part of the city of Carson City, Nevada’s (City) reporting entity because it has 
oversight responsibility and, therefore, these statements are described as component unit financial statements. 
The  criteria  used  in  determining  oversight  responsibility  for  financial  reporting  purposes  is  set  forth  by 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Codification, Section 2100, Defining the Reporting Entity. Indications 
of oversight responsibility include: (1) appoints, or serves as, a majority of the organization’s governing body and 
is able to impose its will or there is a potential to provide financial benefits or impose financial burdens, or (2) 
financial  dependency.  The  Authority  has  no  component  units  to  include  in  these  financial  statements.  The 
Airport Manager maintains all accounting records. 
 
Basic Financial Statements – Government‐Wide Statements 
 
The basic financial statements include both government‐wide and fund financial information. The government‐
wide financial statements are reflected on a full accrual, economic resource basis which recognizes all long‐term 
assets and receivables as well as long‐term debt and obligations. 
 
Basic Financial Statements ‐ Fund Accounting 
 
The financial transactions of the Authority are reported in the general fund. The operations of the general fund 
are accounted  for with a  separate  set of  self‐balancing accounts  that  comprise  its assets,  liabilities, deferred 
inflow of  resources,  fund equity,  revenue, and expenditures. The Authority’s  general  fund  is a governmental 
fund  type. Governmental  funds  are  accounted  for on  a  current  financial  resources measurement  focus.  This 
means that only current assets and current liabilities are generally included on the balance sheets. The recorded 
fund  balance  is  considered  a  measure  of  “available  spendable  resources.”  Operating  statements  for 
governmental funds present  increases (revenue and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and 
other financing uses) in net fund balance. Accordingly, they are said to present a summary of sources and uses 
of “available spendable resources” during a period. 

Draf
t



 

  11 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

 

Note 1 ‐ Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The Authority  is defined as a  single‐program  special‐purpose entity under GASB Codification 2600, Reporting 
Entity and Component Unit Presentation and Disclosure. This classification allows for the preparation of financial 
statements under  an optional  reporting method which  combines  the  fund  and  government‐wide  statements 
into a single presentation. Under standard methodology,  the government‐wide statement of net position and 
statement of activities are presented  independently  from the respective fund balance sheet and statement of 
revenues, expenditures, and  fund balance. A  reconciliation of adjustments provided on  the modified  financial 
statements  demonstrates  the  changes  from  the  fund  financial  statements  to  the  government‐wide  financial 
statements in order to assist the reader in evaluating these statements. The Authority has utilized this optional 
method of presentation. 
 
The government‐wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and 
the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability 
is incurred, regardless of the timing of cash flows. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as 
all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 
 
The Authority maintains its accounting records for its governmental fund types on the modified accrual basis of 
accounting. This method provides for recognizing expenditures at the time liabilities are incurred, while revenue 
is recorded when measurable and available to finance expenditures of the fiscal period. Available is defined as 
being due and collected within the current period or within 60 days after fiscal year end. When revenue is due, 
but  will  not  be  collected  within  60  days,  the  receivable  is  recorded,  and  deferred  inflow  of  resources  – 
unavailable revenue is established. 
 
Budgets and Budgetary Accounting 
 
The Authority adheres to the Local Government Budget Act incorporated within Statutes of the State of Nevada. 
Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Appropriations 
lapse at year end. Budget amounts within  the general  fund may be  transferred  if amounts do not exceed  the 
original budget. Such budget augmentations in excess of original budgetary amounts may not be made without 
prior approval of  the Trustees.  In accordance with  the  Statutes, actual expenditures may not exceed budget 
appropriations  of  the  Airport  function  of  the  general  fund.  An  encumbrance  system  is  not  utilized  by  the 
Authority. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
The Authority’s  cash and  cash equivalents  include  cash on deposit at one  commercial bank and  in  the  State 
Treasurer’s Local Government Investment Pool. The Authority does not currently have a deposit policy related 
to custodial credit risk.  Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure the Authority’s deposits 
may not be returned.  The Authority’s bank deposits are covered by FDIC insurance. 
 
 
 

Draf
t



 

  12 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

 

Note 1 ‐ Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents (Continued) 
 
Pooled investment funds consist of cash deposited in the interest‐bearing State of Nevada’s Local Government 
Investment Pool. Investments are recorded at fair value, which is the same as the value of the pool shares. The 
State  of  Nevada  Local  Government  Investment  Pool  is  an  unrated  external  investment  pool  that  does  not 
provide information on realized or unrealized gain or loss activity. Accordingly, changes in the investment pool 
are reflected as interest income in the accompanying financial statements.  
 
Accounts Receivable 
 
Accounts receivable primarily consists of long‐term property lease transactions. An allowance for bad debt has 
been set up, so that accounts receivable are carried at an amount management expects to collect.   Bad debts 
are provided  for using  the allowance   method. Management's  review of outstanding balances as of  June 30, 
2024  indicated  that  an  allowance  of  $1,331  was  required. Management  conducts  an  annual  evaluation  of 
uncollected accounts and the allowance estimate. 
 
Inventory of Consumable Supplies 
 
Management of the Authority has elected to consider expenditures for supplies held for consumption as charges 
against  appropriations  at  the  time  of  purchase.  Any  inventories  of  such  supplies  at  June  30,  2024,  are  not 
material and accordingly, are not recognized in the financial statements. 
 
Prepaid Airport Improvements 
 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid 
items in government‐wide financial statements. 
 
Capital Assets 
 
All capital assets are valued at historical cost. Capital assets of the Authority included the improvements to the 
runway area such as  lights,  fencing, equipment, and property acquired  for clear zones. The assets transferred 
from the City to the Authority, at their original cost to the City, were capitalized at that amount. Capital outlay 
incurred for land and improvements to airport property purchased with pass‐through grantor funds with Carson 
City, Nevada as the sponsor agency have not been capitalized; however, they are reflected in the City’s financial 
statements.  
 
For  purposes  of  the  government‐wide  financial  statements,  depreciation  of  capital  assets  is  recorded  as  an 
expense  in  the  Statement  of  Activities,  with  accumulated  depreciation  reflected  in  the  Statement  of  Net 
Position. Depreciation  is provided over  the assets’ useful  lives using  the straight‐line method of depreciation. 
The Authority’s capital assets consist of vehicles, machinery and equipment which have useful  lives of 5 to 10 
years.  
 

 

Draf
t



 

  13 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

 
Note 1 ‐ Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Capital Assets (Continued) 
 
The  Authority  reviews  the  carrying  value  of  property  and  equipment  for  impairment whenever  events  and 
circumstances  indicate  that  the carrying value of an asset may not be  recoverable  from  the estimated  future 
cash  flows  expected  to  result  from  its  use  and  eventual  disposition.  In  cases where  undiscounted  expected 
future cash flows are less than the carrying value, an impairment loss is recognized equal to an amount by which 
the carrying value exceeds  the  fair value of assets. The  factors considered by management  in performing  this 
assessment  include current operating results, trends and prospects, the manner  in which the property  is used, 
and the effects of obsolescence, demand, competition, and other economic factors. Based on this assessment 
there was no impairment at June 30, 2024. 
 
In  the  fund  financial  statements,  capital  assets  used  in  operations  are  accounted  for  as  capital  outlay 
expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition. 
 
Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources  
 
In addition to assets, a separate section  is reported for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial 
statement element, deferred outflows of  resources,  represents a consumption of net assets  that applies  to a 
future  period  and will  not  be  recognized  as  an  outflow  of  resources  (expense/expenditure)  until  then.  The 
changes  in  proportion  and  differences  between  employer  contributions  and  the  proportionate  share  of 
contributions as well as contributions made after the measurement period for pensions qualify for reporting in 
this category.  
 
In addition to liabilities, a separate section is reported for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial 
statement  element,  deferred  inflows  of  resources,  represents  an  acquisition  of  net  assets  that  applies  to  a 
future  period  and  will  not  be  recognized  as  an  inflow  of  resources  (revenue)  until  that  time.  Differences 
between expected and actual experience and between projected and actual  investment earnings on pension 
plan investments, and leases qualify for reporting in this category. 
 
Equity Classifications 
 
In  the  government‐wide  financial  statements,  equity  is  classified  as  net  position  and  displayed  in  three 
components: 
 
Net investment in capital assets – consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, right‐of‐use assets, 
net of accumulated amortization and net of any related debt. 
Restricted  net  position  –  consists  of  net  position with  constraints  placed  on  their  use  either  by  (1)  external 
groups  such  as  creditors,  grantors,  contributors,  or  laws  and  regulations  of  other  governments;  or  (2)  law 
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. The Authority has no restricted net position. 
Unrestricted net position – net position that is neither classified as “restricted” nor as “net investment in capital 
assets.” 
 
 

Draf
t



 

  14 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

 
Note 1 ‐ Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Equity Classifications (Continued) 
 
In the governmental fund financial statement, fund balances are classified as follows: 
 
Nonspendable  ‐  represents  amounts  that  are  either  not  in  a  spendable  form  or  are  legally  or  contractually 
required to remain intact. The Authority includes fund balances that have been prepaid for expenditures in this 
category. 
Restricted – represents amounts which can be spent only for specific purposes because of state or federal laws, 
or externally imposed conditions. The Authority has no restricted fund balances. 
Committed – represents amounts which can be used only for specific purposes determined by the members of 
the governing Authority’s formal action through a resolution or action. The Authority has committed resources 
for gate expenditures that result from gate fee charges. 
Assigned ‐ represents amounts that are intended by the Authority for specific purposes but do not require action 
by the governing Authority. The Authority has amounts designated for subsequent year expenditures included in 
this category which represent a projected budgetary deficit in the subsequent years budget, if any. 
Unassigned – represents all amounts not included in non‐spendable classifications. 
 
The Authority’s policy  is to first apply expenditures against non‐spendable fund balances and then unassigned 
balances. On an annual basis assigned fund balances are determined based upon available resources. 
 
Pensions 
 
For  purposes  of  measuring  the  net  pension  liability,  deferred  outflows  of  resources,  deferred  inflows  of 
resources  and  pension  expense,  information  about  the  fiduciary  net  position  of  the  Public  Employees' 
Retirement System of Nevada (PERS) and additions to/deductions from PERS's fiduciary net position have been 
determined  on  the  same  basis  as  they  are  reported  by  PERS.  For  this  purpose,  benefit  payments  (including 
refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. 
Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements  in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles as applied 
to governmental units  requires management  to make estimates and assumptions  that affect certain  reported 
amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
During  the year ended  June 30, 2024,  the Authority  implemented  the provisions of GASB Statement No. 100, 
Accounting Changes and Error Corrections.  Issued  in  June 2022,  the primary objective of  this Statement  is  to 
enhance  accounting  and  financial  reporting  requirements  for  accounting  changes  and  error  corrections  to 
provide more understandable, reliable, relevant, consistent, and comparable  information for making decisions 
or assessing accountability. There is no impact to the Authority for implementing this standard.   
 

Draf
t



 

  15 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

 

Note 1 ‐ Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
New Accounting Pronouncements (not yet adopted) 
 
The following GASB pronouncements have been issued, but are not effective as of June 30, 2024: 

 
GASB  Statement  No.  101,  Compensated  Absences.  Issued  in  June  2022,  Governments  commonly  provide 
benefits  to  employees  in  the  form  of  compensated  absences.  The  primary  objective  of  this  Statement  is  to 
better meet the information needs of financial statement users by updating the recognition and measurement 
guidance for compensated absences. Statement No. 101 will be effective for the Authority for fiscal year ending 
June 30, 2025. 
 
GASB  Statement  No.  102,  Certain  Risk  Disclosures.  Issued  in  December  2023,  the  primary  objective  of  this 
Statement  is to enhance the quality and completeness of financial reporting by ensuring that stakeholders are 
informed  about  significant  risks  that  could  impact  the  entity’s  financial  position.  Statement No.  102 will  be 
effective for the Authority for fiscal year ending June 30, 2025. 
 
The  Authority  will  implement  new  GASB  pronouncements  no  later  than  the  required  effective  date.  The 
Authority  is  currently  evaluating  whether  or  not  the  above  listed  new  GASB  pronouncements  will  have  a 
significant impact on the Authority's financial statements. 
 

Leases 
 
The Authority  is a  lessor  for noncancellable  leased  assets. The Authority  recognizes a  lease  receivable  and a 
deferred inflow of resources in the government‐wide and governmental fund financial statements.  
 
At the commencement of a  lease, the Authority  initially measures the  lease receivable at the present value of 
payments expected to be received during the  lease term. Subsequently, the  lease receivable  is reduced by the 
principal portion of lease payments received. The deferred inflow of resources is initially measured as the initial 
amount of  the  lease  receivable, adjusted  for  lease payments  received at or before  the  lease commencement 
date. Subsequently, the deferred inflow of resources is recognized as revenue over the life of the lease term.  
 
Key estimates and judgments include how the Authority determines (1) the discount rate it uses to discount the  
expected lease receipts to present value, (2) lease term, and (3) lease receipts.  
 
The Authority uses prime rate as the discount rate for leases. The lease term includes the noncancellable period 
of the lease. Lease receipts included in the measurement of the lease receivable is composed of fixed payments 
from the  lessee. The Authority monitors changes  in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of  its 
lease and will remeasure the lease receivable and deferred inflows of resources if certain changes occur that are 
expected to significantly affect the amount of the lease receivable. 
 
 
 
 
 

Draf
t



 

  16 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

 
Note 1 ‐ Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Subsequent Events 
 
In  preparing  these  financial  statements,  the  Board  has  evaluated  events  and  transactions  for  potential 
recognition or disclosure through Date Pending, the date the financial statements were available to be issued. 
Subsequent events after that date have not been evaluated. 

 
Note 2 ‐ Compliance with Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) and the Nevada Administrative Code 
 
The Authority conformed to all significant statutory constraints on its financial administration.  
 

Note 3 ‐ Cash and Cash Equivalents  
 
By  provision  of  statutes,  the  Authority  is  authorized  to  deposit  all  money  in  banks  or  savings  and  loan 
associations  located  in  the  State  of  Nevada  and must  be  subject  to withdrawal  on  demand.  The  Authority 
maintains  its  checking  and  savings  accounts  in one  commercial  bank.  The  accounts  are  each  insured  by  the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000 or collateralized under the state collateral pool by 
the applicable banking institution. 
 
The Authority is authorized to invest in the State of Nevada Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP). The LGIP 
is  administered  by  the  State  Treasurer,  with  oversight  by  the  State  of  Nevada  Authority  of  Finance.  State 
statutes  require  the  State  Treasurer  to  collateralize  the  deposits made  to  it with  other  securities.  The  LGIP 
invests  in  securities as allowed by  statute. The  State of Nevada,  Local Government  Investment Pool  issues a 
publicly  available  annual  financial  report  that  includes  financial  statements  and  required  supplementary 
information. That report may be obtained by writing to the Office of the State Treasurer, of the State of Nevada, 
101 North Carson Street, #4, Carson City, Nevada, 89701. 
 
The Authority categorizes the fair value measurements of  its  investments  in the Local Government Investment 
Pool based on the hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The  fair value hierarchy, 
which has three levels, is based on the valuation inputs used to measure an asset’s fair value: 
 
  Level 1 – Inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; 
  Level 2 – Inputs are significant other observable inputs; and 
  Level 3 – Inputs are significant unobservable inputs. 
 
The Authority’s deposits in the pool are considered to be highly liquid. At June 30, 2024, $2,036,354 was held in 
the Local Government Investment Pool.  At June 30, 2024 the LGIP reported Level 1 investments of $1,088,823 
and Level 2 investments of $947,532 and a weighted average maturity of 82 days.  The Authority does not have 
any investments that are measured using Level 3 inputs. 
 

Note 4 ‐ Due from and to Other Government 
 
At June 30, 2024, the Authority  is owed $357,452 for an  intergovernmental receivable from the City of Carson 
City, Nevada, for personal property taxes and FAA grant reimbursements. 

Draf
t



 

  17 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

 

Note 5 ‐ Capital Assets 
 
Capital asset activity consists of the following for the years ended June 30: 

 
June 30, June 30,
2023 Additions Deletions 2024

Capital assets, not being depreciated
Land 146,542$         ‐$                      ‐$                      146,542$        

Capital assets, being depreciated
Machinery and equipment 1,815,274       136,002           ‐                        1,951,276      

Less accumulated depreciation 
Machinery and equipment (466,021)         (119,166)         ‐                        (585,187)        

Total capital assets
being depreciated, net 1,349,253       16,836             ‐                        1,366,089      

Capital Assets, Net 1,495,795       16,836             ‐                        1,512,631      

Construction in progress 807,877           354,955           (129,053)         1,033,779      

2,303,672$     371,791$         (129,053)$       2,546,410$    

 
 

Note 6 ‐ Long‐Term Lease Revenue Transactions 
 
The  Authority  entered  into  an  airport  lease  agreement,  dated  October  10,  1994,  with  Contri  Construction 
Company  (Contri). The  lease was  subsequently assigned  to Mayes. Mayes  leases  the property  for 50 years  in 
return  for  improving  the  flood  control  ditch;  furnishing  and  providing  the  utility  infrastructure  by  installing 
power, gas and telephone  lines; providing trenching and a six‐inch water  line; and furnishing and  installing six‐
inch PVC  sewer and manholes. These  improvements were made  to assets belonging  to  the City, and are not 
reflected in the capital assets of the Authority. The unamortized balance is reflected as a prepaid expense in the 
accompanying government‐wide financial statements. 
 
The value of the work was determined to be $312,000 or $6,240 a year for 50 years. This lease transaction is a 
noncash  transaction, which  is  amortized,  in  the  accompanying  financial  statements  at  $6,240  a  year.    The 
remaining balance of the prepaid lease improvements was $126,533 at June 30, 2024. 
 
On January 26, 2017, the Authority entered into an amended lease agreement with John Mayes, who assumed 
the Contri  lease discussed above,  in which  the  lessee prepaid $27,424 which  represented an  increase  in  the 
above lease. The new amount will be amortized over a 28‐year period. The lease will be amortized at a rate of 
$979 per year.  On July 18, 2018, the Authority entered into a lot line adjustment on the above lease with John 
Mayes  in which the  lessee prepaid $23,058, which  is being amortized over a 25 year period. The  lease will be 
amortized at the annual rate of $907.   At June 30, 2024, the balance of the Mayes prepaids  lease reflected  in 
deferred inflows of resources in the accompanying financial statements totaled $163,731. 
 
 

Draf
t



 

  18 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

 

Note 6 ‐ Long‐Term Lease Revenue Transactions (Continued) 
 
On September 1, 2005, the Authority entered  into a  lease agreement with KCXP  Investments LLC  in which the 
lessee prepaid a 50‐year  lease  in the amount of $362,890. The  lease will be amortized at a rate of $7,258 per 
year  over  the  50  years. At  June  30,  2024,  the  balance  of  the  prepaid  lease  reflected  in  deferred  inflows  of 
resources in the accompanying financial statements totaled $226,201. 
 
On October 19, 2006, the Authority entered  into an amended  lease agreement with Cubix  in which the  lessee 
prepaid a 15‐year lease in the amount of $100,679. The lease will be amortized at a rate of $9,330 for the first 
five years, $40,600 for the second five years, and $50,749 for the last five years.  In 2017, this lease was assigned 
to Goni Aviation, LLC.  At June 30, 2024, the balance of the prepaid lease had been completely amortized. 
 
Advance payments on  leases at June 30, 2024, totaling $23,979 will be recognized  in the subsequent year and 
are included in deferred inflows of resources. 
 
In  addition,  the Authority  is  a  party  to  several  long‐term  leases  that  are  not  reflected  above  that will  earn 
revenue into future periods. In accordance with GASB 87, Leases, the lease receivable is initially measured at the 
net present value of the future minimum  lease payments expected to be received.   As there was no discount 
rate stated in any of the leases, the leases were discounted using a rate of 4.75% (prime rate as of the date of 
implementation). The payments are  recognized as a  reduction of  the  lease  receivable and  interest  income as 
payments  are  received.  The  deferred  inflow  of  resources  at  the  time  of  implementation  is  recorded  as  an 
amount equal to the initial recording of the lease receivable.  The deferred inflow of resources is amortized on a 
straight line basis over the life of the lease.    
 
Following is a schedule of the principal and interest on all of the leases: 
 

Principal Interest 
Payments Payments Total

2025 69,758$           340,780$         410,538$        
2026 78,026             337,466           415,492          
2027 90,039             333,760           423,799          
2028 102,844           329,483           432,327          
2029‐2033 634,940           1,562,347       2,197,287      
2034‐2038 734,544           1,405,589       2,140,133      
2039‐2043 797,436           1,224,767       2,022,203      
2044‐2048 1,108,794       1,010,271       2,119,065      
2049‐2053 996,524           735,180           1,731,704      
2054‐2058 504,384           561,393           1,065,777      
2059‐2063 634,223           432,371           1,066,594      
2064‐2068 816,474           260,542           1,077,016      
2069‐2072 606,323           75,284             681,607          

7,174,309$     8,609,233$     15,783,542$  

Years Ending June 30,

 
 

 

Draf
t



 

  19 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

 

Note 7 ‐ Long‐Term Lease Purchase Transaction 
 
In December 2019, the Authority entered into a lease purchase arrangement for a tractor. The total cost of the 
tractor  was  $73,699 made  with  cash  of  $23,700  and  debt  of  $49,999.  The  loan  is  payable  in  four  annual 
installments of $13,771,  including applicable  interest, beginning December 1, 2020.  Interest accrues at 3.99%. 
The loan is secured by the specific equipment.  
 
The  lease agreement provided an option to purchase the tractor upon payoff of the  loan, which the Authority 
exercised  and  paid  off  on  November  21,  2023.    Leased  property  at  June  30,  2024  totaled  $73,699,  with 
accumulated depreciation of $37,117 and is included in capital assets. 
 

Note 8 ‐ Pensions 
 
General Information About the Pension Plan 
 
Plan Description 
 
PERS  (PERS  or  System)  administers  a  cost‐sharing,  multiple‐employer,  defined  benefit  public  employees' 
retirement system which  includes both Regular and Police/Fire members. The System was established by  the 
Nevada  Legislature  in 1947, effective  July 1, 1948. The  System  is administered  to provide a  reasonable base 
income to qualified employees who have been employed by a public employer and whose earnings capacities 
have been removed or substantially impaired by age or disability. 
 
General Information About the Pension Plan (Continued) 
 
Benefits Provided 
 
Benefits, as required by the Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS or statute), are determined by the number of years of 
accredited service at time of retirement and the member's highest average compensation in any 36 consecutive 
months with special provisions for members entering the System on or after January 1, 2010 and for members 
entering the System on or after July 1, 2015. Benefit payments to which participants or their beneficiaries may 
be entitled under the plan include pension benefits, disability benefits, and survivor benefits. 
 
Monthly benefit allowances for members are computed as 2.5% of average compensation for each accredited 
year of  service prior  to  July 1, 2001. For  service earned on and after  July 1, 2001,  this multiplier  is 2.67% of 
average compensation. For members entering the System on or after  January 1, 2010, there  is a 2.5% service 
time factor and for regular members entering the System on or after July 1, 2015, there  is a 2.25% multiplier. 
The System offers several alternatives to the unmodified service retirement allowance which,  in general, allow 
the  retired  employee  to  accept  a  reduced  service  retirement  allowance  payable monthly  during  his  or  her 
lifetime and various optional monthly payments to a named beneficiary after his or her death. 
 
Post‐retirement increases are provided by authority of NRS 286.575 – 286.579. 
 
 
 

Draf
t



 

  20 

 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

 

Note 8 – Pensions (Continued) 
 
General Information About the Pension Plan (Continued) 
 
Vesting 
 
Regular members entering  the System prior  to  January 1, 2010 are eligible  for  retirement at age 65 with  five 
years of service, at age 60 with 10 years of service, or at any age with thirty years of service. Regular members 
entering the System on or after January 1, 2010, are eligible for retirement at age 65 with five years of service, 
or age 62 with 10 years of service, or any age with thirty years of service. Regular members who entered the 
System on or after July 1, 2015 are eligible for retirement at age 65 with 5 years of service, or at age 62 with 20 
years of service, or at age 55 with 30 years of service, or at any age with 33 1/3 years of service. 
 
The  normal  ceiling  limitation  on monthly  benefits  allowances  is  75%  of  average  compensation.  However,  a 
member who has an effective date of membership before July 1, 1985,  is entitled to a benefit of up to 90% of 
average  compensation.  Both  Regular  and  Police/Fire  members  become  fully  vested  as  to  benefits  upon 
completion of five years of service. 
 
Contributions 
 
The  authority  for  establishing  and  amending  the obligation  to make  contributions  and member  contribution 
rates is set by statute. New hires, in agencies which did not elect the Employer‐Pay Contribution (EPC) plan prior 
to July 1, 1983 have the option of selecting one of two contribution plans. Contributions are shared equally by 
employer and employee. Employees can take a reduced salary and have contributions made by  the employer 
(EPC) or can make contributions by a payroll deduction matched by the employer. 
 
The System's basic funding policy provides for periodic contributions at a level pattern of cost as a percentage of 
salary throughout an employee's working lifetime in order to accumulate sufficient assets to pay benefits when 
due. 
 
The System receives an actuarial valuation on an annual basis indicating the contribution rates required to fund 
the System on an actuarial reserve basis. Contributions actually made are in accordance with the required rates 
established by the Nevada Legislature. These statutory rates are increased/decreased pursuant to NRS 286.421 
and 286.450. 
 
The  actuary  funding method used  is  the Entry Age Normal Cost Method.  It  is  intended  to meet  the  funding 
objective and result in a relatively level long‐term contributions requirement as a percentage of salary. 
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the statutory employer/employee matching rate was 17.5% for regular 
employees. The employer‐pay contribution (EPC) rate was 33.50%, for June 30, 2023 for regular employees. The 
Authority’s contributions were $36,562 for the year ended June 30, 2024. 
 
 
 

Draf
t



 

  21 

 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

 
Note 8 – Pensions (Continued) 
 
Pension  Liabilities, Pension Expense,  and Deferred Outflows of Resources  and Deferred  Inflows of Resources 
Related to Pensions 
 
At June 30, 2024, the Authority reported a  liability of $336,955 for  its proportionate share of the net pension 
liability.  The  net  pension  liability was measured  as  of  June  30,  2023,  and  the  total  pension  liability  used  to 
calculate  the net pension  liability was determined  by  an  actuarial  valuation  as of  that date.  The Authority’s 
proportion  of  the  net  pension  liability  was  based  on  total  contributions  due  on  wages  paid  during  the 
measurement  period.  Each  employer's  proportion  of  the  net  pension  liability  is  based  on  their  combined 
employer and member contributions relative to the total combined employer and member contributions for all 
employers for the period ended June 30, 2023. At June 30, 2023, the Authority’s proportion was .00185%, which 
was an increase of .00016% from its proportion measured at June 30, 2023. 
 
For  the  year  ended  June  30,  2024,  the Authority  recognized  pension  expense  of  $70,116. Amounts  totaling 
$36,62  resulting  from Authority  contributions  subsequent  to  the measurement  date will  be  recognized  as  a 
reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2024.  
 

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 43,920$              ‐$                        
Changes of assumptions 31,579                ‐                          
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on

pension plan investments ‐                           3,154                 
Changes in the employer's proportion and differences 

between the employer's contributions and the employer's
proportionate contributions 84,401                67,914               

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 36,562                ‐                          

196,462$            71,068$             

 
 
The $36,562 reported as deferred outflows of resources resulting  from Authority contributions subsequent  to 
the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in fiscal year 2024. The net 
difference between projected and actual  investment earnings on pension plan  investments will be recognized 
over five years, all the other above deferred outflow and deferred  inflows will be recognized over the average 
expected remaining services lives, which was 5.63 years for the measurement period ending June 30, 2023.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Draf
t



 

  22 

 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

 

Note 8 – Pensions (Continued) 
 
Pension  Liabilities, Pension Expense,  and Deferred Outflows of Resources  and Deferred  Inflows of Resources 
Related to Pensions (Continued) 
 
The amount reported as deferred outflows/(inflows) of resources, without regard to contributions subsequent 
to the measurement date, will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

Amount

2025 28,346$             
2026 16,573               
2027 32,057               
2028 7,898                 
2029 3,958                 

88,832$             

Years Ending June 30,

 
Actuarial Assumptions 
 
The  System's net pension  liability was measured  as of  June 30, 2023,  and  the  total pension  liability used  to 
calculate  the net pension  liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of  that date. The  total pension 
liability  was  determined  using  the  following  actuarial  assumptions,  applied  to  all  periods  included  in  the 
measurement: 
 
Inflation rate 2.50%
Investment rate of return 7.25%
Payroll growth  4.20% to 9.10%, depending on service
Productivity pay increase 0.50%
Projected salary increases  Regular: 4.20% to 9.10%, depending on service 

Rates include inflation and productivity increases
Consumer price index 2.50%
Other assumptions  Same as those used in the June 30, 2023 funding 

actuarial valuation  
 
Mortality rates for all non‐disabled members (Regular and Police/Fire) age 50 and over were based on the  Pub‐
2010 General Healthy Retiree Amount‐Weighted Above‐Median Mortality Table (separate tables for males and 
females) with  rates  increased by 30%  for males and 15%  for  females, projected generationally with  the  two‐
dimensional  mortality  improvement  scale  MP‐2020.  For  all  non‐disabled  members  under  the  age  of  50, 
mortality rates were based on smoothed differences between the rates at age 40 from the Pub‐2010 General 
Employee Amount‐Weighted Above‐Median Mortality Tables and the rates at age 50 from the Pub‐2010 General 
Healthy Retiree Amount‐Weighted Above‐Median Mortality Tables. To develop  the mortality rates before age 
40, Pub‐2010 General Employee Amount‐Weighted Above‐Median Mortality Tables rates were used.   
 

 

Draf
t



 

  23 

 
Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

 

Note 8 – Pensions (Continued) 
 
Actuarial Assumptions (Continued) 
 
The mortality table used  in the actuarial valuation to project mortality rates for all disabled members (Regular 
and Police/Fire) is the Pub‐2010 Non‐Safety Disabled Retiree Amount‐Weighted Mortality Table (separate tables 
for males and  females) with  rates  increased by 20%  for males and 15%  for  females, projected generationally 
with the two‐dimensional mortality improvement scale MP‐2020.  
 
The  actuarial  assumptions  used  in  the  June  30,  2023  valuation  were  based  on  the  results  of  an  actuarial 
valuation  completed  that  same  date.  There were  no  changes  in  actuarial  assumptions  since  the  preceding 
valuation. 
 
Investment Policy 
 
The System's policies which determine  the  investment portfolio  target asset allocation are established by  the 
Retirement Authority.  The  asset  allocation  is  reviewed  annually  and  is designed  to meet  the  future  risk  and 
return needs of the System.  
 
The following was the Retirement Authority’s adopted policy target asset allocation as of June 30, 2023: 
 

Asset Class Target Allocation

Domestic Equity 42%
International Equity 18%
Domestic Fixed Income 28%
Private Equity 12%

0.75%
6.65%

Long‐Term Geometric Expected 

Real Rate of Return

5.50%
5.50%

 
 
* As of June 30, 2023, PERS’ long‐term inflation assumption was 2.5% 
 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension  liability was 7.25% as of June 30, 2023. The projection of 
cash  flows used  to determine  the discount  rate  assumed  that  employee  and  employer  contributions will be 
made at the rate specified in statute. Based on that assumption, the pension plan's fiduciary net position at June 
30, 2023, was projected  to be available  to make all projected  future benefit payments of  current active and 
inactive employees. Therefore, the long‐term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied 
to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability as of June 30, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Draf
t



 

  24 

 
 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

 

Note 8 – Pensions (Continued) 
 
Discount Rate and Pension Liability Discount Rate Sensitivity 
 
The following presents the net pension  liability of the PERS as of June 30, 2023, calculated using the discount 
rate of 7.25%, as well as what the PERS net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate 
that is 1 percentage‐point lower (6.25%) or 1 percentage‐point higher (8.25%) than the current discount rate: 
 
 

1% Decrease in 1% Increase in
Discount Rate Discount Rate Discount Rate

(6.25%) (7.25%) (8.25%)

Net Pension Liability 524,351$           336,955$           182,298$          

 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
 
Additional  information supporting the Schedule of Employer Allocations and the Schedule of Pension Amounts 
by Employer is located in the PERS Annual Comprehensive Fiscal Report (ACFR) available on the PERS website at 
www.nvpers.org under Quick Links – Publications.  
 

Note 9 ‐ Commitments, Contingencies and Risk Management 
 
The Construction of  the Snow Removal Equipment Building and  the Construction of  the  Instrument Approach 
Aid grants are still open. The total expected federal share for these two projects is $1,903,162 with a local match 
of  $127,235.  The Acquire  Snow  Removal  Equipment  project  is  still  open, with  an  expected  federal  share  of 
$196,584 and no local match. The Design Instrument Approach Aid project is still open, with an expected federal 
share of $3,374 and a local match of $224. 
 
There were no other claims pending or unresolved disputes involving the Authority at June 30, 2024. 
 
The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; 
error and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The Authority maintains commercial insurance 
coverage  covering each of  these  risks of  loss.  In  the past  three  years, no  claims exceeded existing  insurance 
coverage. Management believes such coverage  is sufficient to preclude any significant uninsured  losses to the 
Authority. 
 

Note 10 ‐ Related Party Transactions 
 
The Authority leases certain property to various individuals or related businesses that are members or relatives 
of the Authority of Trustees. All such transactions are considered to be arms‐length transactions. 
 

 

Draf
t



 

  25 

 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Notes to Financial Statements 
June 30, 2024 

 
Note 11 ‐ Conversion to Government‐Wide Financial Statements 
 
Adjustments on  the  face of  the  financial  statements were made  to  the  fund balance  sheet and  statement of 
revenue, expenditures, and changes  in fund balance  in order to reconcile the fund financial statements to the 
government‐wide statements of net position and activities.  
 
The differences are reflected below: 
 
Statement of Net Position and Governmental Fund Balance Sheet Adjustments – Increases (Decreases) 
 
Capitalization of fixed assets of $3,131,597, accumulated depreciation of ($585,187) ‐ $2,546,410 
Prepaid airport improvements incurred by lessee and long‐term lease ‐ $126,533 
Accrued compensated absences ‐ $8,619 
Pension activity including deferred outflows of ($196,462), net pension liability of $336,955 and deferred inflows 
of $71,068 ‐ $211,561 
Elimination of fund balances ‐ ($2,804,234) 
Inclusion of net position ‐ $5,130,464 
 
Statement  of  Activities  and  Governmental  Fund  Revenue,  Expenditures,  and  Changes  in  Fund  Balances 
Adjustments 
 
Change in net pension liability and related accounts ‐ ($11,492) 
Depreciation expense ‐ ($119,166) 
Increase in accrued compensated absences ‐ ($4,929) 
Capitalization of fixed assets ‐ $361,904 
Final payment on loan ‐ $13,243 
Property taxes received ‐ ($1,402) 
  Draf

t



 

 

Required Supplementary Information 
June 30, 2024 

Airport Authority of Carson City (A 
Component Unit of Carson City)

Draf
t



 

  26 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual 
Year Ended June 30, 2024 

 
2023

Variance Actual
to Final (Memorandum

Original Final Actual Budget Only)
Revenue

Local government shared revenue

Property tax

Aircraft 210,000$           210,000$           191,132$           (18,868)$            197,289$          

Buildings 140,000             140,000             149,909             9,909                  142,622            
FAA grant revenue 2,398,513          3,264,875          232,798 (3,032,077)         396,883            

Total local government
shared revenue 2,748,513          3,614,875          573,839             (3,041,036)         736,794            

Miscellaneous
Leases ‐ annual 401,340             401,340             282,273 (119,067)            225,957            
Interest earnings 65,000               65,000               440,183 375,183             334,308            
Tie‐downs 9,000                  9,000                  9,551 551                     10,049              
Fuel flowage fees 20,000               20,000               15,128 (4,872)                16,594              
Jet fuel tax 4,000                  4,000                  1,825 (2,175)                883                    
Through the fence fees 7,200                  7,200                  8,974                  1,774                  8,058                 
Miscellaneous 10,700               10,700               7,175 (3,525)                6,833                 
Gate cards 900                     900                     1,935 1,035                  525                    

Class II FBO fees 12,000               12,000               8,250 (3,750)                4,650                 
Rock sales 40,000               40,000               62,339 22,339               82,104              

Total miscellaneous
revenue 570,140             570,140             837,633             267,493             689,961            

Total revenue 3,318,653          4,185,015          1,411,472          (2,773,543)         1,426,755         

Expenditures
Current

Airport service and supplies
Repairs and maintenance 53,250               53,250               68,201 (14,951)              47,716              
Website and AWOS 9,000                  6,000                  2,184 3,816                  5,430                 
Utilities and telephone 19,700               19,700               25,432 (5,732)                19,942              
Contractual services 6,000                  6,000                  3,656 2,344                  11,569              
Insurance 13,000               13,000               17,040 (4,040)                12,451              
Operating supplies 8,250                  8,250                  6,334 1,916                  20,456              
Miscellaneous 16,450               20,950               8,843 12,107               11,094              
Audit and accounting services 71,800               71,800               52,534 19,266               53,243              
Legal 100,000             100,000             33,225 66,775               82,494              
Airport engineering ‐                      ‐                      3,000                  (3,000)                (1,977)               

Total airport service
and supplies 297,450             298,950             220,449             78,501               262,418            

Budgeted Amounts

2024

Draf
t



 

  27 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual 
Year Ended June 30, 2024 

 
2023

Variance Actual
to Final (Memorandum

Original Final Actual Budget Only)
Airport administration

Salaries and wages 221,431$           221,400$           218,280$           3,120$               140,072$          
Employee taxes and benefits 123,444             123,500             121,739 1,761                  63,262              

Total airport
administration 344,875             344,900             340,019             4,881                  203,334            

Total airport operations 642,325             643,850             560,468             83,382               465,752            

Capital outlay
FAA grant project

Rehabiliation taxiways 15,000               15,000               ‐                      15,000               ‐                     
Safety area improvement 275,000             275,000             ‐                      275,000             ‐                     
Relocate AWOS ‐                      ‐                      ‐                      ‐                      23,191              
Snow removal 218,000             218,000             355                     217,645             675                    
Approach lighting 1,500,000          1,500,000          137,084             1,362,916          395,273            
Construct buildings 825,880             1,750,000          79,679               1,670,321          264                    
Extend terminal building 120,000             120,000             ‐                      120,000             ‐                     

Other capital outlay 7,200                  7,200                  142,664             (135,464)            117,741            

Total capital outlay 2,961,080          3,885,200          359,782             3,525,418          537,144            

Debt service
Principal 13,800               13,800               13,243               557                     12,734              
Interest ‐                      ‐                      528                     (528)                    1,037                 
Lease transaction ‐                      ‐                      6,240                  (6,240)                6,240                 

Total expenditures 3,617,205          4,542,850          940,261             3,602,589          1,022,907         

Excess of Revenue over (under) Expenditures (298,552)            (357,835)            471,211             829,046             403,848            

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 1,288,760          1,182,506          2,333,023          1,150,517          1,924,790         

Prior period adjustment
Correction of an error ‐                      ‐                      ‐                      ‐                      4,385                 

Fund Balance, End of Year 990,208$           824,671$           2,804,234$        1,979,563$        2,333,023$       

2024

Budgeted Amounts

Draf
t



 

  28 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability Based on Measurement Date 
Last Ten Fiscal Years 

 
 

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Portion of the net pension liability 0.00185% 0.00169% 0.00156% 0.00248% 0.00169%
Proportionate share of the net pension liability 336,955$    305,474$    142,340$    345,921$    230,178$   
Covered payroll 143,334$    126,189$    104,445$    143,181$    134,163$   
Proportionate share of the net pension liability as 

a percentage of its covered payroll 235.08% 242.08% 136.28% 241.60% 171.57%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage

 of the total pension liability 76.16% 75.12% 86.51% 77.04% 76.46%

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Portion of the net pension liability 0.00092% 0.00147% 0.00150% 0.00139% 0.00094%
Proportionate share of the net pension liability 125,881$    196,091$    202,273$    158,883$    97,541$     
Covered payroll 72,499$      101,312$    91,332$      83,111$      84,222$     
Proportionate share of the net pension liability as 

a percentage of its covered payroll 173.63% 193.55% 221.47% 191.17% 115.81%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage

 of the total pension liability 74.40% 74.42% 72.23% 75.13% 76.31%Draf
t



29 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Schedule of Contributions 
Last Ten Fiscal Years 

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

Contractually required contribution 36,562$      21,321$      19,099$      15,643$      21,232$     
Contributions in relation to the contractually 

 required contribution (36,562)       (21,321)       (19,099)       (15,643)       (21,232)      
Contribution deficiency (excess) ‐$             ‐$             ‐$             ‐$             ‐$            

Authority's covered payroll 216,787$    143,334$    126,189$    104,445$    143,181$   
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 16.87% 14.88% 15.14% 14.83% 14.83%

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Contractually required contribution 19,054$      13,295$      14,690$      14,690$      14,206$     
Contributions in relation to the contractually 

 required contribution (19,054)       (13,295)       (14,690)       (14,690)       (14,206)      
Contribution deficiency (excess) ‐$             ‐$             ‐$             ‐$             ‐$            

Authority's covered payroll 134,163$    72,499$      101,312$    91,332$      83,111$     
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 14.20% 18.34% 14.50% 16.08% 17.09%Draf

t



 

30 

Casey Neilon, Inc. 
Accountants and Advisors 

 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements  
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

 
 
To the Authority of Trustees 
Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City) 
Carson City, Nevada 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and  the standards applicable  to  financial audits contained  in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by  the Comptroller General of  the United States,  the  financial statements of  the governmental 
activities and the general fund of the Airport Authority of Carson City (the Authority), a Component Unit 
of  Carson  City,  as  of  and  for  the  year  ended  June  30,  2024,  and  the  related  notes  to  the  financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements, and have issued our 
report thereon dated Date Pending. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Authority’s internal 
control  over  financial  reporting  (internal  control)  as  a  basis  for  designing  audit  procedures  that  are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 
significant  deficiencies  and  therefore, material weaknesses  or  significant  deficiencies may  exist  that 
were not identified. However, as described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses, we 
identified  certain  deficiencies  in  internal  control  that  we  consider  to  be  material  weaknesses  and 
significant deficiencies. 
 
A  deficiency  in  internal  control  exists  when  the  design  or  operation  of  a  control  does  not  allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect  and  correct,  misstatements  on  a  timely  basis.  A  material  weakness  is  a  deficiency,  or  a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 
timely  basis. We  consider  the  deficiencies  described  in  the  accompanying  schedule  of  findings  and 
responses as items 2024‐001, 2024‐002 and 2024‐003 to be material weaknesses. 
 
 
 

Draf
t



 

31 

A significant deficiency  is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies,  in  internal control  that  is  less 
severe  than  a material  weakness,  yet  important  enough  to merit  attention  by  those  charged  with 
governance. We  consider  the  deficiencies  described  in  the  accompanying  schedule  of  findings  and 
responses as items 2024‐004 and 2024‐005 to be significant deficiencies. 
 
Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we  performed  tests  of  its  compliance with  certain  provisions  of  laws, 
regulations,  contracts,  and  grant  agreements,  noncompliance  with  which  could  have  a  direct  and 
material effect on  the  financial  statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with  those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our  tests disclosed no  instances of noncompliance or other matters  that are required  to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Airport Authority of Carson City’s Response to Findings 
 
Government  Auditing  Standards  requires  the  auditor  to  perform  limited  procedures  on  the  Airport 
Authority of Carson City’s response to the findings and responses.  The Airport Authority of Carson City’s 
response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements 
and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The  purpose  of  this  report  is  solely  to  describe  the  scope  of  our  testing  of  internal  control  and 
compliance and  the  results of  that  testing, and not  to provide an opinion on  the effectiveness of  the 
entity’s  internal  control  or  on  compliance.  This  report  is  an  integral  part  of  an  audit  performed  in 
accordance  with  Government  Auditing  Standards  in  considering  the  entity’s  internal  control  and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
 
Reno, Nevada 
Date Pending 
 

Draf
t



 

32 

Casey Neilon, Inc. 
Accountants and Advisors 

 
Auditor’s Comments 

 
 
To the Authority of Trustees 
Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City) 
Carson City, Nevada 
 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Airport Authority of Carson City (the Authority), a 
Component Unit  of  Carson  City,  as  of  and  for  the  year  ended  June  30,  2024,  and  the  related  notes  to  the 
financial statements, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that the Authority failed to comply 
with  the  specific  requirements of Nevada Revised Statutes cited below. However, our audit was not directed 
primarily toward obtaining knowledge of noncompliance. Accordingly, had we performed additional procedures, 
other matters may have come to our attention regarding the Authority’s noncompliance with the requirements 
of Nevada Revised Statutes cited below, insofar as they relate to accounting matters. 
 
Current Year Statute Compliance 
The required disclosure on compliance with the Nevada Revised Statutes and the Nevada Administrative Code is 
contained in Note 2 to the financial statements.  
 
Progress on Prior Year Statute Compliance 
The Authority monitored all significant constraints on its financial administration during the year ended June 30, 
2024. 
 
Current Year Recommendations 
See the schedule of findings and responses for the current year recommendations. 
 
Progress on Prior Year Recommendations 
Significant differences were noted  in  the accounting  records  that  required proposed audit adjustments  in  the 
current year. 
 

 
Reno, Nevada 
Date Pending 

Draf
t



 

33 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  
Schedule of Findings and Responses 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 

 
Financial Statement Findings  
 
2024‐001  Internal Control over the Preparation of Financial Statements and Reconciliations 
  Material Weakness 
 
Criteria:  The  Authority  should  have  an  internal  control  system  designed  to  provide  for  the 

preparation of the financial statements and related financial statement disclosures. 
 
Condition:  The Authority  does  not  have  an  internal  control  system  designed  to  provide  for  the 

preparation  of  the  financial  statements  and  related  financial  statement  disclosures 
being audited without material adjustments. In conjunction with the completion of our 
audit, we were requested to draft the financial statements and accompanying notes to 
those financial statements, which is common. However, there were multiple accounts in 
which  reconciliations  were  not  properly  completed,  reconciled  to  final  balances  or 
reviewed timely. 

 
Cause:  While management  is  reviewing  the  financial  reports  prior  to  each  board meeting, 

complete  and  accurate  reconciliations  are  not  provided  such  that management  can 
perform a detailed review.  

 
Effect:  Errors  or  omissions  could  occur  without  being  identified  in  the  normal  course  of 

operations. 
 
Identification of Repeat 
Finding:  This is a repeat finding from the fiscal year 2022 audit. 
 
Recommendation:  We  recommend  that  the  Authority  implement  a  policy  that  includes  review  of  the 

financial  information as  recorded  in  the  records and a  review of expenses  incurred  to 
reduce the risk of errors or omissions. 

 
Views of Responsible  
Officials:  The Authority  is  in  agreement with  the  finding. Many  improvements  to  the  standard 

operating procedures have already been  implemented  in 2024, but they did not make 
any  retroactive  corrections.    The  recommendations  precented  will  also  improve  on 
these new standard operating procedures even further.  Many of the findings are due to 
the  transition  of  management  and  prior  lack  of  additional  personnel  to  assist 
management,  and  management  believes  the  recommended  solutions  will  help  us 
improve moving forward.  

 
 
 
 

Draf
t



 

34 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  
Schedule of Findings and Responses 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 

 
2024‐002:  Grant Expenditures 
  Material Weakness 
 
Criteria:  Internal controls should be  in place  to provide reasonable assurance  that protects the 

Authority from errors or omissions. 
 
Condition:   During the course of our engagement, we proposed material audit adjustments to the 

Authority’s  recorded  account  balances  in  grant  revenues  and  expenditures  including 
capitalizing grant expenditures, and reclassifying amounts. Additionally, the accounting 
records report the federal grants on a net basis.  If the adjustments were not recorded, 
it  would  have  resulted  in  a  material  misstatement  of  the  Authority’s  financial 
statements.  The  need  for  these  adjustments  indicates  that  the  Authority’s  interim 
financial  information  is  not  materially  correct,  which  may  affect  appropriate  grant 
reporting.  

 
Cause:   The Authority  is not  reviewing and monitoring  the grant  revenue and expenditures as 

reflected in the accounting records. 
 
Effect:   Errors  or  omissions  could  occur  without  being  identified  in  the  normal  course  of 

operations. 
 
Identification of Repeat 
Finding:  This is a repeat finding from the fiscal year 2022 audit. 
 
Recommendation:   The  Authority  should  implement  a  policy  that  includes  review  of  the  financial 

information as recorded in the records and a review of revenue and expenses incurred 
to reduce the risk of errors or omissions. 

 
Views of Responsible  
Officials:  The Authority  is  in  agreement with  the  finding. Many  improvements  to  the  standard 

operating procedures have already been  implemented  in 2024, but they did not make 
any  retroactive  corrections.    The  recommendations  precented  will  also  improve  on 
these new standard operating procedures even further.  Many of the findings are due to 
the  transition  of  management  and  prior  lack  of  additional  personnel  to  assist 
management,  and  management  believes  the  recommended  solutions  will  help  us 
improve moving forward.  

 
 
 

Draf
t



 

35 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  
Schedule of Findings and Responses 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 

 
2024‐003:  Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Material Weakness 
  Material Weakness 
 
Criteria:  Title  2  Code  of  Federal  Regulations  Part  200,  Uniform  Administrative  Requirements, 

Cost  Principles,  and  Audit  Requirements  for  Federal  Awards  (Uniform  Guidance) 
requires grantees to prepare the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (SEFA). 

 
Condition:   While a SEFA is only required in a year in which the Authority is subject to a Single Audit, 

inaccurate completion of a SEFA could result in the required audit not being completed. 
The accounting system utilized  to prepare  the SEFA by  the Authority did not properly 
reflect the expenditures of federal awards. 

 
Cause:   The Authority did not have adequate  internal controls  to ensure  federal expenditures 

reported  for  amounts  passed  through  to  subrecipients  on  the  SEFA were  accurately 
reported. 

 
Effect:   Errors  or  omissions  could  occur  without  being  identified  in  federal  expenditures.  

Additionally, the Authority could be subject to the Single Audit requirement due to the 
magnitude of expenditures and not be aware that the requirement applies. 

 
Identification of Repeat 
Finding:  This is a repeat finding from the fiscal year 2022 audit. 
 
Recommendation:   We  recommend  the  Authority  enhance  internal  controls  to  ensure  total  federal 

expenditures are accurately reported on the SEFA. 
 
Views of Responsible  
Officials:  The Authority  is  in  agreement with  the  finding. Many  improvements  to  the  standard 

operating procedures have already been  implemented  in 2024, but they did not make 
any  retroactive  corrections.    The  recommendations  precented  will  also  improve  on 
these new standard operating procedures even further.  Many of the findings are due to 
the  transition  of  management  and  prior  lack  of  additional  personnel  to  assist 
management,  and  management  believes  the  recommended  solutions  will  help  us 
improve moving forward.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Draf
t



 

36 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  
Schedule of Findings and Responses 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 

 
2024‐004:   Payroll Management  
                     Significant Deficiency 
 
Criteria:   Management  is  responsible  for  establishing  and maintaining  an  effective  system  of 

internal control over financial reporting. Review and approval of payroll transactions is a  
necessary component of effective internal control over financial reporting. 

 
Condition:  During our  testing of payroll  transactions we  identified  that payroll  transactions were 

not being recorded correctly  in the accounting system.   Additionally, while the Airport 
Manager has a contract specifying payment and carryover of vacation  time,  the other 
airport employees do not and this is not addressed in the employee manual. 

 
Cause:  The  Authority  did  not  have  adequate  controls  for  reviewing  the  payroll  reports  and 

financial statements for accuracy of payroll recording. 
 
Effect:  Expenses  were misstated  as  employer  payroll  taxes  and  reimbursements  for  health 

insurance were not captured in the accounting records. 
 
Identification of Repeat 
Finding:  This is a repeat finding from the fiscal year 2022 audit. 
 
 
Recommendation:  We recommend the Board implement internal controls to provide for the review of the 

payroll  transactions,  and  update  employee manuals  to  clearly  reflect  the  policies  in 
place.  

 
Views of Responsible  
Officials:  The Authority  is  in  agreement with  the  finding. Many  improvements  to  the  standard 

operating procedures have already been  implemented  in 2024, but they did not make 
any  retroactive  corrections.    The  recommendations  precented  will  also  improve  on 
these new standard operating procedures even further.  Many of the findings are due to 
the  transition  of  management  and  prior  lack  of  additional  personnel  to  assist 
management,  and  management  believes  the  recommended  solutions  will  help  us 
improve moving forward.  

  
 

Draf
t



 

37 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  
Schedule of Findings and Responses 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 

 
2024‐005:   Accounts Receivable Management  
                     Significant Deficiency 
 
Criteria:   Management  is  responsible  for  establishing  and maintaining  an  effective  system  of 

internal  control  over  financial  reporting.  Reconciliation  of  amounts  owed  to  the 
Authority and follow up of outstanding  invoices  is a   necessary component of effective 
internal control over financial reporting. 

 
Condition:  During our  testing of accounts  receivable we  identified  invoices  that had been  issued 

more  than 12 months prior without payment,  invoices  to Carson City where payment 
has  not  been  applied,  and  reimbursements  for  prior  year  overpayments  that  were 
recorded as a reduction of current year expense.   

 
Cause:  The Authority  did  not  have  adequate  controls  to  reconcile  accounts  receivable  or  to 

follow up on the validity of long overdue accounts. 
 
Effect:  Accounts receivable and revenues may be misstated, and uncollectible invoices may not 

be identified. 
 
Identification of Repeat 
Finding:  This is a repeat finding from the fiscal year 2022 audit. 
 
Recommendation:  We recommend the Board implement internal controls to provide for the review of the 

receivable transactions.  
 
Views of Responsible  
Officials:  The Authority  is  in  agreement with  the  finding. Many  improvements  to  the  standard 

operating procedures have already been  implemented  in 2024, but they did not make 
any  retroactive  corrections.    The  recommendations  precented  will  also  improve  on 
these new standard operating procedures even further.  Many of the findings are due to 
the  transition  of  management  and  prior  lack  of  additional  personnel  to  assist 
management,  and  management  believes  the  recommended  solutions  will  help  us 
improve moving forward.  

Draf
t



 

38 

Airport Authority of Carson City 
(A Component Unit of Carson City)  

Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

 
Financial Statements  
 
2023‐004:    
Initial Fiscal Year Finding Occurred:  2022 
 
Finding Summary:   Management does not have the staff in place to evaluate new accounting standards and 

implement them appropriately in the financial statements.   
 
Status:  While  there were no new  standards  in  the  current  year  that  impacted  the Authority, 

there  are  new  standards  that will  be  effective  in  the  upcoming  fiscal  year  that  the 
Authority will need to implement. 

 
 
 

 

Draf
t



 
 
November 20, 2024 

 
 

Carson City Airport Manager’s Report Prepared by Corey Jenkins 
 
Managers’ Report 
 

• Pavement Maintenance 
o Airport Operations and Maintenance are working on the next phase of pavement 

maintenance 
 Wood Rodgers is providing guidance to the Airport Operations and 

Maintenance Supervisor on the next steps for this project 
• The utilities have been put in place across taxiway Bravo. 

o Utility Easement in process for connection 
• Working with the City on updating Title 19 with the changes approved by the CCAA 

o The changes to Title 19 have been approved by the Carson City Board of 
Supervisors 

• We have received the new Snowplow and all of the snow removal equipment is prepared 
for snow removal operations 

• Working on a Through-The-Fence permit request east of Bravo 
o The permit request may be ready for approval at the January CCAA meeting. 

• Worked with board members, members of the community, and the FAA to assist with the 
development of a handout with guidance on operations at non-towered  

o This project is complete, and we are printing the handout for distribution 
o Special thanks to Larry Cheek for initiating this project. 

 Congratulations to Larry Cheek on his retirement from the FAA 
• A comprehensive airport lighting update report prepared by Rick Lee is attached 
• At a Master Project Review meeting with the City I learned about a neighborhood being 

built east of the airport. 
o The neighborhood is up hill from the Airport and could potentially cause an issue 

due to its proximity to protected airspace. 
o I identified the risk to the developer and am in the process of executing an 

Avigation Easement to protect the airspace. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Fuel Flowage 

Total 

Self-Serve Full-Service Total Combined 
% 

Change 

Month 100LL Jet A 100LL Jet A Gallons 
Fuel 

Flowage Fee 
Annual 
Change 

January-24 5932 1389 2655 10751 20727  $  1,036.36 97% 
February-24 6355 637 1343 13511 21847  $  1,092.34 12% 

March-24 7206 353 2737 13374.9 23670  $  1,183.51 52% 
April-24 9776 334 3489 8998 22598  $  1,129.89 5% 
May-24 10401 1540 4241 28959 45141  $  2,257.05 57% 
June-24 10481 1471 4720 12459 29132  $  1,456.59 9% 
July-24 11100 739 5188 21112 38139  $  1,906.95 13% 

August-24 10902 1359 4781 25886 42929  $  2,146.44 21% 
September-24 7290 2432 4306 17146 31175  $  1,558.73 -17%

October-24 9702 4232 4435 18067 36436  $  1,821.82 46% 
November-24 0 0 0 0 0  $    - -100% 
December-24 0 0 0 0 0  $    - -100% 

Aircraft Operations 

2024 ADS-B Airport Operations 

Month Arrivals Departures 
Total 

Operations 
Annual 
Change 

January-24 1457 1483 2940 32% 
February-24 1295 1265 2560 -27% 

March-24 1238 1242 2480 0% 
April-24 4312 4312 8624 68% 
May-24 4251 4261 8512 62% 
June-24 2493 2481 4974 -18% 
July-24 2320 2533 4853 -25% 

August-24 1952 2237 4189 -20% 
September-24 1457 1674 3131 -53% 

October-24 1574 1842 3416 -55% 
November-24 0 0 0 -100% 
December-24 0 0 0 -100% 

Total Annual 22349 23330 45679 -28% 





CARSON CITY AIRPORT 
AIRFIELD LIGHTING MAINTENANCE and UPGRADES 

OCTOBER 2020 – NOVEMBER 2024 

AIRFIELD SIGN PANELS - Did you know??  There are 45 signs on our airfield.  Most have information panels 
on both sides. 

 Over time, constant exposure to the elements causes the panels to fade and/or de-laminate.

 Beginning in September 2022, all airfield sign panels were evaluated for fading and de-lamination of
vinyl letters and numbers.  Evaluation results were used to identify panels in need of replacement and
to prioritize the panels in the poorest condition.

 Since September 2022:  30 SIGN PANELS REPLACED

 Sign panels cost:  $800 - $1,300 each depending on size.

AIRFIELD SIGN LIGHTING 

 Most of the signs on the airfield currently use incandescent (halogen) lighting.  While the bulbs are still
available, the transformers and control circuit boards are not.  These items are proprietary to the sign
manufacturer and are not available through other sources.  When these items fail, the lowest cost
solution is to install an L.E.D. retrofit kit.

 For kit installation, the sign assembly is removed from the airfield and brought to the maintenance
workshop.  All components are removed and replaced with the L.E.D. lights, drivers and control circuit
boards.  These are the same components used in signs currently in production.  Installation takes 2-4
hours depending on size of sign.

 6 L.E.D. RETROFIT KITS INSTALLED - Kits cost $600 - $1,000 each depending on size of sign.



AIRFIELD LIGHTING AND BEACON  

Airfield Lighting – Did you know??  There are 593 lights on our airfield 

Runway edge lights use incandescent halogen bulbs.  Bulbs are available and will continue to be used. 

Taxiway edge lights have L.E.D. “bulbs” installed approximately 10 years ago.  The bulb, driver, and circuit 
boards are sealed units that prevent replacing individual components.  Additionally, as with the airfield sign 
lighting, the light assemblies are proprietary to the manufacturer, no longer in production, and are not 
available through other sources.  When these items fail, the lowest cost solution is to install a new model L.E.D. 
light head assembly.  The components in the new lights can be replaced and are available. To date, 140 new 
model edge lights have been installed.  The current cost of each light head assembly is $207.72. 

The new model lights are easily identified by the flat top of the lens versus the round top on the older lights. 

Airport Beacon 

Prior to October 2024, maintenance and repair of the beacon was provided via an informal agreement 
between the airport and AT&T.  When AT&T was contacted recently for assistance with the beacon being 
inoperative, airport staff was informed that AT&T would no longer be assisting with beacon maintenance.  A 
local lighting contractor was hired to make needed repairs.  The contractor replaced the bulb, and the beacon 
was returned to service.  A few days later, a homeowner north of the airport reported that the beacon was 
shining directly into their home following repairs.  Using photos of the beacon and its I.D. plate provided by the 
contractor, airport staff determined the model and manufacturer of the light and downloaded a service 
manual.  The manual contained information regarding the FAA established beam angle and instructions to 
verify or adjust the angle as needed.  The contractor was called back to the airport for follow up.  It was found 
that a taller replacement bulb had been installed, causing the beam to shine at a lower angle than before.  The 
correct bulb was installed, and the proper angle was verified.  The homeowner called the airport the following 
day and reported the issue was resolved.   



Carson City Airport Authority-2
Balance Sheet Comparison

As of October 31, 2024

Accrual Basis  Tuesday, November 19, 2024 04:56 AM GMT-08:00   1/2

TOTAL

AS OF OCT 31, 2024 AS OF OCT 31, 2023 (PY) CHANGE

ASSETS

Current Assets

Bank Accounts

1075 LGIP-Deferred 428,888.00 406,602.46 22,285.54

1077 LGIP- General Fund 1,643,838.11 1,261,511.26 382,326.85

3099 Gen. Fund #1162 404,274.84 545,498.94 -141,224.10

3199 Petty Cash 100.00 100.00 0.00

Total Bank Accounts $2,477,100.95 $2,213,712.66 $263,388.29

Accounts Receivable

2000 Accounts Receivable - Operating 92,898.43 165,005.11 -72,106.68

Total Accounts Receivable $92,898.43 $165,005.11 $ -72,106.68

Other Current Assets

1499 Undeposited Funds 14,497.64 20,297.61 -5,799.97

2001 AR offset -19,337.00 -19,337.00 0.00

2010 Due From Other Government 389,578.87 389,578.87 0.00

2010.1 Audit Adjustment to AR -332,044.00 -332,044.00 0.00

2011 Accrued Interest Receivable 6,252.37 6,252.37 0.00

2100 Prepaid Expenses 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00

CTE Reimbursement Funds -22,877.50 -22,877.50

Total Other Current Assets $37,070.38 $65,747.85 $ -28,677.47

Total Current Assets $2,607,069.76 $2,444,465.62 $162,604.14

Fixed Assets

2120 land 146,542.03 146,542.03 0.00

2125 Machinery & Equipment 750,566.73 750,566.73 0.00

2126 Fencing 911,661.46 911,661.46 0.00

2130 Vehicle 807,877.35 807,877.35 0.00

2198 Accumulated Depreciation -466,021.36 -466,021.36 0.00

2201 Tractor 153,046.00 153,046.00 0.00

Total Fixed Assets $2,303,672.21 $2,303,672.21 $0.00

Other Assets

2300 Provided for LT Obligations 271,786.33 271,786.33 0.00

2305 NPV of Airport Leases 7,242,012.00 7,242,012.00 0.00

2810 Pension Requirement 415,612.04 415,612.04 0.00

Total Other Assets $7,929,410.37 $7,929,410.37 $0.00

TOTAL ASSETS $12,840,152.34 $12,677,548.20 $162,604.14



Carson City Airport Authority-2
Balance Sheet Comparison

As of October 31, 2024

Accrual Basis  Tuesday, November 19, 2024 04:56 AM GMT-08:00   2/2

TOTAL

AS OF OCT 31, 2024 AS OF OCT 31, 2023 (PY) CHANGE

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

3000 Accounts Payable 8,942.03 61,861.49 -52,919.46

Total Accounts Payable $8,942.03 $61,861.49 $ -52,919.46

Credit Cards

6321 Home Depot 454.24 377.17 77.07

6328 NSB Credit Card  Rick 9053 1,693.47 1,228.37 465.10

6329 NSB CC Corey 9061 407.36 999.02 -591.66

Total Credit Cards $2,555.07 $2,604.56 $ -49.49

Other Current Liabilities

2101 Payroll Liability 3,879.08 1,516.72 2,362.36

2102 Accrued Compensated Absences 8,917.28 8,917.28 0.00

2115 Accrued Expenses 21,000.00 21,000.00 0.00

3030 Audit Adj to AP 4,102.00 4,102.00 0.00

3090 Pension Requirement-Liab 360,736.00 360,736.00 0.00

3271 Current Portion of LTD 12,734.00 12,734.00 0.00

Total Other Current Liabilities $411,368.36 $409,006.00 $2,362.36

Total Current Liabilities $422,865.46 $473,472.05 $ -50,606.59

Long-Term Liabilities

3085 Net Pension Liability 447,813.00 447,813.00 0.00

3100 Leases Advances 26,556.00 26,556.00 0.00

3110 Deferred Inflows- Leases 6,872,722.00 6,872,722.00 0.00

3200 Mayes-Lease Transactions 302,549.83 308,789.83 -6,240.00

3250 Gonzalez Deferred Lease 232,855.89 232,855.89 0.00

6325 Tractor US Bank -13,243.00 0.00 -13,243.00

Total Long-Term Liabilities $7,869,253.72 $7,888,736.72 $ -19,483.00

Total Liabilities $8,292,119.18 $8,362,208.77 $ -70,089.59

Equity

4200 Fund Balance 2,548,313.52 2,548,313.52 0.00

4999 Retained Earnings 1,976,873.89 1,711,686.00 265,187.89

4999.1 GWFS to Fund FS adjustments -38,223.00 -38,223.00 0.00

Net Income 61,068.75 93,562.91 -32,494.16

Total Equity $4,548,033.16 $4,315,339.43 $232,693.73

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $12,840,152.34 $12,677,548.20 $162,604.14



Carson City Airport Authority-2
Budget vs. Actuals: CCAA Budget 24/25 P&L - FY25 P&L

July 2024 - June 2025

Accrual Basis  Tuesday, November 19, 2024 04:58 AM GMT-08:00   1/4

TOTAL

ACTUAL BUDGET OVER 
BUDGET

% OF 
BUDGET

Income

5010 Real/Personal Property Tax

5010.1 Aircraft 79,742.95 210,000.00 -130,257.05 37.97 %

5010.2 Building 65,244.20 155,000.00 -89,755.80 42.09 %

Total 5010 Real/Personal Property Tax 144,987.15 365,000.00 -220,012.85 39.72 %

5050 AIRPORT LEASES

5050H Hanger Lease 30,000.00 72,000.00 -42,000.00 41.67 %

5051 Land Leases 108,495.80 300,000.00 -191,504.20 36.17 %

5052 Tower Leases 30,363.62 75,000.00 -44,636.38 40.48 %

5053 Lease-Mayes 2,600.00 6,240.00 -3,640.00 41.67 %

5054 Through The Fence -8,000.00 8,000.00

Total 5050 AIRPORT LEASES 171,459.42 445,240.00 -273,780.58 38.51 %

5150 Tie Down Fees 3,785.00 8,000.00 -4,215.00 47.31 %

5151 Gate Card Fees 130.00 2,000.00 -1,870.00 6.50 %

5155 Parking Fees 379.21 300.00 79.21 126.40 %

5200 Committed-Fuel Flowage Fees 9,217.23 20,000.00 -10,782.77 46.09 %

5201 Committed-Jet Fuel Tax 967.71 4,000.00 -3,032.29 24.19 %

5250 Through the Fence Fees 8,000.00 -8,000.00

5300 Class II FBO Fees 2,250.00 10,000.00 -7,750.00 22.50 %

5402 Open House Income 7,700.00 10,000.00 -2,300.00 77.00 %

5404 Rock Materials Sales 70,000.00 -70,000.00

5450 Reimbursements 35,000.00 -35,000.00

5500 Interest Income 36,371.69 380,000.00 -343,628.31 9.57 %

5915 Sales 30,085.70 30,085.70

5998 Terminal Rental 500.00 -500.00

Total Income $407,333.11 $1,358,040.00 $ -
950,706.89

29.99 %

GROSS PROFIT $407,333.11 $1,358,040.00 $ -
950,706.89

29.99 %

Expenses

6019 Charitable Contribution 2,420.00 2,000.00 420.00 121.00 %

6169 Taxes & Licenses 300.00 -300.00

6300 Operating Expenses

6130 Dues 370.00 2,300.00 -1,930.00 16.09 %

6135 Memberships 500.00 -500.00

6137 Conferences 695.00 4,500.00 -3,805.00 15.44 %

6170 SWAAAE BOD Travel 850.00 -850.00

6190 Office Expence-PC Software 452.86 2,000.00 -1,547.14 22.64 %

6200 Office Expenses -PC Hardware 5.25 500.00 -494.75 1.05 %

6211 Meals and Entertainment 454.44 750.00 -295.56 60.59 %

6218 Marketing and Website 798.95 2,500.00 -1,701.05 31.96 %

6280 Open House Expense 5,691.21 12,000.00 -6,308.79 47.43 %



Carson City Airport Authority-2
Budget vs. Actuals: CCAA Budget 24/25 P&L - FY25 P&L

July 2024 - June 2025

Accrual Basis  Tuesday, November 19, 2024 04:58 AM GMT-08:00   2/4

TOTAL

ACTUAL BUDGET OVER 
BUDGET

% OF 
BUDGET

6369 Travel 1,229.76 500.00 729.76 245.95 %

Total 6300 Operating Expenses 9,697.47 26,400.00 -16,702.53 36.73 %

6301 Utilities

6302 Phone &  Internet 2,540.71 5,000.00 -2,459.29 50.81 %

6303 Electric 4,104.58 19,000.00 -14,895.42 21.60 %

6304 Gas 60.48 1,000.00 -939.52 6.05 %

6305 Water 890.48 2,300.00 -1,409.52 38.72 %

6306 Carson City Landfill 669.24 1,200.00 -530.76 55.77 %

Total 6301 Utilities 8,265.49 28,500.00 -20,234.51 29.00 %

6308 Office Expenses and Supplies 879.42 1,500.00 -620.58 58.63 %

6309 Legal 25,792.50 100,000.00 -74,207.50 25.79 %

6310 Security 2,536.95 4,000.00 -1,463.05 63.42 %

6311 CCAA printing 500.00 -500.00

6312 Data Storage 180.90 550.00 -369.10 32.89 %

6313 Insurance 100.00 13,000.00 -12,900.00 0.77 %

6314 Auditing 42,000.00 -42,000.00

6314A Accounting/Bullis 11,436.00 16,000.00 -4,564.00 71.48 %

6315 Contract Services/Appraisals 7,000.00 14,000.00 -7,000.00 50.00 %

6316 Bank Charges/Square Chgs 323.84 400.00 -76.16 80.96 %

6317 Airport Equipment Maintenance 6,313.63 15,000.00 -8,686.37 42.09 %

6317.5 AWOS III Service Charges 5,936.00 7,000.00 -1,064.00 84.80 %

6318 Facility Maintenance 8,612.14 8,000.00 612.14 107.65 %

6319 Airfield Maintenance 7,560.73 40,000.00 -32,439.27 18.90 %

6319.5 Gate Maintenance 2,000.00 -2,000.00

6319.51 Depreciation expense 140,000.00 -140,000.00

6350 Labor Expense

6351 Salaries 98,708.71 285,000.00 -186,291.29 34.63 %

6351.5 Overtime Budget (Airfield) 2,500.00 -2,500.00

6352 Healthcare 32,804.40 56,250.00 -23,445.60 58.32 %

6353 PERS Retirement Contribution 28,747.60 82,000.00 -53,252.40 35.06 %

6354 Nevada Payroll 519.00 1,200.00 -681.00 43.25 %

6355 Workers Compensation 4,061.87 5,200.00 -1,138.13 78.11 %

6356 State Unemployment Contri 2,800.00 -2,800.00

6363 Voya/Deferred Comp 350.00 350.00

6476 Uniforms 515.30 1,500.00 -984.70 34.35 %

Total 6350 Labor Expense 165,706.88 436,450.00 -270,743.12 37.97 %

QuickBooks Payments Fees 202.59 202.59

Total Expenses $262,964.54 $897,600.00 $ -
634,635.46

29.30 %

NET OPERATING INCOME $144,368.57 $460,440.00 $ -
316,071.43

31.35 %

Other Income



Carson City Airport Authority-2
Budget vs. Actuals: CCAA Budget 24/25 P&L - FY25 P&L

July 2024 - June 2025

Accrual Basis  Tuesday, November 19, 2024 04:58 AM GMT-08:00   3/4

TOTAL

ACTUAL BUDGET OVER 
BUDGET

% OF 
BUDGET

FAA AIP Activity Revenue

6045 Extend 9/27

6045.1 Extend 9/27 Revenue 500,000.00 -500,000.00

6045.2 Extend 9/27 Expense -533,333.00 533,333.00

Total 6045 Extend 9/27 -33,333.00 33,333.00

Total FAA AIP Activity Revenue -33,333.00 33,333.00

FAA AIP Grant Revenue

6035 AIP #36  Construct SRE Building

6035.1 6035 AIP #36  Construct SRE Building Revenue 840,625.00 -840,625.00

6035.2 6035 AIP #36  Construct SRE Building Expense -750,000.00 750,000.00

Total 6035 AIP #36  Construct SRE Building 90,625.00 -90,625.00

6036 AIP #37  Acquire Snow Removal Equipment

6036.1 AIP #37 Acquire Snow Removal Equipment Revenue 216,000.00 -216,000.00

6036.2 AIP #37 Acquire Snow Removal Equipment Expense -5,272.50 -216,000.00 210,727.50 2.44 %

Total 6036 AIP #37  Acquire Snow Removal Equipment -5,272.50 0.00 -5,272.50

6042 AIP #43 Approach Lighting System Phase 3 PAPI and MALSF

6042.1 AIP #43 Approach Lighting System Phase 3 PAPI and MALSF 
Revenue

3,221.16 3,221.16

6042.2 AIP #43 Approach Lighting System Phase 3 PAPI and MALSF 
Expense

-3,435.90 -3,435.90

Total 6042 AIP #43 Approach Lighting System Phase 3 PAPI and MALSF -214.74 -214.74

6044 AIP #44 SRE Construct Auxiliary Building

6044.1 6044 AIP #44 SRE Construct Auxiliary Building Revenue 2,054.53 2,054.53

6044.2 AIP #44 SRE Construct Auxiliary Building Expense -5,705.20 -5,705.20

Total 6044 AIP #44 SRE Construct Auxiliary Building -3,650.67 -3,650.67

6046 AIP #45 Drainage Improvements Design

6046.1 AIP #45 Drainage Improvements Design Revenue 140,625.00 -140,625.00

6046.2 AIP #45 Drainage Improvements Design Expense -150,000.00 150,000.00

Total 6046 AIP #45 Drainage Improvements Design -9,375.00 9,375.00

Total FAA AIP Grant Revenue -9,137.91 81,250.00 -90,387.91 -11.25 %

Total Other Income $ -9,137.91 $47,917.00 $ -57,054.91 -19.07 %

Other Expenses

CCAA Funded Capital Projects

6400 Capital Project

6419 Rebuild Perimeter Road (Design) 120,000.00 -120,000.00

Total 6400 Capital Project 120,000.00 -120,000.00

6412 Terminal Entrance Hardscape 80,000.00 -80,000.00

6414 Terminal Building Architectural Renderings 27,181.40 27,181.40

Total CCAA Funded Capital Projects 27,181.40 200,000.00 -172,818.60 13.59 %

Total Other Expenses $27,181.40 $200,000.00 $ -
172,818.60

13.59 %



Carson City Airport Authority-2
Budget vs. Actuals: CCAA Budget 24/25 P&L - FY25 P&L

July 2024 - June 2025

Accrual Basis  Tuesday, November 19, 2024 04:58 AM GMT-08:00   4/4

TOTAL

ACTUAL BUDGET OVER 
BUDGET

% OF 
BUDGET

NET OTHER INCOME $ -
36,319.31

$ -152,083.00 $115,763.69 23.88 %

NET INCOME $108,049.26 $308,357.00 $ -
200,307.74

35.04 %



Carson City Airport Authority-2
Profit and Loss Comparison

July - October, 2024

Accrual Basis  Tuesday, November 19, 2024 04:57 AM GMT-08:00   1/3

TOTAL

JUL - OCT, 2024 JUL - OCT, 2023 (PY) CHANGE

Income

5010 Real/Personal Property Tax

5010.1 Aircraft 63,794.36 63,794.36 0.00

5010.2 Building 52,195.36 52,195.36 0.00

Total 5010 Real/Personal Property Tax 115,989.72 115,989.72 0.00

5050 AIRPORT LEASES

5050H Hanger Lease 24,000.00 24,000.00 0.00

5051 Land Leases 86,796.64 83,515.74 3,280.90

5052 Tower Leases 24,286.48 24,579.12 -292.64

5053 Lease-Mayes 2,080.00 2,080.00 0.00

Total 5050 AIRPORT LEASES 137,163.12 134,174.86 2,988.26

5150 Tie Down Fees 3,017.00 3,472.00 -455.00

5151 Gate Card Fees 120.00 1,305.00 -1,185.00

5155 Parking Fees 379.21 224.91 154.30

5200 Committed-Fuel Flowage Fees 8,520.53 6,816.90 1,703.63

5201 Committed-Jet Fuel Tax 967.71 667.96 299.75

5300 Class II FBO Fees 1,800.00 3,600.00 -1,800.00

5402 Open House Income 7,700.00 2,500.00 5,200.00

5404 Rock Materials Sales 28,849.73 -28,849.73

5500 Interest Income 36,371.69 25,889.92 10,481.77

5915 Sales 30,085.70 30,085.70

Total Income $342,114.68 $323,491.00 $18,623.68

GROSS PROFIT $342,114.68 $323,491.00 $18,623.68

Expenses

6019 Charitable Contribution 2,420.00 1,283.75 1,136.25

6165 Job Supplies 48.14 -48.14

6169 Taxes & Licenses 280.00 -280.00

6300 Operating Expenses

6130 Dues 370.00 1,210.00 -840.00

6135 Memberships 95.00 -95.00

6137 Conferences 695.00 695.00

6190 Office Expence-PC Software 239.88 414.65 -174.77

6200 Office Expenses -PC Hardware 5.25 5.25

6211 Meals and Entertainment 454.44 337.51 116.93

6218 Marketing and Website 798.95 930.50 -131.55

6280 Open House Expense 5,567.17 818.18 4,748.99

6369 Travel 1,229.76 1,229.76

Total 6300 Operating Expenses 9,360.45 3,805.84 5,554.61



Carson City Airport Authority-2
Profit and Loss Comparison

July - October, 2024

Accrual Basis  Tuesday, November 19, 2024 04:57 AM GMT-08:00   2/3

TOTAL

JUL - OCT, 2024 JUL - OCT, 2023 (PY) CHANGE

6301 Utilities

6238 Stormwater Discharge Permit 4.06 -4.06

6302 Phone &  Internet 2,470.71 1,286.74 1,183.97

6303 Electric 4,104.58 7,422.39 -3,317.81

6304 Gas 60.48 124.88 -64.40

6305 Water 890.48 872.07 18.41

6306 Carson City Landfill 669.24 321.55 347.69

Total 6301 Utilities 8,195.49 10,031.69 -1,836.20

6308 Office Expenses and Supplies 879.42 316.71 562.71

6309 Legal 12,112.50 24,430.00 -12,317.50

6310 Security 2,423.96 1,315.96 1,108.00

6311 CCAA printing 428.08 -428.08

6312 Data Storage 115.90 193.20 -77.30

6313 Insurance 100.00 165.00 -65.00

6314A Accounting/Bullis 11,436.00 6,141.00 5,295.00

6314B Accounting/Tmcdbooks 4,510.00 -4,510.00

6315 Contract Services/Appraisals 7,000.00 7,000.00

6316 Bank Charges/Square Chgs 323.84 89.90 233.94

6317 Airport Equipment Maintenance 6,313.63 3,028.73 3,284.90

6317.5 AWOS III Service Charges 5,936.00 5,820.00 116.00

6318 Facility Maintenance 8,612.14 2,336.12 6,276.02

6319 Airfield Maintenance 7,560.73 17,637.55 -10,076.82

6319.5 Gate Maintenance 235.00 -235.00

6350 Labor Expense

6351 Salaries 98,708.71 52,057.28 46,651.43

6352 Healthcare 28,873.29 12,547.35 16,325.94

6353 PERS Retirement Contribution 28,747.60 22,019.55 6,728.05

6354 Nevada Payroll 519.00 378.50 140.50

6355 Workers Compensation 4,061.87 878.27 3,183.60

6363 Voya/Deferred Comp 350.00 350.00

6476 Uniforms 491.89 379.60 112.29

Total 6350 Labor Expense 161,752.36 88,260.55 73,491.81

6600 Bad Debt Transaction 600.00 -600.00

QuickBooks Payments Fees 184.20 184.20

Total Expenses $244,726.62 $170,957.22 $73,769.40

NET OPERATING INCOME $97,388.06 $152,533.78 $ -55,145.72

Other Income

5001 NDOT Grant Reimbursement 19,722.00 -19,722.00



Carson City Airport Authority-2
Profit and Loss Comparison

July - October, 2024

Accrual Basis  Tuesday, November 19, 2024 04:57 AM GMT-08:00   3/3

TOTAL

JUL - OCT, 
2024

JUL - OCT, 2023 
(PY)

CHANGE

FAA AIP Grant Revenue

6035 AIP #36  Construct SRE Building

6035.2 6035 AIP #36  Construct SRE Building Expense -12,470.00 12,470.00

Total 6035 AIP #36  Construct SRE Building -12,470.00 12,470.00

6036 AIP #37  Acquire Snow Removal Equipment 135.00 -135.00

6036.2 AIP #37 Acquire Snow Removal Equipment Expense -5,272.50 -135.00 -5,137.50

Total 6036 AIP #37  Acquire Snow Removal Equipment -5,272.50 0.00 -5,272.50

6041 AIP #42 Approach Lighting System Phase 2 PAPI and MALSF

6041.1 AIP #42 Approach Lighting System Phase 2 PAPI and MALSF Rev 50,453.43 -50,453.43

6041.2 AIP #42 Approach Lighting System Phase 2 PAPI and MALSF Expense 
(deleted)

-48,825.00 48,825.00

Total 6041 AIP #42 Approach Lighting System Phase 2 PAPI and MALSF 1,628.43 -1,628.43

6042 AIP #43 Approach Lighting System Phase 3 PAPI and MALSF

6042.1 AIP #43 Approach Lighting System Phase 3 PAPI and MALSF Revenue 3,221.16 44,712.19 -41,491.03

6042.2 AIP #43 Approach Lighting System Phase 3 PAPI and MALSF Expense -3,435.90 -47,930.50 44,494.60

Total 6042 AIP #43 Approach Lighting System Phase 3 PAPI and MALSF -214.74 -3,218.31 3,003.57

6044 AIP #44 SRE Construct Auxiliary Building

6044.1 6044 AIP #44 SRE Construct Auxiliary Building Revenue 2,054.53 2,054.53

6044.2 AIP #44 SRE Construct Auxiliary Building Expense -5,705.20 -37,235.50 31,530.30

Total 6044 AIP #44 SRE Construct Auxiliary Building -3,650.67 -37,235.50 33,584.83

Total FAA AIP Grant Revenue -9,137.91 -51,295.38 42,157.47

Total Other Income $ -9,137.91 $ -31,573.38 $22,435.47

Other Expenses

CCAA Funded Capital Projects

6400 Capital Project

6418 FOD Boss Purchase 6,949.00 -6,949.00

Total 6400 Capital Project 6,949.00 -6,949.00

6414 Terminal Building Architectural Renderings 27,181.40 12,892.25 14,289.15

6416 New Terminal Door Improvements with Access Control 7,556.24 -7,556.24

Total CCAA Funded Capital Projects 27,181.40 27,397.49 -216.09

Total Other Expenses $27,181.40 $27,397.49 $ -216.09

NET OTHER INCOME $ -36,319.31 $ -58,970.87 $22,651.56

NET INCOME $61,068.75 $93,562.91 $ -
32,494.16


	Agenda
	Draft Minutes
	Engineer's Report
	H-1 Mountain West Lease Amendment
	H-2 Resolution and Notice to Bid
	H-3 Tie-Down Management Agreement
	H-4 ACIP
	H-5 Audit
	Manager's Report
	Treasurer's Report



